en le colombia cyprus czech rep ublic denmark estonia israel hor ong (SAR) latvia norway poland p ortugal russian federatio n sloven weden Civic Knowledge and blom Engagement irk es yprus **An IEA Study of Upper Secondary** stoni **AR)** la **Students in Sixteen Countries** atvia <mark>norwa po</mark>la Jo-Ann Amadeo, Judith Torney-Purta, Rainer Lehmann, Vera Husfeldt, and

sian federation sl **Roumiana Nikolova** witzerland chile colombia cypr orus czech republic denmark estc onia israel hong kong (SAR) latv orway poland portugal russian fe ederation slovenia sweden switze land chile colombia cyprus cze zech republic des mark estonia srael hong kata R) latvia norv oland port Evaluation of Educational Association for the federation lovenia sweden switzerland child **Civic Knowledge** and Engagement

International Coordinating Center

Rainer Lehmann, International Coordinator Vera Husfeldt and Roumiana Nikolova, Associate International Coordinators *Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany*

International Steering Committee

Judith Torney-Purta, Chair University of Maryland at College Park, USA

Barbara Frątczak-Rudnicka, *Warsaw University, Poland* Georgia Kontogiannopoulou-Polydorides, *University of Athens, Greece* Bruno Losito, *National Institute for the Evaluation of the Education System, Italy* Barbara Malak-Minkiewicz, *IEA Secretariat, The Netherlands.* Ingrid Munck, *Göteburg University, Sweden* Hans Oswald, *Potsdam University, Germany* John Schwille, *Michigan State University, USA* Gita Steiner-Khamsi, *Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, USA* Lee Wing On, *Hong Kong Institute of Education, Hong Kong (SAR)* Ray Adams (*ex-officio*), *IEA Technical Executive Group*

Civic Knowledge and Engagement An IEA Study of Upper Secondary Students in Sixteen Countries

Jo-Ann Amadeo, Judith Torney-Purta, Rainer Lehmann, Vera Husfeldt, and Roumiana Nikolova



The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement

Copyright © 2002 IEA

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without permission in writing from the copyright holder.

ISBN 90 806643 3 2

Copies of *Civic knowledge and engagement* can be obtained from: IEA Secretariat Herengracht 487 1017 BT, Amsterdam, The Netherlands Telephone + 31 20 625 3625 Fax + 31 20 420 7136 Email: <u>Department@IEA.nl</u>

Funding for the international coordination of the IEA Civic Education Study was provided by IEA, the participating countries, and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG or German Science Association) in a grant to the Humboldt University of Berlin. Funding for portions of the international analysis was provided by the William T. Grant Foundation of New York in a grant to the Department of Human Development at the University of Maryland in College Park. Other international funding sources are listed in the Acknowledgments. Each participating country was responsible for funding national project costs and for implementing the study in accord with international procedures and national requirements.

Printed by Multicopy Amsterdam, The Netherlands *Edited by* Paula Wagemaker Editorial Services, Christchurch, New Zealand *Designed by* Becky Bliss Design and Production, Wellington, New Zealand

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreword		9
Chapter 1	Introduction to the IEA Civic Education Study	11
	The IEA Civic Education Study	12
	Results from the 14-year-old Students	13
	Why Study Upper Secondary Students?	14
	Cross-National Research	15
	The Organization of the Study by IEA	16
	Participating Countries	16
	Theoretical Frameworks Guiding the Study	21
	Policy and Research Issues in the Civic Education Study	22
	Summary of Aims of the Study and Influences on It	26
Chapter 2 Quality Co	Instrument Development, Sampling, Testing, and ntrol	29
	Highlights Relating to Methods	30
	Piloting and the Resulting Final Test	31
	Sampling, Testing, and Scaling	32
	The Data Analysis Process	41
	Guide to the Presentation of Data in Chapters 3-8	42
	Summary of Methods	44
Chapter 3	Knowledge of Civic Content, Skills in Interpreting Civic Information, and Economic Literacy	45
	Highlights Relating to Civic Knowledge and Economic Literacy	46
	Civic Knowledge and Economic Literacy in the Study of Upper Secondary Students:	47
	Distinguishing Between Content Knowledge, Interpretative Skills, and Economic Literacy	48
	Relating Test Results from the Upper Secondary Students to Those from the 14-year-olds	51
	Civic Knowledge Across Countries: Summary and Cautions	56
	Civic Knowledge. Age. and the Selectivity of Sampling	61
	Gender Differences in Civic Knowledge	67
	Home Literacy Resources and Civic Knowledge	68
	Summary of Civic Knowledge and Economic Literacy	70
Chapter 4	Students' Concepts of Democracy, Citizenship, and Government	73
	Highlights Relating to Civic Concepts	74
	Results	76

	Concepts of democracy	76
	Concepts of citizenship	79
	Concepts of the responsibilities of government	84
	Summary	86
Chapter 5	Students' Attitudes Toward the Nation, the Government, Immigrants, and Women's Political Rights	89
	Highlights Relating to Civic Attitudes	90
	Results	92
	Trust in government-related institutions and the media	92
	Positive attitudes toward one's nation	95
	Positive attitudes toward immigrants	98
	Support for women's political rights	100
	Summary	103
Chapter 6	Students' Civic Engagement and Political Activities	105
	Highlights Relating to Civic Activities	106
	Results	107
	Interest in politics	107
	Exposure to political news	110
	Expected participation in political activities	113
	Summary	124
Chapter 7	Students' Views of Opportunities for Civic Engagement in Classrooms, Schools, and Youth Organizations	125
	Highlights Relating to Schools and Civic Education	126
	Results	127
	Confidence in participation at school	127
	Students' views of their learning	129
	Open classroom climate for discussion	132
	Participation in civic-related organizations	135
	Summary	137
Chapter 8	A Model for Explaining Students' Civic Knowledge and Engagement	141
	Highlights Relating to the Correlates of Civic Knowledge and Engagement	142
	The Model	144
	Interpreting the Model	147
	Prediction of Civic Knowledge	147
	Prediction of Likelihood of Voting	154
	Summary	156

Chapter 9	Civic Knowledge and Engagement: A Synthesis	159
	Highlights Relating to the IEA Civic Study of	160
	Upper Secondary Students	
	Results from the Upper Secondary Students	162
What do they know?		162
	What do they believe?	164
	How are they engaged in civic activities?	168
	Conclusions, Lessons, and Hopes for the Future	169

Ap	pendices	173
А	Examples of Items from the Civic Knowledge Test	174
В	Item-By-Score Maps for Scales reported in Chapters 4 through 7	183
С	Classical Psychometric Indices (Selected)	196
D	Results from Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR)	200

References	204
Acknowledgements	207

The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement, known as IEA, is an independent, international consortium of national research institutions and governmental research agencies, with headquarters in Amsterdam. Its primary purpose is to conduct large-scale comparative studies of educational achievement with the aim of gaining more in-depth understanding of the effects of policies and practices within and across systems of education.

FOREWORD

In 1994 the General Assembly of the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) decided to undertake a study on civic education. It was not the first time that IEA had focused on this issue. As early as 1971 it had taken its first look at civic education, in the context of the so-called Six Subject Study. But the decision, in 1994, to look again at the subject was a sound one given the huge changes by then facing many countries as a result of the events of the late 1980s and early 1990s. The considerable task of establishing or re-establishing democratic governments in a number of countries highlighted even more the need to develop citizenship and the role that educational systems could play in meeting that aim. Assessing civic education was important not only for those countries, however, but also for societies with long-established democratic traditions. In general, it could be said that changes in the political, social, and educational scenes of many countries suggested the timeliness of this new study, particularly in terms of its potential to make a substantial contribution to an understanding of these changes.

The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) was, and is, in an excellent position to make such a contribution. It was founded in 1959 for the purpose of conducting comparative studies focusing on educational policies and practices in various countries and educational systems around the world. Since that time, it has completed a significant number of studies in different subjects, as varied as reading literacy, mathematics, science, pre-primary education, languages, and information and communication technologies in education, among others. With its nearly 60 member countries, its Secretariat located in Amsterdam, and a number of interconnected research centers in all continents, IEA is in a very sound situation to produce cross-country comparative studies that are based on rigorously collected and analysed data.

In 1994, the IEA General Assembly approved the Civic Education Study as a two-phased project. The aim of Phase 1 was to collect extensive information describing the circumstances, content, and process of civic education in participating countries. In doing this, IEA summarised what country experts considered 14-year-old students should know about a number of topics related to democratic institutions and citizenship, including elections, individual rights, national identity, political participation, and respect for ethnic and political diversity.

The results of Phase 1 were presented in *Civic education across countries: Twenty-four national case studies from the IEA Civic Education Project*, a book that received wide recognition from researchers, practitioners, and policy-makers. Its 24 national case studies were written mostly by National Research Coordinators, and also took into account opinions expressed by National Expert Panels.

The information collected in Phase 1 was also used for preparing Phase 2. This second part of the project consisted of a test (keyed cognitive items) and a survey (un-keyed attitudinal and behavioural items) administered in each participating country to representative samples of students belonging to two different populations. In 1999, about 90,000 students in the modal grade for 14-year-olds from 28 countries were tested. A questionnaire was also administered to civic-related teachers and to school principals. The international findings were presented in 2001 in the volume *Citizenship and education in twenty-eight countries: Civic knowledge and engagement at age fourteen*, which received wide attention.

In 2000, over 50,000 upper secondary students from 16 countries were also tested. The test for that older population included similar questions to those for the younger one, but also some new, more difficult items, and some items on economic literacy. The older students also received the same survey of civic concepts and attitudes as the younger students.

This new publication, the third of a series, presents the results of the older population—upper secondary students—for Phase 2 of the study. The information presented here complements the qualitative data of the first volume and the quantitative data of the second volume (documenting the findings for the younger students) with new data about civic knowledge and engagement. Together, the three publications provide a complete and remarkable picture of civic education policies, practices, and results across countries in the late 1990s.

Having identified and discussed the policies and the outcomes of our respective countries in an international context, we know that the time has arrived to pay special attention to the factors that merit consideration and should orient our action. Wise action requires a deep knowledge of the field. The comparative view helps us set our reflections in a context that allows us to interpret and to explain. In this manner, the value of an international approach can be truly realised. It is this realisation that is exactly the kind of contribution IEA can make to the development of education and educational systems. In the end, our activities can only be justified if they contribute to the advancement of societies made up of better-developed individuals.

IEA is particularly grateful to the following organisations that are the major contributors to the international overhead of Phase 2 of the study: the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG or German Science Association) and the William T. Grant Foundation of New York. As in all IEA studies, the individual participating countries have also provided funding.

This new volume represents the result of initiatives developed by the International Steering Committee of the study and by the National Research Coordinators and National Experts. Special thanks should necessarily go to the International Coordinators, Professor Judith Torney-Purta (University of Maryland) and Professor Rainer Lehmann (Humboldt Universität zu Berlin). As the leaders of this study, they have provided its special spirit, and so deserve our recognition and thanks.

Alejandro Tiana CHAIR OF IEA



Introduction to the IEA Civic Education Study

Civic education in many countries traditionally has been either a neglected or contested subject. Questions are raised about how broadly it should be framed and the extent to which schooling is important. What do young people think and know about democracy and government? Do they understand how democratic institutions and processes work? Do they expect to vote or take part in other civic activities as adults? Finally, what roles do schools and community groups play in preparing adolescents for civic and political life?

While no single piece of research could be expected to fully answer questions such as these, the IEA Civic Education Study broke new ground in addressing these and other questions. The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) Civic Education Study was designed as a two-phased research project to create the possibility of a rigorous data-based approach to a number of questions with implications for policy and educational practice. Its major publications are Torney-Purta, Schwille, and Amadeo (1999), Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, and Schulz (2001), Steiner-Khamsi, Torney-Purta, and Schwille (2002), and this volume.

THE IEA CIVIC EDUCATION STUDY

The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA), headquartered in Amsterdam, is a consortium of educational research organizations in 58 countries, with a history of conducting cross-national research in education. In 1971, IEA conducted a civic education survey that employed nationally representative samples of three age groups in the Federal Republic of Germany, Finland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Sweden, and the United States (Torney, Oppenheim, & Farnen, 1975). About 30,000 students responded to instruments measuring knowledge and attitudes, while 5,000 teachers and 1,300 principals and headmasters described pedagogy and the characteristics of schools. The instrument included a test of civic knowledge, measures of support for democratic values (including tolerance and support for women's political rights), support for the national and local government, and participation in political activities.

In 1994, the governing body of IEA, its General Assembly, voted to undertake a second Civic Education Study because of interest among its diverse member countries, many of which were experiencing political, economic, and social transitions. The decision was made to initiate a two-phased study of civic education to explore how students view their citizenship identity and how their views are influenced by the political, educational, and social context in the countries in which they live. Broadly speaking, the overall goal of the study was to identify and examine in a comparative framework the ways in which young people are prepared for their roles as citizens in democracies.

During the first phase of the IEA Civic Education Study, conducted in 1996 and 1997, researchers developed qualitative case studies that examined the contexts and meaning of civic education in their countries. They also provided background for the development of the instruments administered to students during Phase 2 (Torney-Purta et al., 1999). The second phase of the study, conducted from 1998 to 2000, consisted of a test of civic knowledge and a survey of civic attitudes and engagement administered to students and then submitted to statistical analysis. The study completed testing of the 'standard population' of 14-year-olds from 28 countries in 1999 and released an international report in early 2001 covering differences by country and gender, as well as analysis of predictors (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). Results from the 14-year-olds as well as the study instrument can be found at www.wam.umd.edu/~iea/.

In line with a desire to assess students nearer to the age of first vote, upper secondary school students (ranging from 16 to 19 years of age) in 16 countries were tested during Phase 2. Testing of this older population of students was completed in 2000, and the findings are reported in this volume.

The study was massive, both in terms of the breadth of its coverage as well as the number of respondents. Approximately 90,000 14-year-old students were tested in 1999 and nearly 50,000 students aged 16 to 19 years were tested in 2000. The testing met IEA technical standards of sampling, instrumentation, and translation verification.

Both groups of students were tested on their civic knowledge and skills. They also were surveyed on their concepts of democracy and government; their attitudes related to trust in institutions, political efficacy, and opportunities for immigrants and women; and, finally, their expected participatory actions relating to politics. A final part of the student survey assessed the students' perceptions of the climate for discussion in their classrooms as well as other background variables. In addition, an internationally relevant list of organizations to which students might belong was developed. Students were asked to indicate to which groups they belonged. This list included organizations such as student governments, school clubs, environmental groups, and other youth organizations.

RESULTS FROM THE 14-YEAR-OLD STUDENTS

Results from the survey of 14-year-old students indicated that students in most of the 28 participating countries had an understanding of fundamental democratic values, processes, and institutions, although this understanding lacked depth. Also, the 14-year-old students in most of the participating countries agreed that good citizenship includes the obligation to vote, and that schools that model democratic processes are those most effective in promoting civic knowledge and engagement. The students' patterns of trust in government-related institutions varied widely across countries, but across countries, students were supportive of immigrants' rights and the political rights of women. Another across-country pattern revealed differences between students from the more and the less durable democracies in the areas of political trust and the belief that government should be responsible for the economic well-being of citizens. In short, the survey of 14-year-old students indicated that young people of this age are nascent members of the political cultures in their countries.

But what about students who are nearing the completion of their secondary schooling? To what extent are their views influenced by age and developmental trajectory as well as by home background and cultural norms or values?

WHY STUDY UPPER SECONDARY STUDENTS?

During the second round of Phase 2 testing, the civic knowledge test and the survey of attitudes and behavior were given to upper secondary students in 16 countries. This instrument was very similar to the one used with the 14-year-olds. The countries that tested the older population of students included Chile, Colombia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Hong Kong (SAR), Israel, Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Russian Federation, Slovenia, Sweden, and Switzerland (German).

It was not possible because of differences in the educational systems at this level to sample a grade of a defined age. The students' mean ages, therefore, ranged from 16.6 years in Latvia to 19.4 years in Denmark, with a mean age of 17.9 for the international sample. In two countries—Israel and Latvia—the average student was under 17 years of age, and in only one country— Denmark—the average student was over 19 years of age. Throughout the text, we refer to this older population of students (ranging in age from 16 to slightly more than 19 years) as upper secondary students.

Fifteen countries tested both 14-year-olds (in 1999) and the upper secondary students (in 2000). Israel tested only the older students. Samples at the upper secondary level from Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR) could not be weighted because the requisite information was unavailable. Their mean scores are based on unweighted data and appear in an appendix and not in Chapters 3 through 7.

These older students, nearing the end of their secondary schooling, are an interesting age cohort to examine. Many of them are making the transition from adolescence to adulthood and, in so doing, are taking on new life roles. For example, older adolescents may be preparing to enter the job market or military service, considering marriage, setting up their own households, or competing for places in higher education. Government policies in a wide range of areas, especially the economy, may therefore be important to them. Moreover, 18-years-olds are eligible to vote in all 16 countries in the study, and as they approach the age of first vote, politics, politicians, and political issues may become particularly salient to them. Developmental psychologists have argued that identity development in the area of political beliefs and values generally develops later than identity in other domains (Archer, 1982; Goossens, 2001; Waterman, 1982). While many individuals address the questions of social roles, occupation, and religious beliefs early in adolescence, many do not form their political identities until late adolescence or early adulthood.

Furthermore, societies' expectations for older adolescents may very well differ from their expectations for 14-year-olds. The older students may be expected to be more active members of their communities. Moreover, with three more years of schooling than the younger age group, they may be expected to have a greater in-depth understanding of democratic processes and institutions. Although we did not directly investigate the extent to which these expectations exist for older students, we did examine the extent to which differences are to be found between the older and younger students in the areas of knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. Testing of the older students provided an opportunity to examine the complexities of civic education in multiple ways. In the chapters that follow, we look at similarities and differences in civic knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors from the perspective of age, gender, and cross-national patterns.

The current volume, unlike the one documenting the study of 14-year-olds (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001), also gives attention to economics as a civic-related topic for knowledge questions. The instrument developers, in consultation with the IEA Civic Education Study National Research Coordinators, and on the basis of re-examination of the Phase 1 case studies, decided that knowledge of economics was an important and feasible topic for testing with the upper secondary population. The opinions of secondary teachers in some countries were reviewed, suggesting that knowledge of economics is thought of as related to citizenship because of the economic dimension of political issues such as taxation, school funding, and employment opportunities (Becker, Walstad, & Watts, 1994; Van Fossen, 2000).

In developing this part of the upper secondary instrument (which did not exist in the 14-year-old item set), we relied upon portions of the Test of Economic Literacy (TEL) developed and administered in the United States by Soper and Walstad (1987), especially the items subsequently used in a German version and administered in Austria, Germany, and Switzerland (Beck & Krumm, 1991). These results and others reviewed in Lietz and Kotte (2000) from the United Kingdom and Australia showed that males consistently outperformed females, while low income level of the family was associated with lower performance. A similar gender difference favoring males was found in the United States and the United Kingdom by Whitehead and Hall (1991). Jackstadt and Grootaert (1980) found that students who did not genderstereotype economics scored higher on a test of economic understanding than those who held a stereotype of either type. In addition to the items adapted from the TEL, some items with economic content were developed in the same way that other items suitable for upper secondary students were formulated. Further details about test characteristics are given in Chapter 3.

CROSS-NATIONAL RESEARCH

What can a cross-national study contribute to the educational debate? It can document similarities and differences in student outcomes, and also in the organization and content of programs and practices across the world. Another contribution of well-designed cross-national research is that it can show connections between practices or policies and the achievement of certain goals for civic education in different nations. It can also foster awareness of the importance of education for citizenship in its many forms. The goal of the IEA Civic Education Study is to identify and examine in a comparative framework the ways in which young people are prepared to undertake their role as citizens in democracies. One focus of the study is the school. This is not limited to the formal curriculum in any particular school course, but includes several subject areas across the curriculum. Opportunities for discussion in the classroom and participation in the school are important, as are textbooks and curriculum. A second focus is on opportunities for civic participation outside the school, especially in the community. A primary purpose is to obtain a picture of how young people are initiated into the political communities of which they are members, including in- and out-of-school experience. The study concentrates on political processes and institutions. The concept 'political' is used in a fairly broad sense, however, and is not limited to formal political organizations or legislative structures.

THE ORGANIZATION OF THE STUDY BY IEA

An International Steering Committee and an International Coordinating Center were appointed. The former has guided the research, and the latter has coordinated its day-to-day operations. The international oversight and coordination of this study has been funded by agencies and foundations in Germany and the United States, by the IEA organization, and by contributions from participating countries. The authors of the current volume have been associated either with the International Steering Committee (Judith Torney-Purta, Steering Committee Chair, at the University of Maryland, College Park, USA) or with the International Coordinating Center (Rainer Lehmann, International Coordinator, along with Vera Husfeldt and Roumiana Nikolova at the International Coordinating Center at the Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany). Jo-Ann Amadeo (University of Maryland, College Park, USA) worked with the International Coordinating Center and the Chair of the Steering Committee. National Research Coordinators were appointed by each participating country. Their work, including data collection, has been funded by government agencies and foundations within each country.

PARTICIPATING COUNTRIES

As noted above, 28 countries tested 14-year-olds and 16 countries tested upper secondary students. (Figure 1.1 lists the countries that participated in the upper secondary study.) The National Research Coordinators from these countries were involved in the consensus building, design, theoretical framework, and instrument development for the study as a whole.

Three aspects of the participating countries are important in terms of understanding the data collected: national demographics, characteristics of the educational system, and characteristics of the political system. Table 1.1 presents selected demographic data from the participating countries. As is evident from the population column of the table, both large and small countries participated in the study. The table also presents each country's ranking on the United Nations Human Development Index, its GDP per capita, and its unemployment rate. Table 1.2 presents some educational characteristics of the participating countries. Adult literacy levels are generally high in these countries. The table also provides information about expenditures for public education. Table 1.3 presents political characteristics of the participating countries. These include the number of political parties represented in the lower house, voter turnout at the last election for the lower house, and the percentage of seats in the national legislature held by women. All participating countries can be classified as liberal or electoral democracies, according to Diamond (1999). The age at which people can cast their first vote is 18 in all the countries in the study.



Figure 1.1 Countries Participating in the IEA Civic Education Study, Upper Secondary Population

NOTE: *Only the German-speaking part of Switzerland participated.

Country	Population (in millions)	Human Development Index ^a (value & rank)	GDP per capita (PPP US \$) ^b	Unemployment Rate (% of labor force)
	(1999)	(1999)	(1999)	(1999)
Chile	15.0	.83 (39) High	8,652	N/A
Colombia	41.4	.77 (62) Medium	5,749	N/A
Cyprus	0.8	.88 (25) High	19,006	N/A
Czech Republic	10.3	.84 (33) High	13,018	8.8
Denmark	5.3	.92 (15) High	25, 869	5.2
Estonia	1.4	.81 (44) High	8,355	5.1°
Hong Kong (SAR)	6.7	.88 (24) High	22,090	N/A
Israel	5.9	.84 (22) High	18,440	N/A
Latvia	2.4	.79 (50) Medium	2,420	9.2°
Norway	4.4	.94 (1) High	28,433	3.2
Poland	38.6	.83 (38) High	8,450	13.9
Portugal	10.0	.87 (28) High	16,064	4.5
Russian Federation	146.2	.78 (55) Medium	7,473	13.3°
Slovenia	2.0	.87 (29) High	15,977	14.6°
Sweden	8.9	.94 (4) High	22,636	5.6
Switzerland ^d	7.2	.92 (11) High	27,171	2.7

Table 1.1 Selected Demographic Characteristics of Participating Countries

a The Human Development Index (HDI) is a composite index that reflects three basic dimensions: (a) longevity (life expectancy at birth); (b) knowledge (adult literacy and combined gross primary, secondary, and tertiary enrollment ratio); and (c) standard of living (adjusted per capita income in Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) US\$). The HDI value ranges from 0 to 1. Countries are divided into categories of high, medium, and low human development, and are ranked.

b Data refer to GDP calculated using the World Bank Atlas method, in current PPP US dollars. PPP accounts for price differences across countries, allowing international comparisons of real outputs and incomes.

c Source: *Human development report 2000*, Oxford/New York, Oxford University Press. Data are estimates by the UN Economic Commission for Europe, based on national statistics. They refer to registered unemployment, which is likely to bias unemployment figures downward.

d Figures for all of Switzerland used for Switzerland (German).

Sources:

All column sources are from the *Human development report 2001*, Oxford/New York, Oxford University Press (published for the United Nations Development Programme), unless noted otherwise.

Population (pp. 154-57).

Human Development Index (HDI) (pp. 141–44).

Gross Domestic Product per capita (GDP) (pp. 141–44).

Unemployment rate (p. 199).

Country	Adult Literacy Rate (in %)	Public Education Expenditure (as % of GDP)
	(1998)	(1995–97)"
Chile	95.4	3.3
Colombia	91.2	4.4 ^c
Cyprus	96.6	4.5
Czech Republic	99.0 ª	5.1
Denmark	99.0 ª	8.1
Estonia	99.0 ª	7.2
Hong Kong (SAR)	92.9	2.9
Israel	95.7	7.6 ^d
Latvia	99.8	6.3
Norway	99.0ª	7.4
Poland	99.7	7.5
Portugal	91.4	5.8
Russian Federation	99.5	3.5
Slovenia	99.6	5.7
Sweden	99.0 ª	8.3
Switzerland ^e	99.0ª	5.4

Table 1.2 Selected Educational Data from Participating Countries

a Human Development Report Office estimate.

b Data refer to the most recent year available during the period 1995–97.

c Data refer to expenditures by Ministry of Education only.

d Data refer to a year other than 1995–97.

e Figures for all of Switzerland used for Switzerland (German).

Sources:

All column sources are from the *Human development report 2000*, Oxford/New York, Oxford University Press (published for the United Nations Development Programme), unless noted otherwise.

Literacy rate (pp. 157-60).

Public education expenditures (pp. 194–97).

Country	Seats in Lower or Single House of Parliament Held by Women as of March 2001 ^a (% of total)	Voter Turn-out at Latest Elections for Lower or Single House as of March 2000 ^b (%)	Political Parties Represented in Lower or Single House ^b	Compulsory Voting and Level of Enforcement ^c	Age of First Vote ^c
Chile	10.8	86	7*	Yes (only	18
				if registered)	
				Strict	
Colombia	11.8	45	2*	No	18
Cyprus	7.1	93	5	Yes	18
				Strict	
Czech Republic	15.0	74	5	No	18
Denmark	37.4	86	10	No	18
Estonia	17.8	57	7	No	18
Hong Kong (SAR)	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	No	18
Israel	12.5	79	15*	n.a.	18
Latvia	17.0	72	6	No	18
Norway	36.4	78	7*	No	18
Poland	13.0	48	6	No	18
Portugal	18.7	62	5	No	18
Russian Federation	7.6	62	7*	No	18
Slovenia	12.2	74	8	No	18
Sweden	42.7	81	7	No	18
Switzerland**	23.0	43	8*	Yes Schaffhausen Strict	18

Table 1.3 Selected Political Characteristics of Participating Countries

NOTES:

* There are also independent and other parties not sufficiently represented to constitute a parliamentary group.

** Figures for all of Switzerland used for Switzerland (German).

Sources:

a Column source: *Human development report 2001*, Oxford/New York, Oxford University Press (published for the United Nations Development Programme).

Seats in lower or single house of parliament by women (pp. 226-29)

b Column source: *Human development report 2000*, Oxford/New York, Oxford University Press (published for the United Nations Development Programme).

Voter turn-out (pp. 243-46)

Political parties (pp. 243-46)

c Column source: The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (IDEA) web site (http://www.idea.int/turnout/>).

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS GUIDING THE STUDY

The National Research Coordinators at their first meeting took on the task of developing an overall model that would guide both phases of the study. This model, described as the Octagon (Figure 1.2), graphically represents a framework for organizing the information being collected in both phases. It is a visualization of ways in which the everyday lives of young people in homes, with peers, and at school serve as a 'nested' context for young people's thinking and action in the social and political environment. Learning about citizenship involves engagement in a community and development of an identity within that group. These 'communities of discourse and practice' provide the situation in which young people develop progressively more complex concepts and ways of behaving. The model has its roots in two contemporary psychological theories-ecological development (Bronfenbrenner, 1988) and situated cognition (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998). At the center of this model is the individual student. The public discourse and practices of the society have an impact on the student through contacts with family (parents, siblings, and sometimes extended family), school (teachers, implemented curriculum, and participation opportunities), peer group (both in and out of class), and neighbors (including people in out-of-school youth organizations). Earlier work in political socialization usually referred to these groups of people as 'agents' of socialization. In addition to these face-to-face relationships, there is also a broader society that has an impact through its institutions and the mass media. The outer octagon in Figure 1.2, which circumscribes these processes, includes institutions, processes, and values in domains such as politics, economics, education, and religion. It also includes the country's position internationally, the symbols or narratives important at the national or local level, and the social stratification system, including ethnic and gender-group opportunities.

Other models have also influenced the study. Sociologists and political scientists see the IEA study in relation to studies of political socialization—a sub-field of political science research that was popular 20 to 25 years ago and seems recently to be experiencing renewed interest (Conover & Searing, 2000; Flanagan & Sherrod, 1998; Niemi & Hepburn, 1995). Social scientists link studies in this area to recent surveys of adults concerned with social capital (Van Deth, Maraffi, Newton, & Whiteley, 1999), democratic transitions (Dalton, 2000; Diamond, 1999), post-materialist values (Inglehart, 1997; Inglehart & Baker, 2000), and political culture and citizenship (Norris, 1999). Economists argue about the importance of investigating knowledge and skills relating to economic issues. Webley, Burgoyne, Led, and Young (2001) pay special attention to adolescence and early adulthood in their life-span examination of the economic psychology of everyday life.

These models from the social sciences suggest that young people move from peripheral to central participation in a variety of overlapping communities (at the school or neighborhood level, as well as potentially at the national level). Learning about citizenship is not limited to teachers explicitly instructing young people about their rights and duties. The political community itself (and

Figure 1.2 Model for IEA Civic Education Study



its everyday practices) surrounds and provides a context for developing political understanding (Wenger, 1998; Torney-Purta, Hahn, & Amadeo, 2001).

For young people, the peer group plays a vital role. The reactions of peers to ideas and choices are essential parts of the context for civic development. The extent to which students are able to incorporate what they are learning into meaningful identities is also important. Schools as well as neighborhoods are important sites for peer interaction and identity development.

POLICY AND RESEARCH ISSUES IN THE IEA CIVIC EDUCATION STUDY

In addition to these models, a list of policy-relevant questions was developed to focus the study and make it useful to those who teach, make education policy, educate teachers, prepare curriculum materials, provide guidance to youth associations, and conduct research. The original list of 18 questions has been merged into 12 questions for the purpose of reporting results. Information from Phase 1 (reported in Torney-Purta et al., 1999) and Phase 2 (reported both in this volume and in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001) is covered in the following examination of each policy question.

Some of the policy-relevant questions deal with the organization of educational programs:

1. *What is the status of citizenship education as an explicit goal for schools*? There is considerable diversity among countries in the extent to which the preparation of future citizens is thought of as an important responsibility

for schools. Phase 1 indicated that all the participating countries have courses under a variety of titles with specific responsibilities to prepare students for citizenship. The aims of civic education also are addressed throughout the curriculum and the entire school day, as well as through the climate for interaction in the classroom. In many countries, civic education courses and programs do not have a high status, however. Analysis relating to school experience from Phase 2 is relevant to this question (found in Chapters 7 and 8 in this volume and 7 through 9 in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001).

- 2. To what extent is there agreement among nations about priorities within formal civic education? Knowledge of domestic political institutions and traditions is a focus in most of the participating countries. Decreasing the levels of youth alienation or raising levels of interest in political participation is also important in many. During Phase 1, a high level of unanimity was identified across participating countries about the major content domains of civic education. These domains encompass democracy and democratic institutions, citizenship, national identity, international or regional organizations, and social cohesion and diversity. Items relating to these topics form the core of the Phase 2 test and survey (reported in Chapters 3 through 8 in this volume and 3 through 9 in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001).
- 3. Around what instructional principles and through what courses are formal programs of civic education organized? There is considerable diversity in the extent to which citizenship education is addressed through subjects such as history, through more interdisciplinary programs such as social studies or social science, through courses focused on conduct such as moral education, and through specific courses in civic education or government. There is also variation in the extent to which the community or the school is thought of as an arena in which the student should practice citizenship. The case studies prepared for Phase 1 showed agreement among specialists that civics-related courses should be participative, interactive, related to life in school and community, conducted in a non-authoritarian environment, cognizant of diversity, and co-constructed with parents and the community. Many countries, however, saw difficulties in implementing this kind of civic education because it is not a curriculum-bound subject. Most countries thought that the school had an important role in regard to it, however. The Phase 2 results include data from students about their opportunities for interactive and participatory experience (especially in classroom discussion and in organizations inside and outside the school, reported in Chapters 7 and 8 in both this volume and Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). They also include data from teachers of the 14year-olds about their methods, reported in Chapter 9 of Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al. (2001). Teachers of the upper secondary students were not surveyed.
- 4. To what extent does formal education deal with civic identity development in *students*? In societies that have recently become independent, national identity is an especially important component of citizenship. Civic

education must often balance identities relating to the ideal values of democracy with support for the current structure. Phase 1 of the Civic Education Study indicated the complexity of this issue in many countries. The data from Phase 2 deal with positive feelings about one's nation, with concepts of the role of the good citizen, and with groups that shape identity (reported in Chapters 4 and 5 of both volumes).

5. To what extent is civic education intended to contribute to the resolution of conflicts and tensions between societal groups? Many societies are experiencing such tensions. The information collected during Phase 1 indicated that this was an area of widespread concern but did not suggest clear-cut directions for program development. Some countries experience diversity primarily in terms of race or ethnicity, others in terms of immigration (often related to diversity in language or religion). Phase 2 assessed attitudes relating to support for opportunities for immigrants (reported in Chapter 5 of both volumes).

Some of the policy-relevant questions focus on students:

- 6. *How do students define and understand the concept of citizenship and related issues?* Students have developed their own ideas about their political system and society, and about what citizenship means within it. The Phase 1 process identified major concepts that experts in all the participating countries agreed were important. Many country representatives also pointed to substantial gaps between the concepts that schools were trying to foster and what students actually believed. The Phase 2 data provide descriptive information on how students understand citizenship, democracy, and government. They also allow an analysis of the extent to which knowledge of civics relates to expected civic engagement. These data are reported in Chapters 3, 4, 6, and 8 in both the older and younger population reports.
- 7. For what rights and responsibilities of participation are students being prepared in their own political system or society? In democratic societies, participation in the community and political system is vital, although the nature of that participation may vary. Information from Phase 1 indicated that educators often seek to make students aware of the excitement of politics and the importance of participation. Students, however, often show a general disdain for politics. Some countries are responding by using student-generated projects, while others are encouraging students to assist other people in the community. Such programs do not yet exist on a widespread basis across countries. The Phase 2 data describe students' current civic participation and their future expectations of participation (reported in Chapters 6 through 8 of both reports).
- 8. Do male and female students develop different conceptions of citizenship, and do they develop different potential roles in the political process? Beliefs about the role of women in politics still vary across countries, even though there have been rapid changes in the past decade. Phase 1 indicated that most countries did not see gender issues as central in preparation for citizenship, although some did refer to the small proportion of women

holding political office as an issue. Phase 2 data indicate the extent to which male and female students see the civic culture and citizenship similarly or differently. A set of items relating to support for women's political rights was included in the instrument. These data are reported in Chapters 3 through 8 in both volumes.

9. Are there socioeconomic differences in students' understanding of or attitudes toward civic-related topics or in the way their civic education is structured? Research in political socialization and civic education suggests that there are important differences in civic knowledge between students from homes with ample educational and economic resources and those from homes that are less well endowed. The Phase 1 case studies in a few countries dealt with this concern. The Phase 2 analyses presented in this volume address this question by looking at the relation of civic education outcomes to a measure of home literacy resources (in Chapters 3 and 8 of both reports).

Some policy-relevant questions focus on teachers and teaching and on schools:

- 10. How do teachers deal with civic education in their teaching, and what is the effect of different types of classroom practices on civic-related learning outcomes? Research suggests that different pedagogies make a difference, particularly in terms of whether discussion is encouraged and how controversy and conflicting beliefs are handled. The Phase 1 material across countries confirmed that teachers are expected to balance cognitive, attitudinal, and behavioral goals in preparing students for citizenship. The relevant Phase 2 data are discussed in the chapters where students report about their schools (Chapter 7 in both this volume and Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001).
- 11. How well does the education of teachers prepare them to deal with the different facets of civic education? Teacher education or training programs often do not address civic education issues explicitly. The Phase 1 documents showed that, in some countries, teachers who have prepared to teach another subject have been asked to serve as teachers of civic education. The Phase 2 volume of findings from the 14-year-olds provides data on the extent to which the teachers themselves believe that their training has prepared them adequately to teach topics relevant to civic education (reported in Chapter 9 of Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). Teachers of the upper secondary students were not surveyed, and so this question is not directly addressed in this volume.
- 12. How does the way in which schools are organized influence students' civic education? The opportunities schools provide for meaningful participation, self-government, and respect for rights are among the factors potentially influencing students' attitudes and behaviors. Most countries' Phase 1 submissions highlighted aspirations to provide students with such experiences but few reported successful concrete initiatives. The idea that schools should be models of democracy is often stated but difficult to put into practice. Participation in the school as a community is covered in Phase 2 (Chapters 7 and 8 of both this and the 14-year-old report).

SUMMARY OF AIMS OF THE STUDY AND INFLUENCES ON IT

This two-phased research study is intended to inform and stimulate discussion among policy-makers, curriculum developers, teachers, teacher educators, researchers, and the general public. The study tries to deepen the understanding of possibilities and practices in civic education as it takes place in different contexts. Although our conceptual model has focused the study's attention on school-based, family, community, and peer-group factors, the study is not an effort to refine theory. It has not been a curriculum development effort, although the test framework and the findings have implications for others who will develop curricula, programs, and materials in the future.

Three major sources of influence shaped this study. The first relates to the IEA organization and the member countries that chose to participate in the study. Rigor and collaboration are the hallmarks of IEA studies. The rigorous standards for research developed by IEA over the past decades therefore served as our standard (Martin, Rust, & Adams, 1999). At several points we chose to narrow the scope of the study to ensure that we could meet the standards of rigor in instrumentation, sampling, and analysis set by recent IEA studies, including the Third International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS). The participating countries were collaborators in the design of the Civic Education Study, providing the International Coordinators and the International Steering Committee with advice about models, items, and interpretations throughout the process.

The second source of influence includes the theoretical frameworks and research literature not only in civic education but also in sociology, political science, and developmental psychology. Some aspects of these frameworks are discussed in the sections of this chapter on the model (Figure 1.2), and others will become evident as the construction of particular scales is described in subsequent chapters.

The policy questions guiding and linking both phases of the study are the third source of influence. Although formulated by the International Steering Committee five years ago, these questions remain important. We collected data to address all of them, either for the 14-year-olds or the upper secondary students, or both.

The remainder of this volume provides analysis that is closely related to the original aims of the study, and suggests directions that future analysis might take. It follows the design of the international report of findings from the 14-year-olds, but does not duplicate information on previous research and scale development found in the first report (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). Throughout the volume on findings from the 14-year-olds, research literature on civic education and political socialization processes relating to each scale reported was summarized. For example, research on civic knowledge in the United States and Australia, such as that by Niemi and Junn (1998) and by Doig, Piper, Mellow, and Masters (1993–94) was included. Research on crossnational attitudes with adults (Inglehart, 1997) and with young people

(Flanagan, Bowes, Jonsson, Csapo, & Sheblanova, 1998) was also cited. Those literature reviews are not repeated in this volume. They are, however, referred to and cited in the chapters that follow. Similarly, extensive information provided in the 14-year-old report on item selection and scale development is not replicated in this volume.

Finally, examination of findings from both the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students provides an interesting picture of both national and developmental trends. As will be discussed in Chapter 2, the measures were scaled on a common metric, allowing for a comparison between the scores of the younger and older students. However, it should be noted that the two groups of students were different in ways beyond their ages. The age cohort coverage (presented in Chapter 2 of this volume) varied widely among the 16 participating countries because many of these older adolescents had dropped out of school or left to attend other institutions. Thus, the upper secondary students were both an older and, in some countries, more selective sample than the 14-year-olds. Yet, despite this difference, it is interesting to note how similar the two groups of students were, especially in the area of attitudes.



Instrument Development, Sampling, Testing, and Quality Control

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO METHODS

- Instruments for the test and survey of 14year-olds were adapted and extended in the course of pilot testing for the sample of upper secondary students. The domain of economic literacy is new in the test. For the survey, the scales for concepts, attitudes, and activities were adopted from the survey of the 14-year-olds.
- Any comparisons and interpretation of differences in student achievement, attitudes, and behavioural intentions has to take into consideration both the students of different ages sampled by different countries for the upper secondary population and selection effects in the definition of the samples.

The test and survey for the upper secondary population, covered in the first section of this chapter, was built directly on the instrument developed for 14-year-olds (Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, & Schulz, 2001). The four domains of civic education content treated in the test and survey of upper secondary school students on civic knowledge and engagement are:

- Democracy and its associated institutions, including the rights and responsibilities of citizens.
- National identity, including relations between groups within countries and relations with other countries.
- Social cohesion and diversity.
- Economics.

For the test (keyed items), the first three domains were the same as those covered in the 14-year-old version, while economics was new to the upper secondary version (see review of this aspect of the content and of item sources in Chapter 1). All items for the survey and many items for the test were adopted from the instruments for the 14-year-old population (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). The test was formed of the items assessing *knowledge of civic content* and *skills in interpretation* of material with civic or political content (including short-text passages and cartoons), as well as 14 items about economic literacy.

The survey included items assessing students' concepts of democracy and citizenship, students' *attitudes* (e.g., feelings of trust in the government), and students' current and expected participatory *actions* relating to politics. In addition to the items that had also been used for the 14-year-olds, some items on the *effectiveness of political action* and on the *use of military force* were included. As in the 14-year-old instrument, the survey items had four response alternatives, each measuring the extent of endorsement. And, as was the case for the 14-year-olds, a little less than half of the testing time was scheduled for the test and the same time for the survey. The rest of the testing time was devoted to questions about students' perceptions of classroom climate, their confidence in participation at school, and background information. In contrast to the study of 14-year-olds, the study of the upper secondary students did not include a teacher questionnaire.

PILOTING AND THE RESULTING FINAL TEST

The pilot and final testing of the 14-year-old students showed that although the difficulty levels of the cognitive items were adequate for this age group, a test composed only of these items would be too easy for students who were two to four years older. Therefore, some new items had to be developed. A pilot test for upper secondary school students conducted in the spring of 1999 (see below) served to test these newly developed cognitive items as well as some attitude items. The final questionnaire for the upper secondary students included all attitude items from the final questionnaire for the 14-year-old students and two new eight-item scales. In addition, the background questionnaire, which provided demographic information as well as information pertaining to the students' families and out-of-school activities was adapted from the test for the 14-year-olds.

Between April and May 1999, six countries conducted classroom-based pilot studies of the test and survey. Samples of about 100 to 500 students in Grades 10 to 12 were tested. The piloting countries included Chile, Colombia, Estonia, Germany (which eventually decided not to participate in the main study of upper secondary students), Israel, and the Russian Federation. Table 2.1 shows the number of students and the target grade for the participating countries.

Country	Students	Target Grade
Chile	497	Grade 12
Colombia	356	Grade 11
Estonia	228	Grade 10
Germany	187	Grade 11
Israel	119	Grade 11
Russian Federation	197	Grade 11
Total	1,584	Grades 10–12

Table 2.1 Number of Students and Target Grade in the Pilot Study

In addition to undertaking the pilot study, National Research Coordinators were asked to evaluate the newly developed cognitive items with respect to translation problems and structures, contexts, and school instruction effects, and to estimate their difficulty.

In July 1999 the analysis of the pilot data of upper secondary students was performed and a sub-group from the International Steering Committee and the National Research Coordinators made a final decision about which items to include. Those research coordinators who were unable to pilot test agreed to abide by choices made in relation to the six countries. This was feasible because all non-piloting countries planning to participate at the upper secondary level had participated at the 14-year-old level using tests with a high overlap of items. The pilot test as well as the final instruments were prepared in English and then translated into the national languages by the National Research Centers. The procedure of translation verification was the same as for the 14-year-olds (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 36), and the coverage of content was similar to that in the 14-year-old instrument (Appendix Table A.1).

SAMPLING, TESTING, AND SCALING

Sampling from an Internationally Defined Population

In light of the differences between educational systems across countries at the upper secondary level, no agreement could be reached as to a common target group. Many of the participating countries conclude compulsory education by age 15 and have systems that channel students toward different programs. Curricular patterns and research priorities as well as access to certain grades also differ across countries. It therefore was left for each country to define the grade or age group tested in this part of the study, with the only requirement that it had to fall into upper secondary education.

For sampling, two stratification methods were used: explicit and implicit stratification. Explicit stratification variables were, for example, regions, school tracks, administrative relationship with the state (private, public), and school size. Variables for implicit stratification were, for example, region, school type, mode of financing, socioeconomic status, urbanization, and school size. As was the situation for the 14-year-olds, the sampling employed a two-stage stratified cluster design. At the first stage, a systematic probability-proportional-to-size (PPS) technique was used to sample the schools. At the second stage, intact classrooms within schools were sampled either with equal probability or with probability proportional to size.

Panel 2.1 briefly describes the target population of each participating country.

First, information is given as to the grade that each country chose, if it was the last grade of upper secondary education, and how many students were estimated to be in the target population.

Second, a section on exclusions and coverage presents the information on school-level exclusions or within-school exclusions. The 'coverage index' is defined as the size of the target population divided by the size of the respective age cohort. If, for example, a young person had started working after the ninth grade, he or she would not have been in the target population, which included only those students enrolled in school in Grades 10, 11, or 12 (whatever the case may have been for that country). The 'coverage indices' are reported for all countries except for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR) because of missing weights.

Due to differences in the organization of upper secondary education and to differences in the chosen target grade in various countries, the coverage index turned out to be quite different for the countries included in the study. The study of the upper secondary school students was never intended to sample the whole cohort but only that part still in the school system. The coverage index is therefore not a sign of quality but an indication of differences between school systems or the chosen target grades.

Country	School	School	School	Total Number	Student	Total Number	Overall	Overall
	Participation	Participation After	Participation After	of Schools that	Participation	of Students	Participation	Participation
	Before	Replacement	Replacement	Participated	Rate	Assessed	Rate Before	Rate After
	Replacement	(Weighted	(Unweighted				Replacement	Replacement
	(Weighted	Percentage)	Percentage)					
	Percentage)							
Chile	66	100	100	180	96	5777	56	96
Colombia	*	*	92	149	*	5347	*	*
Cyprus	100	100	98	41	89	1700	89	89
Czech Republic	96	98	98	147	92	3362	89	16
Denmark	71	71	71	141	88	2761	62	62
Estonia	75	77	86	142	91	3215	68	70
Hong Kong (SAR)	*	*	54	81	*	5810	*	*
Israel	88	98	98	233	84	4430	74	83
Latvia	84	87	86	125	67	2756	81	85
Norway	83	83	83	124	88	2099	72	72
Poland	06	100	100	150	93	4050	83	93
Portugal	94	94	95	149	79	2795	74	74
Russian Federation	98	98	95	165	97	1787	94	94
Slovenia	96	96	94	145	88	3746	84	84
Sweden	06	16	89	88	76	2678	69	76
Switzerland (German)	69	95	95	69	94	1270	65	06
* Participation rates are not rep	orted for Colombia and I	Hong Kong (SAR) becaus	e only unweighted data wer	e available.				

Table 2.2 Participation Rates and Sample Sizes

33

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary school students tested in 2000.

The denominator of the coverage index reported in Panel 2.1 is calculated on the basis of the total number of 15- to 19-year-olds living in each country in the year 2000 (United Nations, 2001) divided by 5 to get an estimated average of the total number of people born in one year. The numerator is the size of the defined target population. Thus, the coverage index is the proportion of people who are in the target population, and the assumption here is that the differences between the grade-based and age-based estimates can be ignored.

Finally, the section on sample design gives some information on the organization of explicit and implicit stratification in each country.

Coverage indices ranged from .39 to .99, and must be taken into account when examining the results.

Table 2.2 shows the participation rates of the 16 countries. National Research Centers made every attempt to meet the sampling requirements, but in some countries there was resistance from schools. Seven countries failed to reach the 75 percent overall participation rate, before employing the replacement procedure specified in the sampling guidelines. In four countries, the overall participation rate, even after replacement of schools, was lower than 75 percent. Student-level participation rates were at least 76 percent in all participating countries.

	Chile
Target Population	In Chile, the national target population comprised 164,685 students from Grade 12 for all regions within the country. Grade 12 is the last year of upper secondary education.
Coverage and Exclusions	School-level exclusions related to schools with 15 or fewer students in Grade 12, schools with difficult access, and schools out of the explicit strata (i.e., privately paid and offering technical education). Within-schools exclusions related to students with functional and mental disabilities. The coverage index was 0.64.
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification variables were connected to the school's administrative relationship with the state (municipal, subsidized, and/or privately paid). Chile used two explicit stratification variables: administrative relationship with the state (which also includes a financial relationship); and the track (scientific-humanistic and technical-professional). Implicit stratification was organized by region (north, south, and metropolitan area), giving a total of three implicit strata.

Panel 2.1 Descriptive Information Regarding the Target Population for Each Participating Country (including 'coverage index' computed as indicated above)

	Colombia
Target Population	In Colombia the national target population was 413,214 students from Grade 11. This grade is the last year of upper secondary education.
Coverage and Exclusions	Very small schools were excluded. No coverage index was estimated because of missing weights.
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification related to regions (Atlántica, Bogotá, Occidente, Centro Oriente, Orinoquía-Amazonía) and type of school (private or public), to give a total of five explicit strata. Implicit stratification was organized according to four different levels of population within each municipality and by the average score that schools attained in social studies–Colombia's national examination (Grade 11). The latter was organized into four levels as well. The total number of implicit strata therefore was 16. Note that the Colombian sample could not be weighted.

Cyprus		
Target Population	In Cyprus the national target population was 8,467 students from the eleventh grade. Grade 12 is the last year of upper secondary education.	
Coverage and Exclusions	All schools were included. The coverage index was 0.67	
Sample Design	 The explicit stratification used urbanization (rural and urban schools) and regions (Nicosia, Limassol, Larfam, and Paphos). Implicit stratification was not used. 	

Czech Republic		
Target Population	Within the Czech Republic the national target population was Grade 12 (107,662 students). Grade 13 is the last year of upper secondary education.	
Coverage and Exclusions	Exclusions covered very small schools, special schools for students with functional and mental disabilities, and Polish language schools. The coverage index was 0.78.	
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was organized by school track (academic, technical, and vocational), giving a total of three explicit strata. Implicit stratification was not used. 	

Denmark			
Target Population	In Denmark the national target population was 30,137 Grade 12 students. Grade 12 is the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	All schools were included. However, students attending vocationally oriented programs were not in the sampling frame. This is because these students do not attend classes or schools on a full-time basis. The coverage index was 0.55.		
Sample Design	Explicit stratification was not used.Implicit stratification was organized by school type.		
Estonia			
-------------------------	--	--	--
Target Population	In Estonia the national target population comprised 10,368 students in Grade 12, the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Special schools for students with functional and mental disabilities were excluded. The coverage index was 0.49.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was organized by five different regions (Central, North-eastern, Southern, Western, and Northern Estonia), to give a total of five explicit strata. Implicit stratification was not used. 		

Hong Kong (SAR)			
Target Population	In Hong Kong (SAR) the national target population was 27,400 Grade 12 students. Grade 13 is the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Non-native-language-speaking schools were excluded. No coverage index was estimated because of missing weights.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was not used. Implicit stratification was organized by mode of financing (government-aided, government, and private fee-paying), giving a total of three implicit strata. Note that the Hong Kong (SAR) sample could not be weighted. 		

Israel			
Target Population	In Israel the national target population was 86,775 students in Grade 11. The last year of upper secondary education is Grade 12.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Ultra-orthodox Jewish schools and Arab private church schools, special education schools, and schools that do not follow the state curriculum were excluded. The coverage index was 0.83.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification employed type of school (Hebrew and Arab), giving a total of two explicit strata. Implicit stratification was organized by school type (regular state and state religious schools), regions, socioeconomic status within each region, and number of eligible students in each listed school within each region, to give a total of 11 implicit strata. 		

Latvia			
Target Population	In Latvia the national target population was 32,517 students in Grade 10. The last year of upper secondary education is Grade 12.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Coverage in Latvia was restricted to students whose languages of instruction were Latvian or Russian (tests and question- naires in both languages). Very small schools and special schools for students with physical and mental disabilities were excluded. The coverage index was 0.89.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification employed school size (very small schools, moderately small schools, and large schools), giving a total of three explicit strata. Implicit stratification was organized by school type and urbanization, giving a total of four implicit strata. 		

Norway			
Target Population	In Norway the national target population was 52,244 students in Grade 11, the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Exclusions within the nationally defined target population were schools for individual education, remote schools, and extremely small schools. The coverage index was 0.99.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was not used. Implicit stratification related to counties, which produced a total of 19 implicit strata. 		

Poland			
Target Population	In Poland the national target population was 604,070 Grade 11 students. For technical, vocational, and general lycees, the last grade is Grade 12. For technical schools that award professional certificates of upper secondary vocational education, the last grade is 13.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Schools serving students with various forms of physical disability were excluded. These schools included job preparation schools, special basic vocational schools, special technical secondary schools, special vocational secondary schools, and special general secondary schools. The coverage index was 0.90.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was not used. The implicit stratification employed provinces, resulting in 16 implicit strata. 		

Portugal			
Target Population	In Portugal the national target population was 100,889 Grade 11 students. The last year of upper secondary education is Grade 12.		
Coverage and Exclusions	All schools were included. The coverage index was 0.76.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was organized by region (Norte, Centro, Lisboa e Vale Do Tejo, Alentejo, Algarve, Madeira, and Azores), to give a total of 11 explicit strata. Implicit stratification was organized by school size and school type (regular or professional), giving a total of three implicit strata. 		

Russian Federation			
Target Population	In the Russian Federation the national target population was 1,194,853 Grade 11 students. Grade 11 is the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Schools for students with mental and physical disabilities and schools that were non-Russian-language teaching were excluded. The coverage index was 0.50.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was organized by regions. Implicit stratification was organized by school type (rural or urban), giving two implicit strata. 		

Slovenia			
Target Population	In Slovenia the national target population was 18,936 students in Grade 12, the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	All schools were included. The coverage index was 0.68.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was not used. Implicit stratification was organized by geographical areas, to give a total of three implicit strata. 		

Sweden			
Target Population	In Sweden the national target population was 84,742 students in Grade 12, the last year of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Very small schools were excluded. The coverage index was 0.84.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was organized in the same way as for the 14-year-olds, that is, by type of community, in order to concentrate the sample of schools within strata to the more relevant parts of Sweden. This procedure gave a total of three explicit strata. Implicit stratification was sorted by type of program, giving a total of four implicit strata. 		

Switzerland (German)			
Target Population	In Switzerland the national target population was 23,365 Grade 11 students living in the German-speaking part of the country. Grade 13 is the last grade of upper secondary education.		
Coverage and Exclusions	Special schools for students with physical and mental handicaps were excluded. The coverage index was 0.39.		
Sample Design	 Explicit stratification was organized by school type, resulting in a total of six strata. Implicit stratification was sorted by school track, which gave one implicit stratum. 		

In most countries the sample size of schools per country was between 120 and 240. Only in Cyprus (41), Switzerland (German) (69), Hong Kong (SAR) (81), and Sweden (88) was it lower. Student sample sizes ranged from 1,270 in Switzerland (German) to 5,810 in Hong Kong (SAR).

The main sample characteristics—age, grade, percentage of females, and percentage of students who responded that they had not been born in the country—are shown in Table 2.3 by country. These have a direct crossnational and cross-age influence on the interpretation of the results because each comparison of achievement has to take into account the 'coverage index' to control for selectivity and the different age and grade levels chosen for testing. The majority of countries selected Grade 12. Six chose Grade 11, and

Country	Age			Percentage of	Percentage of
country	Mean	Standard Deviation	Tested Grade	remaies	Born in Country
Chile	17.9	0.8	12	54	1
Colombia ¹	17.7	1.3	11	58	2
Cyprus	17.7	0.4	12	54	10
Czech Republic	17.9	0.7	12	51	2
Denmark	19.4	0.9	12	59	11
Estonia	18.2	0.4	12	61	5
Hong Kong (SAR) ¹	18.5	0.8	12	52	15
Israel	16.8	0.4	11	50	14
Latvia	16.6	1.2	10	54	17
Norway	18.1	0.7	12	53	5
Poland	17.6	0.4	11	51	1
Portugal	17.6	1.1	11	58	8
Russian Federation	17.0	0.4	11	60	8
Slovenia	18.4	0.5	12	53	3
Sweden	18.9	0.4	12	53	10
Switzerland (German)	17.9	1.1	11	59	10
International Sample ²	17.9	1.0	12	55	7
1 Unweighted data for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR).					

Table 2.3 Sample Characteristics

2 International sample based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary school students tested in 2000.

one (Latvia) tested Grade 10. In most of the participating countries the mean age was between 17 and 19. However, in Latvia and Israel the average age of tested students was below 17; in Denmark it was above 19.

More females than males were tested in all the countries. The highest gender disparity was in Estonia, where 61 percent of the student respondents were female. The proportion of students not born in the country ranged from 1 percent in Chile and Poland to 17 percent in Latvia.

Data Collection, Quality Control, Data Processing, and Weighting

For pragmatic reasons, and contrary to the practice in the study of the 14year-olds, the International Coordinating Center did not require the use of common testing dates across countries. The survey instruments were administered between October 1999 and February 2001 to national samples of students in school, totaling nearly 53,400 students. Just as in the test and survey for the 14-year-olds, the National Research Centers of the participating countries were responsible for the data collection. Manuals relating to field operations and for school coordinators and test administrators, together with tracking forms, were adapted from those developed for the 14-year-olds. The distribution of the material, the data collection at the schools, and the data entry were conducted as in the test for 14-year-olds (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 36). For quality control purposes, every National Research Center performed internationally obligatory control monitoring (for example, follow-up calls). In addition to this, the National Research Coordinators in Chile, the Czech Republic, Slovenia, and Sweden completed a questionnaire on how the test and survey were administered in their countries.

After the data collection, the IEA Data Processing Center (DPC) in Hamburg compared the data sets to tracking forms and then checked and cleaned them. The DPC also computed the weights to be applied to the sample according to the previously approved sampling design for each country. For Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR), the information provided was insufficient for calculating the appropriate weights. Results for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR) are unweighted and are reported in the appendices.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis and IRT Scaling

The structures of the attitude scales in the test for the 14-year-olds were examined by way of a series of confirmatory factor analyses. Since all attitudinal items used for the upper secondary group had been adopted from the test for 14-year-olds, their inter-relationships were expected to remain constant across the two studies (14-year-old and upper secondary students). The confirmation of the structure of attitude scales therefore was not repeated.

In order to confirm the theoretically expected structure of the test items (those with right and wrong answers), a confirmatory factor analysis was performed (see details in Chapter 3). The inclusion of a new set of items involving knowledge of economics made this especially important. Just as in the test and survey for the 14-year-olds, item response theory (IRT) scaling methods were used for both the multiple-choice as well as the categorical items. In technical terms, this procedure had two main implications:

- 1. For the cognitive test, a one-parameter Rasch model was fitted to the data. Some of the items of the cognitive test had been adopted from the test for 14-year-olds, and their item parameters were fixed to the value that had been estimated during the scaling procedure for that test. The other item parameters were floated.
- 2. For attitudinal items, the partial credit model was applied, and all item parameters were fixed to the value previously estimated for the 14-year-olds. This practice made comparisons between the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students, at least in principle, possible, because all item and person parameters of both tests could be measured on the same metric. This is one reason for the use of IRT scaling methods. Another advantage is that this method provided common scales for all countries, allowing the exclusion of items that did not fit the model in a few countries without jeopardizing the comparability of the international scales. For attitudinal items, especially, the problem of missing values is very common because of the possibility of individual respondents leaving out an item or answering 'don't know'.

THE DATA ANALYSIS PROCESS

Analysis of the international data consisted of several steps.

First, for the test items:

- Computation of item statistics for all 43 items, leading to the deletion of three items from further analysis.
- Confirmatory factor analysis with structural equation modeling on an international random sample of 500 students from each country.
- Selection of scales based on theoretical and empirical grounds.
- Item adjudication to examine scales by country and to make further refinements.
- Estimation of Rasch models for the selected scales. This required the use of an international calibration sample of 500 students per country, selected randomly from weighted country data, and the fixing of parameters of items that had been adopted from the test for the 14-year-olds. New parameters were estimated for all other items.
- Scaling of country data sets using the previously estimated item parameters as anchors.

Second, for the survey items:

- Computation of item statistics for all survey items.
- Item adjudication to examine scales by country.
- Scaling of country data sets, using fixed item parameters from the test for 14-year-olds as anchors.

Complex sampling (such as the multiple-stage sampling used here) makes simple random sampling formulas for estimating standard errors inadequate. To estimate correct sampling errors for each statistic in this report, the 'jackknife' procedure was applied (except for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR)).¹ The overall estimate of a sample statistic plus or minus two standard errors gives a 95 percent probability of inferring the correct mean for the population based on the student sample.

GUIDE TO THE PRESENTATION OF DATA IN CHAPTERS 3–8

All scales of the survey and many items from the test were derived from the test and survey for 14-year-olds. Findings based on the test and survey, as well as differences between student achievement for the 14-year-old and upper secondary groups, are discussed in Chapters 3–8.

The multiple-choice items in the test measuring *civic content knowledge, skills in* interpreting political communication, and economic literacy have keyed correct answers. The IRT scaling process is covered in Chapter 3. As mentioned above, item parameters from items used in the research on the 14-year-olds were fixed, while new item parameters were floated. As such, the Rasch scores presented in Chapter 3 are based on the anchor items estimated in the scaling process for the 14-year-olds, and where the scale was normed to have a mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 20. The scores based on these items are presented in the same format as that in the report on the 14-year-old population, but with the countries in alphabetical order. For the upper secondary students, the age and grade ranges were much wider than was the case for the 14-year-olds. Another point to note is that a reduced coverage index is likely to be associated with considerable cognitive and social background selection effects. Therefore, differences in civic achievement between different countries need to be interpreted very carefully, with account being taken of both the age differences and possible selection effects. Moreover, for all comparisons between the 14-year-old and upper secondary students, it is important to remember that the study of the 14-year-olds included the total cohort (or, at least, that was the intention), whereas the upper secondary students were a selected group of those still school settings where testing was feasible. The coverage index for each country gives an indication of the proportion of students who are still in school in relation to the total age cohort.

The items in the survey of *concepts, attitudes, and actions* do not have correct answers, but any of the four different alternatives as well as the option 'don't know' was accepted. The majority of these items were scaled in 11 Rasch scales, which were adopted from the survey for the 14-year-olds and were calibrated to have an international mean of 10 and a standard deviation of 2. Again, comparisons between country means and the international mean, between one country's mean and that of another, and between the 14-year-old and the upper secondary students by country are possible in principle. This is

¹ Due to missing weights, the 'jack-knife' procedure could not be applied in Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR).

because, for each scale, a single metric is used. But just as for the test, age differences and the coverage index must be considered when interpreting differences in survey results between countries. Appendix B includes an itemby-score map for each concept, attitude, or action scale in Chapters 4–7, allowing readers to ascertain the response on the four-point scale that corresponds to Rasch scores from 4 to 16. The item-by-score maps are identical to those shown in the report for the 14-year-olds, differing only in terms of the percentage distribution of responses to each scaled item found in the lower part of the figures.

The figures in Chapters 4–7 present country means for the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students on these scaled scores. All countries appear in alphabetical order, with a confidence band of two standard errors for each mean. The upward or downward arrows indicate whether a country's mean is significantly higher or lower than the corresponding international mean for the respective population. The international mean for the 14-year-olds included here was based on 13 country means (exclusions are Colombia, Hong Kong (SAR), and Israel). Data from Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR) could not be weighted; for Israel there was no sample of 14-year-olds. The international mean for the upper secondary school students was based on 14 country means (exclusions are Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR)). Although the IRT attitude scales means computed for the 14-year-olds from 28 countries had means of 10.0 and standard deviations of 2, this was not the case for the upper secondary group (because these items were not re-scaled). Chapter 9 summarizes the differences across all scales and countries.

A figure comparing country means is included for each of the Rasch scores in Chapters 4–7. An additional figure is included to illustrate gender differences only for those scales where half or more of the countries showed a significant gender difference (p < .05 with a Dunn-Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons). In those instances where fewer than half of the countries showed a significant difference, the text lists the gender differences that are statistically significant at the .05 level, but a separate figure is not included.

In interpreting these results it is important to keep in mind the following. In countries with low coverage rates (small proportions of the age cohort still enrolled in school), the 14-year-old and the upper secondary groups were likely to differ in home background (assessed by home literacy resources and parents' level of education). Although several attempts were made to adjust comparisons for this, none provided an appropriate solution to the problem, a situation that may have biased the results for the test and that is discussed in Chapter 3. On the basis of analysis indicating that home background is less likely to influence concept and attitude results, comparisons are provided of the 14-year-olds with the upper secondary students in the 13 countries that tested both groups and for which there were weighted samples (found in Chapters 4–7). Where applicable, the caveat that countries with low coverage rates may overestimate the change associated with age is indicated.

SUMMARY OF METHODS

The following were used to develop the two class-hours of the IEA Civic Education Study test and survey for upper secondary groups:

- A careful review of the instrument administered in 1999 to 14-year-olds in 28 countries as well as of the associated analysis.
- Selection of items from the 14-year-old test and addition of new items, especially covering economics.
- Inclusion of all of the items from the 14-year-old survey and the addition of 16 new items.
- Pilot testing in six countries.

The test and survey were administered to national samples of upper secondary students in 16 countries, giving a total sample of about 50,000 students. Confirmatory factor analysis and Rasch scaling were used to develop a test score (for the cognitive items with 'right' and 'wrong' answers). The scaling specifications used for the attitude items with the 14-year-olds were also used for the upper secondary population data.

Details about relevant literature, quality control, and other procedures can be found in the report of results for the 14-year-olds (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001).



Knowledge of Civic Content, Skills in Interpreting Civic Information and Economic Literacy

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO CIVIC KNOWLEDGE AND ECONOMIC LITERACY

- For the upper secondary students, a meaningful, reliable, and valid international test of student knowledge about democratic institutions, principles, processes, and related topics could be constructed, as was the case in the parallel study of 14-year-olds. The use of (IRT) scaling techniques made it possible to link achievement scores among upper secondary students to the scores obtained by the 14-year-olds, such that differences in civic knowledge between the younger and the older students could be determined both within and across countries.
- As in the study of 14-year-olds, civic knowledge was conceived as a combination of content knowledge and interpretative skills. Nevertheless, it was also deemed to be meaningful to report specific results for the two subdimensions. Economic literacy, however, was introduced to the test as an entirely new component that had no parallel in the test for the 14-year-olds. Therefore, the respective results are reported separately in this chapter.
- Between-country differences in civic achievement were slightly larger at the upper secondary level than among the 14-year-olds. To some extent, this was due to age differences between the nationally defined target populations. Between-country differences in the proportion of adolescents still in school at the selected grade also appeared to contribute to the observed achievement differences.

- As was to be expected, the upper secondary students were generally more knowledgeable about democracy, national identity, and social diversity and cohesion than the 14-year-olds. Even allowing for some overestimation at the upper secondary level in some countries, the average annual knowledge increment was comparable in size to annual achievement gains in more curriculumdriven domains of school learning, such as mathematics.
- At the upper secondary level, there was a tendency for male students to attain higher levels of civic knowledge than females. This tendency was present in the two sub-dimensions of content knowledge and interpretative skills. It was most pronounced, however, in the domain of economic literacy.
- Students reporting more home literacy resources consistently did better on the test. While some between countrydifferences existed in this respect, it is noteworthy that the size of this effect was remarkably constant within countries across grades.

CIVIC KNOWLEDGE AND ECONOMIC LITERACY IN THE STUDY OF UPPER SECONDARY STUDENTS: HOW IT WAS MEASURED

One of the major aims of the present study was to assess, within and between countries, levels of civic knowledge among upper secondary students, that is, students at the threshold between adolescence and adulthood. In many countries, age 18 marks the beginning of full suffrage, and thus it is of major significance to know how young adults handle civic information, including economic issues, that determine—or are about to determine—important facets of their lives.

As was the case in the study of 14-year-olds, the task of measuring the civic knowledge of upper secondary students presented a number of challenges. While it was clear at an early stage of the project that full comparability of results for the two age groups could not be achieved (see Chapter 2 for more detail), it appeared desirable in many respects to have sufficient commonality between the two studies to facilitate meaningful cross-references. This, in turn, required carrying over a substantial number of cognitive items from the younger age group, yet leaving room for more demanding tasks as well as the newly introduced domain of economic literacy. It also meant drawing upon the valuable experience gained from measuring civic knowledge among 14-year-olds. In other words, the study researchers attempted to use a sub-set of the items from the earlier study to attain two goals simultaneously: (i) ensure conceptual comparability across the two studies; and (ii) arrive at a scale (or several sub-scales) linked to the IRT scale(s) used in the earlier study (anchoring).

Thus, the cognitive test for the upper secondary students consisted of 43 multiple-choice items. Sixteen of these had been used in the study of 14-yearolds. Of these, 14 proved to be suitable anchor items. Ten were items from the domain of content knowledge ('Type 1 items'), and four were items that measured students' skills in interpreting civic information ('Type 2 items'). The remaining two items from this group (one Type 1 item and one Type 2 item), while retained in the test, had to have their difficulties re-estimated, because their relative position on the scale had changed as compared with the other items from the original test. The remaining 27 items were new. These included three new content items (Type 1), intended to tap more advanced levels of civic knowledge, seven additional skills items (Type 2), also meant to be more demanding than the ones previously used, and 14 items that referred to the new domain of 'economic literacy'. Three new items eventually were discarded on psychometric grounds.

In order to ensure that the test for the upper secondary students would meet the conditions for scaling, the 43 items—the 16 items from the original test for the 14-year-olds and the 27 newly developed ones—were piloted in six countries in 1999. It was the aim of this exercise to check, for this set of items as well as its constituent sub-sets, the applicability of the one-parameter logistic test model ('Rasch scaling'). On the basis of the evidence thus obtained, it appeared justified to administer the whole set of 43 items to students in all 16 participating countries. Using the full data set on which this chapter is based, checks of the psychometric properties of the test were repeated. Once the three items identified above were eliminated, the final test for the upper secondary students showed satisfactory psychometric properties for a 40-item test.

Many of the latter 14 economic literacy items were modeled after the Test of Economic Literacy (Beck & Krumm, 1999), which had already proven its qualities in a number of different countries (see, for example, Beck, Krumm, & Dubs, 1998). It is, of course, an open question-both theoretically and empirically speaking—as to whether economic literacy can rightfully be considered an integral component of civic knowledge, or whether it should be regarded as a separate, but important, set of competencies referring to the issues with which young people are confronted. In any event, an attempt was made to widen the scope of the investigation, both in terms of the complexity of its demands and in terms of the range of competencies covered. Given that a great number of civic issues-in particular some of the more complex ones-revolve around economic matters, most national researchers deemed it appropriate to include economic literacy in the test for the upper secondary students. The decision on whether to define a separate economic literacy scale for this report could then be based, at least in part, on the empirical evidence produced by the testing.

DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN CONTENT KNOWLEDGE, INTERPRETATIVE SKILLS, AND ECONOMIC LITERACY

In structural terms, the question of whether to include items measuring economic literacy in a test of civic knowledge is similar to that of the distinction between content knowledge and interpretative skills discussed in the report for the 14-year-olds (Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, & Schulz, 2001, p. 58). The difference between the studies of the two populations is, of course, that with the older group of students three instead of two possible subdimensions had to be considered. Nonetheless, the statistical approach to investigating the differences and commonalities of the latent constructs involved was essentially the same. Figure 3.1 presents the results of the respective confirmatory factor analysis, which distinguishes content knowledge, interpretative skills, and economic literacy.

The diagram shows that the distinctions do produce a sound statistical solution, which allows reporting of three sub-scales' means while leaving open the option of combining at least two sub-dimensions into a more comprehensive measure. The latent variable correlation between content knowledge and interpretative skills (r = .95) is even higher than that reported for the 14-year-olds (r = .91). Applying the reasoning adopted in the earlier report, we concluded that a correlation of this magnitude appeared to justify the computation of a combined scale for content knowledge and interpretative skills. At the same time, we felt that separate reporting in addition might render insights, for example, in the analysis of sub-group performance.

Figure 3.1 also shows that the correlation between interpretative skills and economic literacy (r = .92) is slightly lower than that between content knowledge and interpretative skills, and that the correlation between content knowledge and economic literacy is even smaller (r = .85). The latter



Figure 3.1 Confirmatory Factor Analysis of Content Knowledge, Interpretative Skills, and Economic Literacy Items

Standardized estimates chi-square=6622.666 df=737 *p*-value=.000 gfi=.974 agfi=.971 rmsea=.024 pclose=1.000 coefficient, in particular, suggests that economic literacy items possess sufficient unique variance to provide additional insight into possibly diverging patterns of civic knowledge in the participating countries or among certain sub-groups. It should be noted that a combination of content knowledge and interpretative skills maximizes comparability with the 'total scores' of the earlier report. However, the decision to keep economic literacy separate also pays tribute to the fact that not all participating countries considered this particular domain to be a constitutive part of civic education.

The existence of anchor items that link the earlier study to the present investigation allowed us to build upon the scale already established (the 'total scores' for the 14-year-olds) and to express the upper secondary students' achievement on the combination of content knowledge and skills in interpreting political information in these terms. For the 28 countries with data from 14-year-olds, the international mean (with equal weights given to all participating countries) was set to a value of 100 scale points. For the 13 of these countries that also contributed a properly weightable sample for the upper secondary level, the recomputed international mean of the 14-year-olds was almost identical (99.4 scale points). The upper secondary students in these countries, with the addition of Israel, attained an international average score of 119 scale points. While it is highly plausible to attribute this difference, at least in part, to cognitive growth and instruction, other factors likely would have been involved. Above all, in those countries with a diminished coverage of the age cohort at the upper secondary stage, it is probable that the responses of the omitted segments of the population (that is, early school-leavers, young employees, participants in vocational training programs, etc.) would have differed from those of the young adults included in the study. In the case of these countries, the attained average levels of civic knowledge and economic literacy probably have been overestimated. For details on the computation of the age coverage index, see Chapter 2 of this report.

In the 14-year-old study, the *separate* scores for content knowledge and interpretative skills were calibrated not on the total score scale, but on separate scales, also with a mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 20. Where these two sub-dimensions are referred to separately in the present chapter, the anchoring technique described above was employed on the basis of the existing sub-scales. The respective scores were used in the analysis of gender effects (discussed below).

Since no anchor items existed for the sub-scale of economic literacy, a new scale had to be defined (using data from all countries). In line with earlier conventions, it had an international mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 20 scale points. Due to the anchoring procedure employed to make the scales from the two age populations comparable, the total content and skills score had a mean of 119 for the upper secondary sample. Due to sub-scale-specific anchoring procedures, the mean of the content subscale was 118 and of the skills subscale 113 for the upper secondary population. It should be noted that the choice of 100 as a mean for the economic literacy subscale *should not be interpreted* as meaning that economic literacy was less well-developed among the upper secondary students than was content knowledge and interpretative skills.

RELATING TEST RESULTS FROM THE UPPER SECONDARY STUDENTS TO THOSE FROM THE 14-YEAR-OLDS

One of the prerequisites for expressing the test results from an older sample in terms of those derived from a younger one is that the anchor items are sensitive to growth in both sub-populations. We therefore considered it instructive to show, for selected items, changes in the percentages of correct answers in those countries that participated in the study at both the14-year-old and upper secondary levels. For this purpose, it is best to use concrete examples (Figures 3.2a–d), some of which were discussed in the 14-year-old report.

The first example (Figure 3.2a) is a Type 1 item, which had been comparatively easy for the 14-year-olds to answer. The item asked respondents to demonstrate content knowledge by acknowledging the general role of institutional pluralism in democratic countries (option C: 'many organisations provide opportunities to express different points of view'). From the percentages given, it is clear that in all participating countries, the portion of upper secondary students selecting the correct response was significantly higher than the portion of 14-year-olds making this selection. Due to the anchoring procedure, the international scale value that stands for the difficulty of the item remained constant. Given that the upper secondary students were more likely than the 14-year-olds to answer this item correctly, they were credited with higher scale scores, on the condition that similar increments should be observed for the other anchor items. As already mentioned, this

Country	14-year-olds Correct Answers (in %)	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 1 (Item #03) Knowldge of Content
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia	69 (1.1) 80 (1.1) 76 (1.1) 75 (0.9) 61 (1.1)	87 (0.8) 92 (1.1) 89 (0.8) 98 (0.3) 84 (1.3)	3. In a democratic country [society] having many organisations for people to join is
Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	n.a. n.a. 55 (1.8) 69 (0.9) 78 (1.6) 59 (1.2)	84 (1.0) 68 (1.4) 81 (1.2) 83 (1.1) 87 (0.9)	 A. a group to defend members who are arrested. B. many sources of taxes for the government.
Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	68 (1.6) 62 (1.1) 70 (1.5) 66 (1.5)	78 (1.8) 82 (1.7) 92 (0.7) 89 (1.4)	 C. opportunities to express different points of view.* D. a way for the government to tell people about new laws.
International Sample ²	68 (0.4)	85 (0.3)	International Scale Value: 93

			-		
Figure 3.2a	Itom Evam	nlo: Imnortanc	o of many	ornanisations	for domocracy
i igui c J.Za		pic. Inpol tanc	c or many	organisations	ioi acinociacy

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Country	14-year-olds Correct Answers (in %)	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 2 (Item #6) Knowledge of Content
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	44 (1.3) 59 (1.3) 60 (1.6) 46 (1.1) 39 (1.4) n.a. n.a. 36 (1.9) 57 (1.0) 65 (2.3) 55 (1.5)	76 (1.0) 76 (1.6) 86 (1.0) 85 (0.8) 83 (0.9) 88 (0.8) 58 (2.3) 80 (1.6) 71 (1.8) 88 (0.9)	 6. Which of the following is most likely to cause a government to be called non-democratic? A. People are prevented from criticising the government.* B. The political parties criticise each other often. C. People must pay very high taxes.
Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German) International Sample ²	57 (2.3) 50 (1.3) 66 (1.6) 56 (1.9) 53 (0.4)	76 (2.3) 74 (1.9) 91 (1.0) 91 (1.3) 80 (0.4)	D. Every citizen has the right to a job. International Scale Value: 106

Figure 3.2b Item Example: Identify a non-democratic government

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

condition held for all but two of the items from the original test. In these two cases, the item difficulty parameters had to be re-estimated in the computation of scale scores for the upper secondary students.

The second example (Figure 3.2b) also pertains to the domain of content knowledge, in particular the knowledge of democratic practices and institutions. It stipulates the identification of a practice that 'most likely causes a government to be called non-democratic'. The correct answer (A: 'People are prevented from criticising the government') requires a reliable knowledge base as to the properties of democratic governments and the ability to apply that knowledge to the opposite case ('*non*-democratic government'). As can be seen, and as was to be expected, the percentages of correct answers were again generally higher for the upper secondary students than they were for the 14-year-olds.

The third example (Figure 3.2c) measures skills in interpreting civic-related texts. As with the two previous examples, it refers to democratic practices and institutions. It does so with some reference to economic policy, although it was *not* considered part of the economic literacy scale. Here, students were asked to interpret an electoral leaflet directed against an imaginary political party. The correct answer is B ('a party or group in opposition to the Silver Party'). There are several clues suggesting the solution, although the interpretation of some of these requires complex inferences as to the two parties' approaches to taxation and government spending. An adequate reaction to these clues requires the ability to identify the alleged negative consequences of the Silver

Country	14-year-olds Correct Answers (in %)	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 3 (Item #11) Skills in Interpretation We citizens have had enough!
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia	54 (1.5) 81 (0.9) 66 (1.6) 49 (1.1) 54 (1.4)	80 (1.0) 91 (0.9) 85 (0.8) 84 (0.9) 83 (1.0)	A vote for the Silver Party means a vote for higher taxes. It means an end to economic growth and a waste of our nation's resources. Vote instead for economic growth and free enterprise.
Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	n.a. n.a. 44 (1.9) 57 (0.9) 58 (2.0) 55 (1.3)	82 (1.2) 63 (2.6) 74 (1.7) 66 (1.8) 88 (0.8)	Vote for more money left in everyone's wallet! Let's not waste another 4 years! VOTE FOR THE GOLD PARTY. 11. This is an election leaflet which has probably
Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German) International Sample ²	45 (1.9) 75 (1.0) 73 (1.5) 80 (1.6) 61 (0.4)	69 (2.0) 84 (2.0) 93 (0.9) 96 (0.8) 81 (0.4)	 been issued by A. the Silver Party. B. a party or group in opposition to the Silver Party.* C. a group which tries to be sure elections are fair. D. the Silver Party and the Gold Party together. <i>International Scale Value: 97</i>

Figure 3.2c Item Example: This is an election leaflet ...

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Party's fiscal policy and to recognize that the counter-arguments could come only from an opposing group. The last line of the leaflet ('Vote for the Gold Party') is unambiguous, however, and clearly marks its origin. The conclusion that the Gold Party is opposed to the Silver Party appears rather obvious. This item was slightly easier for the 14-year-olds to answer than the average item in their test as a whole. Since the percentages of correct responses were notably higher for the upper secondary students, this item—like the earlier examples—could be used as a 'bridge' in relating upper secondary students' civic knowledge to the scale used in the analysis of test results among the 14year-olds.

This example is also interesting when considered from a different angle. Even though the item carries economic connotations, the analysis of the test for the 14-year-olds produced no evidence that it has less to do with 'skills in interpreting civic-related material' than the other skills items. Quite to the contrary, a confirmatory factor analysis showed it to have more in common with the full set of skills items than any other item in this group (cf. Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p.61, item # 23). The same is true for this item among the upper secondary students (Figure 3.1, item # 11), which justifies the decision not to move this item to the scale of economic literacy, but to retain it as an indicator for the students' skill in interpreting civic-related material. This decision also broadened the basis for cross-references to the results reported for the 14-year-olds.

Country	14-year-olds Correct Answers	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 4 (Item #10) Skills in Interpretation
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland	49 (1.5) 53 (1.1) 54 (1.5) 60 (1.0) 39 (1.2) n.a. n.a. 48 (1.7) 49 (1.0) 64 (2.1)	75 (0.9) 71 (2.3) 72 (1.3) 71 (1.1) 69 (1.8) 67 (1.1) 60 (2.4) 58 (1.8) 59 (1.6)	10. What is the message or main point of this cartoon? History textbooks
Portugal Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German) International Sample ²	49 (1.1) 45 (2.1) 56 (1.1) 52 (1.2) 66 (1.6) 53 (0.4)	58 (1.5) 56 (2.5) 68 (1.7) 79 (1.4) 79 (2.2) 67 (0.5)	 A. are sometimes changed to avoid mentioning problematic events from the past.* B. for children must be shorter than books written for adults. C. are full of information that is not interesting. D. should be written using a computer and not a pencil. International Scale Value: 110

Figure 3.2d Item Example: This is the way history textbooks are sometimes written

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

A fourth example (Figure 3.2d), also discussed in the report on the 14-yearolds, demonstrates, once more, how percentages of correct answers—and consequently student ability estimates—increased across the two age groups. The interpretative inference required of the students—the reconstruction of the meaning of a newspaper cartoon—again illustrates the kind of mental process involved, which is compatible with, although distinguishable from, mere knowledge and recall. As one might expect, such ability was more developed in the older (and in some instances more select) group of students than in the younger and more comprehensive samples.

Since no economic literacy items were included in the test for the 14-yearolds, respective changes between the samples of lower and upper secondary students cannot be determined. It is all the more useful, therefore, to exemplify the nature of test items measuring economic literacy in a way that takes their relative difficulties for upper secondary students into account.

In Figure 3.3, six items from the domain of economic literacy (short titles only) are arranged in such a way as to relate them to this newly formed respective scale (international sample mean: 100 scale points; international standard deviation: 20 scale points). Here, too, a clear hierarchical test structure emerges, with difficulties ranging from 91 scale points (Example 6) to 108 scale points (Example 1). Student abilities, defined in terms of a 65 percent probability to solve an item located at the corresponding difficulty level, can be derived from the test model employed. The respective ability

Figure 3.3 International Difficulty Map for Sample Items Relating to Economic Literacy



NOTE: Each item was placed onto the International Economic Literacy Scale. Items are shown at the point on the scale where students with that level of proficiency had a 65 percent probability of providing a correct response.

Because percentages and scale values are rounded to the nearest whole number, some results may appear inconsistent.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

estimates for economics can *not* be projected onto the existing scales for content knowledge and skills, either separately or together.

It had been anticipated that some of the economic literacy items could be quite difficult for the upper secondary students tested. As can be seen from the international means for correct responses, given for the six examples in Figure 3.3, the difficulty range was quite acceptable, with a low level of difficulty for Example 6 (75 percent correct) to a medium difficulty level of 50 percent correct for Example 1.

The difficulty structure of the test for the 14-year-olds was illustrated in the report for the 14-year-olds (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 52). Since the respective scale was carried over to the analysis of test performance of the upper secondary students, such illustration needs not be repeated here for items used already in the original test. Figure 3.3 shows the hierarchical structure for the sub-set of economic literacy items.

CIVIC KNOWLEDGE ACROSS COUNTRIES: SUMMARY AND CAUTIONS

Figure 3.4a presents a summary of the results of the international test on civic knowledge (content knowledge and skills) for all 14 countries that tested a sample of upper secondary students. (Results for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR), for which there are no weights available, are given in Appendix D.) In addition to the mean scale score (augmented by the standard error of sampling), there is information for each country on the testing date, the tested grade, and the mean age of the sample. The graphic format used is very similar to that chosen for the 14-year-olds, but in this population of upper secondary students the range of ages and the selectivity of the populations tested in some countries require much greater caution in interpreting comparisons between countries.

The graphical part of the figure contains information on the performance distributions. In addition to the mean and the corresponding 95 percent confidence interval (mean \pm two standard errors of sampling), the 5th, 25th, 75th, and 95th percentiles are also shown for each country. The ages of the students tested and the coverage index are also provided in the table, as they are essential to interpreting each of the scores. Figure 3.4a gives some indication as to the 'yield' of political socialization and civic education in a given country. Estonian students (mean age: 18.2 years), for instance, obtained a relatively high score on average (125 scale points). The Danish students scored even higher (132 scale points; mean age: 19.4 years), but their results were much less widely dispersed, as virtually no Danish students scored below 100. Note, however, the low coverage of the age cohort in the Danish sample, which may be a very selective group (for the mode of computing the coverage index, consult Chapter 2 of this report).

It may be worth mentioning that the students in three out of the four countries scoring significantly above the international mean had, on average, passed voting age, set at 18 in all participating countries. In none of the three countries significantly below the international mean was students' mean age above age of first vote. There are also differences between students aged about

רואמוב שיאמ שואנווואמווו			כנ או ברמרו א		, ובארבת שו מעב	, Meall Aye, allu covelaye ul tile Aye cullul t
Country	Mean Scale Score	Testing Date	Tested Grade	Mean Age	Coverage of the Age	Civic Knowledge Scale Score
				1	Cohort (%)	70 90 110 130 150 170
Chile	▲ 108 (0.6)	9/00	12	17.9	64	
Cyprus	• 118 (1.5)	4/00	12	17.7	67	
Czech Republic	• 121 (0.7)	11/99	12	17.9	78	
Denmark	▲ 132 (0.5)	3/00	12	19.4	55	
Estonia	▲ 125 (0.9)	4/00 - 5/00	12	18.2	49	
Israel	• 118 (1.0)	2/00	11	16.8	83	
Latvia	▼ 105 (1.5)	4/00	10	16.6	89	
Norway	• 122 (1.2)	4/00 - 6/00	12	18.1	66	
Poland	• 118 (1.1)	11/00 - 12/00 and 1/01 - 2/01	11	17.6	06	
Portugal	▲ 121 (0.6)	4/00 - 5/00	11	17.6	76	
Russian Federation	▼ 111 (1.3)	4/00 - 6/00	11	17.0	50	
Slovenia	• 115 (1.5)	11/99	12	18.4	68	
Sweden	▲ 130 (0.9)	3/00 - 5/00	12	18.9	84	
Switzerland (German)	• 124 (1.9)	9/00 - 11/00	11	17.9	39	
International Sample	119 (0.3)		12	17.9		
() Standard errors a	ppear in parenthese	, in the second s				Percentiles of Performance
▲ Country mean signi	ficantly higher than	international mean based on 14 c	countries.			E4h 26th 27th 27th
 No statistically signi- 	ficant difference betw	veen country mean and international	l mean bas	sed on 14	. countries.	
▼ Country mean signifi	cantly lower than inte	ernational mean based on 14 countri	ies.			─────────────────────────────────────
Rounding to the nearest international mean.	whole number and di	fferent sizes of standard errors acco	ount for ap	oparent a	nomalies in sol	me designations of countries as above, at, and below the

16 and those aged about 19 in both educational experiences and cognitive sophistication that could also account for differences in their performance.

The range of national mean scores, as shown in the figure, is 27 scale points, with a low of 105 for Latvia and a high of 132 for Denmark. This range is not much larger than the observed range of 23 points for corresponding countries in the study of 14-year-olds, despite the substantial increase in the age range of tested students and the different coverage of the age cohorts in the country samples. Therefore, the comparisons with the international mean (the results of which are indicated by symbols on the left-hand margin of the figure) are only of value when considered alongside both age and selectivity (coverage). In order to maximize the value of the study within countries, each national research team chose an age group for testing based on their needs for information (for example, to look at the effects of a particular course offered to 15- or 16-year olds or to focus on students who became eligible to vote at age 18). For instance, Latvia chose the youngest sample and, at the same time, a very comprehensive one (coverage index of 0.89, the third highest among the 14 countries listed). According to the international requirements of the IEA Civic Education Study for the younger population, Latvia's target population was Grade 8 students, although the subject civic education is taught in Grade 9 in Latvia. For the older population level (Grades 10 to 12, upper secondary), Latvia's target population was Grade 10. The main reason for drawing the sample from Grade 10 students was the need to assess the results of teaching and learning the subject civic education in Grade 9 regarding acquired civic knowledge and skills. This put Latvia at a potential disadvantage when compared to countries testing older or more selective samples of students (for example, countries with lower coverage indices). Special attention is paid to such problems below.

As in the study of 14-year-olds, there is no obvious pattern in these outcomes that serves as a simple explanation for the between-country differences. In terms of overall civic achievement, students from both the traditional and more recently established democracies are found in the top group. Some countries that stood out by virtue of their high performance in the 14-year-old group can now be found in the middle category (not significantly different from the international mean score). None of the four countries where the upper secondary students were scored significantly above the international mean (Denmark, Estonia, Portugal, Sweden) had been in the above-average group in the study of 14-year-olds. These changes are, of course, also influenced by differences between the samples in terms of mean age and coverage.

When the sub-scale findings are analyzed, it becomes clear that the rank orders of countries' results are generally quite similar to the total scores (see Figures 3.4b and 3.4c).

With respect to the dimension of economic literacy (Figure 3.4d), the dominant finding is again that the relative position of countries closely resembles their positions on the combined content knowledge/skills scale. In 10 out of the 14 countries that could be weighted, the country mean is significantly above, at, or below the international mean on both scales. Where there are deviations between the two, the more frequent pattern is that of a relative weakness on the economic literacy scale (Israel, Poland, and Portugal). Only in the Russian Federation does the opposite pattern appear.

רואמום שליכ שואמווזמנוו		wieuge, iesteu diaue, wieali Aye, o		מאב חו ו		
Country	Mean Scale Score	Testing Date	Tested Grade	Mean Age	Coverage of the Age	Content Knowledge Scale Score
)	Cohort (%)	90 100 110 120 130 140
Chile	▼ 112 (0.2)	00/9	12	17.9	64	
Cyprus	• 118 (0.5)	4/00	12	17.7	67	
Czech Republic	• 119 (0.3)	11/99	12	17.9	78	
Denmark	▲ 122 (0.2)	3/00	12	19.4	55	
Estonia	▲ 119 (0.3)	4/00 - 5/00	12	18.2	49	
Israel	▼ 117 (0.3)	Jan/ 00	11	16.8	83	
Latvia	▼ 112 (0.6)	2/00	10	16.6	89	
Norway	• 118 (0.5)	4/00 - 6/00	12	18.1	66	
Poland	• 119 (0.4)	11/00 - 12/00 and 1/01 - 2/01	11	17.6	06	
Portugal	▲ 120 (0.3)	4/00 - 5/00	11	17.6	76	
Russian Federation	• 117 (0.6)	4/00 - 6/00	11	17.0	50	
Slovenia	▼ 116 (0.6)	11/99	12	18.4	68	
Sweden	▲ 121 (0.3)	3/00 - 5/00	12	18.9	84	
Switzerland (German)	• 117 (0.5)	9/00 - 11/00	11	17.9	39	
International Sample	118 (0.1)		12	17.9		
() Standard errors app	ear in parentheses.					Percentiles of Performance
Country mean signifi	cantly higher than int	ternational mean based on 14 count	ries.			
 No statistically signi- 	ficant difference betw	veen country mean and international	l mean bas	sed on 1 ²	countries.	strin z strin 95th 95th
▼ Country mean signifi	cantly lower than inte	ernational mean based on 14 countr	ies.			Mean and Confidence Interval
Rounding to the nearest international mean.	whole number and di	ifferent sizes of standard errors acco	ount for a	pparent a	ınomalies in so	me designations of countries as above, at, and below the

Country	Mean Scale Score	Testing Date	Tested Grade	Mean Age	Coverage of the Age	Interpretative Skills Scale Score
				I	Cohort (%)	70 90 110 130 150
Chile	▼ 106 (0.6)	9/00	12	17.9	64	
Cyprus	• 111 (1.3)	4/00	12	17.7	67	
Czech Republic	• 114 (0.6)	11/99	12	17.9	78	
Denmark	▲ 124 (0.4)	3/00	12	19.4	55	
Estonia	▲ 119 (0.8)	4/00 - 5/00	12	18.2	49	
Israel	• 112 (0.9)	2/00	11	16.8	83	
Latvia	▼ 100 (1.2)	4/00	10	16.6	89	
Norway	• 116 (1.0)	4/00 - 6/00	12	18.1	66	
Poland	▼ 108 (0.9)	11/00 - 12/00 and 1/01 - 2/01	11	17.6	06	
Portugal	• 112 (0.6)	4/00 - 5/00	11	17.6	76	
Russian Federation	▼ 101 (1.1)	4/00 - 6/00	11	17.0	50	
Slovenia	• 111 (1.2)	11/99	12	18.4	68	
Sweden	▲ 122 (0.7)	3/00 - 5/00	12	18.9	84	
Switzerland (German)	▲ 121 (2.1)	9/00 - 11/00	11	17.9	39	
International Sample	113 (0.3)		12	17.9		
() Standard errors appe	ar in parentheses.		-	-		Percentiles of Performance
 Country mean signific 	cantly higher than int	ernational mean based on 14 count	rries.			E4h DE4h
 No statistically signif 	ficant difference betw	een country mean and international	l mean bas	sed on 1 ²	countries.	
 Country mean signifit 	cantly lower than inte	rnational mean based on 14 countr	'ies.			工 Mean and Confidence Interval (生25E)
Rounding to the nearest international mean.	whole number and di	fferent sizes of standard errors acco	ount for a	oparent a	nomalies in soi	me designations of countries as above, at, and below the
Source: IEA Civic Education	1 Study, Older Population	n of upper secondary students tested in :	2000.			

Figure 3.4c Distributions of Interpretative Skills, Tested Grade, Mean Age, and Coverage of the Age Cohort

In summary, it seems unlikely that the inclusion of the economic literacy items into a total score would have influenced the relative position of countries in any major way. However, conceptually it seemed clearer to have a score for the upper secondary students that was constructed from the same components as the total civic knowledge score for the 14-year-olds. Comparisons of these total scores (reported in Figure 3.4a) with scores on its two constituent sub-scales reported in Figures 3.4b (civic content) and 3.4c (skills in interpreting civic information) produced generally similar findings, with some evidence of country-specific strengths and weaknesses, stable across age groups or grades, respectively. Results for the separate domain of economic literacy (presented in Figure 3.4d), though also quite similar, demonstrate the potential of distinguishing between this domain and civic knowledge.

CIVIC KNOWLEDGE, AGE, AND THE SELECTIVITY OF SAMPLING

As far as the measurement of growth is concerned, it was clear from the beginning of the project that the parallel studies of 14-year-olds and upper secondary students would not constitute a longitudinal investigation but a combination of two cross-sectional surveys. The expectation was that age effects ('cognitive growth'), the potential impact of instruction, and possible cohort effects would be inseparably intertwined ('confounded'), leaving us somewhat unsure as to which part of any observed differences could be attributed to growth and instruction and which part to inter-generational changes. However, given that the dates of birth in the two samples differed by little more than two years on average (though substantially more within countries), we assumed that the cohort effect would be small, and that any such effect would probably largely be associated with errors of sampling.

A much more serious issue concerned the age differences both within and between the two cross-sections investigated. Although the first study had a target population defined according to the modal grade for age 14, the actual national averages for age ranged from 14.1 to 15.1 years, which clearly contributed to the observed differences in mean performance on the test (cf. Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, pp. 55f). This problem is considerably greater with respect to the findings covered in this report. Since no international definition of the upper secondary target population could be agreed upon within the constraints of the different participating countries, each was free to select that grade closest to the end of upper secondary school that interested the national research groups and/or funders. Across the countries participating at this level, national averages for age ranged from 16.6 (Latvia) to 19.4 years (Denmark). As a consequence, observed differences in test performance between countries at the upper secondary level may have been a product of variable age differences between countries, and, by the same argument, the observed difference in civic knowledge between any country's two samples may be attributable to the particular age difference within that country. We attempt to take this into account in our interpretation of the results.

A third problem arose from the fact that the defined target populations in the participating countries covered different portions of the age cohort designated

)						
Country	Mean Scale Score	Testing Date	Tested Grade	Mean Age	Coverage of the Age	Economic Literacy Scale Score
					Cohort (%)	70 90 110 130 150
Chile	▼ 87 (0.5)	00/9	12	17.9	64	
Cyprus	• 102 (1.2)	4/00	12	17.7	67	
Czech Republic	• 103 (0.6)	11/99	12	17.9	78	
Denmark	▲ 115 (0.5)	3/00	12	19.4	55	
Estonia	▲ 108 (0.7)	4/00 - 5/00	12	18.2	49	
Israel	♦ 96 (0.8)	2/00	11	16.8	83	
Latvia	▼ 95 (1.1)	4/00	10	16.6	89	
Norway	• 103 (0.9)	4/00 - 6/00	12	18.1	66	
Poland	▼ 97 (0.7)	11/00 - 12/00 and 1/01 - 2/01	11	17.6	06	
Portugal	♥ 99 (0.5)	4/00 - 5/00	11	17.6	76	
Russian Federation	• 102 (1.3)	4/00 - 6/00	11	17.0	50	
Slovenia	• 101 (1.0)	11/99	12	18.4	68	
Sweden	▲ 109 (0.7)	3/00 - 5/00	12	18.9	84	
Switzerland (German)	• 104 (1.7)	9/00 - 11/00	11	17.9	39	
International Sample*	101 (0.3)		12	17.9		
() Standard errors appe	ar in parentheses.			-		Percentiles of Performance
 Country mean signifit 	cantly higher than inte	ernational mean based on 14 count	cries.			54th 26th 764th 764th 764th
 No statistically signif 	ficant difference betw	een country mean and international	l mean bas	sed on 14	countries.	
 Country mean signifit 	cantly lower than inte	ernational mean based on 14 countr	ies.			Mean and Confidence Interval
* Based on 14 countrie	ss.					
Rounding to the nearest international mean.	whole number and di	fferent sizes of standard errors acco	ount for ap	oparent a	nomalies in sol	ne designations of countries as above, at, and below the
Source: IEA Civic Education	Study, Older Population	1 of upper secondary students tested in 2	2000.			

Eigure 3.4d Distributions of Economic Literacy Tested Grade. Mean Age, and Coverage of the Age Cohort

for study (see Chapter 2 for a description of the nationally defined target populations). As 'dropping out' of the school system typically occurs at or soon after the end of lower secondary school, and as it is often quite closely related to school achievement, some of the observed differences in test performance between countries also may have been a consequence of such selectivity effects. This, too, will have to be borne in mind when interpreting the findings.

In summary, the scores of civic knowledge as defined in the studies of the 14year-old and the upper secondary students can be directly compared because of the scaling method applied. However, the same cannot be said for the comparisons between the national samples in the study of upper secondary students, primarily because of differences in age and selectivity (coverage).

Given the theoretical importance of the issue, it seemed nevertheless worth the effort at least to estimate changes concomitant with age. Since the international mean achievement score (combined content knowledge and skills) is known for the 13 countries¹ that contributed weighted data to both studies (99 scale points), and since the same applies for the upper secondary students (119 scale points), a tentative conclusion is in order. Bearing in mind the unknown effects of a reduced coverage in some countries, the civic knowledge scores at an international mean age of 17.9 years were, on average, 20 scale points or almost one standard deviation higher than those in the corresponding, albeit more comprehensively defined, sample of 14-year-olds (international mean age 14.7 years). From these figures, it was possible to derive an average annual increment of 6.3 scale points or .31 standard deviations of the international population of 14-year-olds per year of age. This value is not unlike findings for other cognitive domains in the age range under investigation. Using the international means for age and civic knowledge achievement for the 14-year-olds as well as for the upper secondary students, Figure 3.5 illustrates the general relationship between age and civic knowledge achievement in the two parallel studies. The slope of the dashed connecting line indicates the average annual increment just discussed.

It is almost certain, however, that the figure just given overestimates growth in civic knowledge, because the effects associated with selectivity in the chosen populations were not taken into account. Thus, a country that tested only about 50 percent of the age cohort probably gained an advantage over another country, such as Norway, where 99 percent of the age cohort was in school and available for testing. We therefore attempted to adjust for the presence of selectivity by holding it constant statistically and then considering the 'net increment' attributable to age.²

Figure 3.6 presents scores for the combined knowledge/skills scale adjusted for coverage (vertical axis) and relates them to age (horizontal axis). The data from which this graph was produced are simple country aggregates. The slope

¹ Israel, which did not test 14-year-olds, is excluded from this comparison, as are Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR), for which the upper secondary data are unweighted.

² The adjustment was computed by regressing, on a between-country basis, mean civic knowledge on the coverage index and adding the residual to the national score. Thus, in countries with achievement levels higher than expected, given their coverage of the age cohort, the total scores were adjusted upwards while downward adjustments occurred in countries where the mean scores were lower than expected on the basis of their coverage index. It should be noted that this adjustment is applied only in the context of discussing Figure 3.5.





of the regression line (7.3 scale points per year of age) can now be interpreted as an adjusted estimate of average annual change computed across countries. Its value is not significantly lower (in fact, it is slightly higher) than the estimate already given by comparing the international means for 14-year-olds, as opposed to the upper secondary students (6.3 scale points per year). The implications are twofold. First, the attempt to capture the effects that differential selectivity had on country outcomes was, at best, partially successful. Incidentally, this was also true for an alternative approach, in which the variable 'home literacy resources'—a proxy for the social selectivity of the defined upper secondary populations—was used as a basis for adjustments. Second, and this is the least that can be said, a strong age-related effect is present in the data, warranting caution when interpreting between-country differences. Countries whose adjusted mean achievement is close to the regression line have scores that were very much to be expected, given the age and coverage of the sample they tested. Countries clearly above the regression line yielded somewhat better results than expected, especially when selection effects can be ruled out, as in the case of Norway. In countries clearly below the regression line, factors other than age of the sample chosen for testing were probably responsible for the comparatively low average civic achievement. Obviously, more elaborate analyses and additional investigations are needed at this point. A longitudinal study using the items from the two studies would be a more suitable way to estimate growth in civic knowledge among adolescents.

As an approximation to what might be an extremely useful extension of the current project, Figures 3.7a and 3.7b display the national 'age gradients' for





the 14 countries that had weighted data in the study of upper secondary students. For each country (except Israel), the position of the younger and the older sample in terms of age and achievement is shown. The slope of the connecting dashed line gives some idea as to the difference between the two samples as a function of age. Bearing in mind *all* the *caveats* with respect to the measurement of growth, we need to be hesitant in seeing these slopes as unambiguous indicators of the growth of civic knowledge. The presence of selection effects almost certainly contributed to the apparent exceptional change in the case of Estonia, for instance (note its low coverage index for the upper secondary population). In other cases, for example, Cyprus and Poland, it is far from clear as to why the high achievement level of the 14-year-olds did not extend to the upper secondary students. In any event, it would seem highly desirable to investigate this finding by a series of supplementary (national) surveys.

All of this demonstrates that all too straightforward international comparisons of civic knowledge can be highly misleading if age and selectivity are not properly taken into account. For example, we cannot expect the average 16year-old to have as much knowledge or sophistication about political and civic matters as the average 19-year-old. Further, a country where nearly all young people are still in school during the last upper secondary grade is likely to be different from a country where substantial proportions of this age group are not available for testing because they have left school for full-time work or training programs. Even so, the information provided by the present study, if interpreted in context, may render some important insights.



Figure 3.7a National Means for Age and Civic Knowledge, by Population Tested



* Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

** Coverage index is in parentheses.



Figure 3.7b National Means for Age and Civic Knowledge, by Population Tested (14-year-olds and Upper Secondary Students), Unadjusted for Coverage of the Age Cohort

GENDER DIFFERENCES IN CIVIC KNOWLEDGE

The study of 14-year-olds found only minor gender differences in civic knowledge. In fact, there appeared to be a slight tendency toward higher achievement among girls, at least as long as mitigating variables such as expected years of further education were not controlled for. Among the upper secondary students, this situation changed. There was a tendency for male upper secondary students to achieve higher scores on the test, best seen when we discuss separately the two sub-scales of content knowledge and interpretative skills as well as the domain of economic literacy.

Within the domain of civic knowledge, the distinction of sub-dimensions in the test renders some potential for differentiation. As Figure 3.8a demonstrates, male superiority in terms of content knowledge was in the order of two scale points internationally and remarkably uniform across countries, although the differences were generally small and did not exceed 2.6 scale points (Denmark). A somewhat different tendency can be observed in Figure 3.8b with respect to interpretative skills.

On the skills sub-scale, the gender difference in favor of males was 2.3 scale points. Two of the 14 countries for which significance tests could be performed had significantly higher scores for males than for females (6.1 scale points in Denmark and 4.4 scale points in Portugal), but there were also four countries (Cyprus, Israel, Latvia, and Sweden) where the females outperformed males, albeit insignificantly. The latter is interesting, because the international mean for the 14-year-old girls' interpretative skills was approximately two scale points higher than that for the 14-year-old boys. This finding can be viewed in conjunction with findings from other studies, according to which reading literacy is generally higher among female adolescents than it is among males (see, for instance, OECD, 2001, p. 123). From this perspective, civicrelated interpretative skills appear as a competency related to reading comprehension, but mediated by content knowledge. Higher content knowledge among the older male students might account, at least in part, for the reversal of the gender effect in the skills domain at this level. However, in the majority of participating countries, the skills-related gender effect was stronger than the content-related effect.

The most substantial and consistent gender differences in the test scores related to economic literacy (Figure 3.8c). In about half the countries, economic literacy represented a competency that was more highly developed among the males than among the females, and the respective effect sizes were also the largest of all three dimensions. We could, perhaps, point to an analogy in studies of mathematics achievement, particularly those where formal reasoning in open-problem contexts is emphasized, as is the case in several of the economic literacy items used in the present study. Unfortunately, the limited number of items in this component of the test did not allow us to distinguish between aspects of content familiarity and reasoning in this domain. In any event, we might add that these differential results— independent of the theoretical stance taken on the issue of civic education and economic literacy—suggest areas for work towards achieving gender equity in civic knowledge.

HOME LITERACY RESOURCES AND CIVIC KNOWLEDGE

As in the study of 14-year-olds, efforts have been made in the present study to assess the influence of out-of-school factors on the emergence of civic knowledge. In this chapter, only the standard predictor 'home literacy resources' is considered. Chapter 8 presents a more complete analysis of this as well as of related effects. Table 3.1 presents a breakdown of the test results (total civic knowledge scores) by a variable representing the number of books in the home.

As can be seen from the table, civic knowledge as measured by the test (civic knowledge and interpretative skills combined) generally rose with the availability of books in the home, that is, home literacy resources. While this finding, as such, is no surprise—it has been a very stable result in a number of

Country	Mean Scale Score Females	Mean Scale Score Males	Difference Absolute Value	Gender Difference	
				+10 0 +	-10
Denmark	121.0 (0.2)	123.6 (0.2)	2.7 (0.3)		
Portugal	118.8 (0.4)	121.5 (0.3)	2.6 (0.5)		
Norway	117.0 (0.5)	119.2 (0.6)	2.2 (0.8)	Males Fe	males
Poland	117.7 (0.5)	119.6 (0.5)	1.9 (0.7)	Higher H	igher
Chile	111.2 (0.3)	113.0 (0.3)	1.8 (0.4)		
Switzerland (German)	116.8 (0.4)	118.3 (1.1)	1.5 (1.1)		
Russian Federation	116.1 (0.5)	117.6 (0.7)	1.5 (0.9)		
Czech Republic	118.1 (0.4)	119.4 (0.4)	1.4 (0.5)		
Estonia	118.8 (0.3)	120.0 (0.4)	1.2 (0.5)		
Israel	116.6 (0.4)	117.5 (0.5)	0.9 (0.6)		
Slovenia	115.4 (0.7)	115.9 (0.7)	0.5 (1.0)		
Cyprus	117.8 (0.6)	117.6 (0.7)	0.1 (0.9)		
Latvia	112.5 (0.7)	112.3 (0.8)	0.1 (1.1)		
Sweden	121.2 (0.3)	121.0 (0.5)	0.3 (0.6)		
() Standard errors appe	ar in parentheses				
International Means					
Female Male	Difference		Gender differen	ce statistically significant at 0.05 lev	/el.
117.0 118.7 (Averages of all country r	-1.7 means)		Gender differen	ce not statistically significant.	

Figure 3.8a Gender Differences on Content Knowledge Sub-scale

Country	Mean Scale Score Females	Mean Scale Score Males	Difference Absolute Value	Gender Difference
				+10 0 +10
Denmark	122.0 (0.5)	128.1 (0.7)	6.1 (0.9)	
Portugal	110.6 (0.7)	115.0 (0.6)	4.4 (0.9)	
Switzerland (German)	120.1 (1.8)	123.3 (2.7)	3.2 (3.3)	Males Females
Norway	114.1 (1.1)	117.2 (1.5)	3.1 (1.9)	Higher Higher
Russian Federation	100.3 (1.1)	103.0 (1.4)	2.7 (1.8)	
Chile	105.3 (0.8)	107.3 (0.9)	2.0 (1.2)	
Czech Republic	113.3 (0.9)	115.0 (0.9)	1.7 (1.2)	
Estonia	118.5 (0.9)	120.1 (1.1)	1.6 (1.4)	
Slovenia	110.6 (1.4)	111.5 (1.5)	0.9 (2.0)	
Poland	108.1 (1.1)	108.9 (1.2)	0.8 (1.6)	
Israel	112.1 (0.9)	111.7 (1.2)	0.4 (1.5)	D
Sweden	122.2 (0.7)	121.5 (1.1)	0.7 (1.3)	þ
Latvia	100.6 (1.4)	99.2 (1.5)	1.4 (2.1)	
Cyprus	112.2 (1.3)	110.6 (1.7)	1.6 (2.1)	
() Standard errors appe	ar in parentheses.			
International Means				
Female Male	Difference		Gender differen	ce statistically significant at 0.05 level.
112.3 114.7	-2.4		Gender differen	ce not statistically significant.
(Averages of all country r	neans)			

Figure 3.8b Gender Differences in Interpretative Skills

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Country	Mean Scale	Mean Scale	Difference	Gender Difference
	Score Females	Score Males	Absolute Value	+10 0 +10
Switzerland (German)	100.3 (1.1)	109.5 (3.0)	9.2 (3.2)	
Denmark	111.8 (0.5)	120.0 (1.0)	8.2 (1.1)	
Portugal	96.7 (0.6)	103.1 (0.6)	6.4 (0.9)	
Estonia	105.4 (0.7)	111.8 (0.8)	6.4 (1.1)	
Norway	100.7 (1.0)	106.6 (1.2)	5.9 (1.6)	
Chile	84.4 (0.7)	89.7 (0.7)	5.3 (1.0)	
Czech Republic	100.6 (0.8)	105.9 (0.8)	5.3 (1.2)	
Russian Federation	99.5 (1.3)	104.7 (1.4)	5.2 (1.9)	Males Females
Slovenia	98.5 (1.1)	103.1 (1.2)	4.6 (1.7)	Score Score
Sweden	107.6 (0.7)	111.7 (1.0)	4.1 (1.2)	nigher nigher
Israel	94.4 (0.8)	98.1 (1.0)	3.6 (1.3)	
Poland	95.1 (0.9)	98.0 (1.0)	2.9 (1.3)	
Latvia	93.9 (1.2)	95.7 (1.6)	1.8 (1.9)	
Cyprus	102.0 (1.3)	101.8 (1.6)	0.2 (2.0)	
() Standard errors appe	ar in parentheses	•		
International Means				
Female Male	Difference		Gender differen	nce statistically significant at 0.05 level.
100.0 105.8	-5.8		Gender differen	nce not statistically significant.
(Averages of all country r	means)		_	

Figure 3.8c Gender Differences in Economic Literacy

other international achievement studies (cf. also the more comprehensive approach chosen in PISA 2000 (OECD, 2001, pp. 143f))—the degree to which it parallels the findings from the Civic Education Study of 14-year-olds is remarkable. A comparison by country of the amounts of achievement variance associated with this variable (column labeled 'Eta Squared' in Table 3.1 and the corresponding table in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 66) shows identical or nearly identical values. The robustness of these findings becomes even more significant when we consider countries with almost equal distributions of home literacy resources (such as Denmark and Sweden, for instance) and the corresponding values for Eta Squared, which are consistently different. We can only conclude that the role of cultural resources is very persistent and that the importance of these resources is highly dependent on the national context, including the system of education.

SUMMARY OF CIVIC KNOWLEDGE AND ECONOMIC LITERACY

The analysis of the upper secondary students' responses to the IEA test of content knowledge, interpretative skills, and economic literacy shows that it is meaningful to combine two of the elements, namely content knowledge and skills in interpreting civic-related information, into a single scale ('civic knowledge'), and that it is preferable for most purposes to consider economic literacy as a separate, albeit civic-related, dimension. Due to anchoring techniques, the upper secondary students' civic knowledge scores are directly

Table 3.1 Civic Knowled	ge and Studen	ts' Reports on	Home Litera	icy Resources							
Country	None or (0-10	Very Few books)	About 0 (11-50	ne Shelf books)	About One (51-100	Bookcase books)	About Two (101-20	Bookcases 0 books)	Three or Mo (More thar	re Bookcases 1 200 books)	
	Percent of Students	Mean Scale Score	Percent of Students	Mean Scale Score	Percent of Students	Mean Scale Score	Percent of Students	Mean Scale Score	Percent of Students	Mean Scale Score	Eta Squared
Chile	23 (1.3)	98 (0.7)	34 (0.8)	106 (0.7)	23 (0.8)	111 (0.8)	11 (0.5)	114 (0.8)	10 (0.5)	119 (0.8)	0.13
Cyprus Czech Republic	* 8 (0.9)	108 (2.0)	26 (1.5) 12 (0.8)	(1.7) (1.4) (1.2) (1.2)	29 (1.5) 27 (0.9)	119 (1.8) 118 (0.9)	18 (1.2) 28 (0.9)	121 (1.6) 123 (0.8)	19 (1.9) 33 (1.2)	123 (2.0) 127 (0.9)	20.0 20.0
Denmark Estonia	7 (0.4)	123 (1.3)	16 (0.9)	126 (0.9)	17 (0.8) 12 (0.6)	130 (0.8) 119 (1.1)	20 (0.9) 22 (0.9)	132 (0.9) 122 (1.0)	40 (1.3) 62 (1.2)	138 (0.7) 127 (1.0)	0.07 0.03
Israel	8 (0.7)	103 (1.6)	19 (0.9)	112 (1.2)	22 (0.7)	117 (1.0)	20 (0.7)	122 (1.0)	32 (1.3)	123 (1.2)	0.08
Latvia	*		(1.1) 11	98 (2.0)	24 (1.7)	102 (1.8)	23 (1.4)	105 (1.5)	41 (1.7)	109 (1.7)	0.05
Norway	6 (0.7)	106 (2.4)	17 (1.0)	114(1.7)	21 (1.1)	115 (1.6)	25 (1.1)	121 (1.2)	32 (1.7)	128 (1.5)	0.09
Poland	5 (0.5)	103 (1.6)	20 (0.9)	111 (1.2)	26 (0.8)	115 (1.1)	20 (0.8)	121 (1.1)	28 (1.3)	125 (1.5)	0.08
Portugal	11 (1.2)	113 (0.9)	32 (1.2)	118 (0.8)	24 (0.9)	121 (1.1)	13 (0.9)	124 (1.1)	19 (1.3)	128 (0.9)	0.07
Russian Federation	*		13 (1.3)	103 (2.4)	27 (1.5)	109 (1.5)	27 (1.6)	112 (1.5)	29 (1.6)	114 (1.4)	0.04
Slovenia	4 (0.6)	102 (2.7)	24 (1.3)	111 (1.7)	30 (0.9)	115 (1.3)	20 (0.9)	119 (1.6)	22 (1.3)	121 (2.4)	0.04
Sweden	5 (0.9)	105 (4.4)	12 (0.9)	122 (1.9)	16 (1.1)	126 (1.6)	22 (1.4)	130 (1.4)	45 (1.8)	137 (1.2)	0.11
Switzerland (German)	4 (1.1)	109 (4.1)	17 (2.1)	117 (2.2)	25 (2.1)	121 (1.3)	20 (1.8)	127 (2.6)	34 (2.8)	128 (3.1)	0.07
International Sample	6 (0.2)	106 (1.0)	18 (0.3)	113 (0.4)	23 (0.3)	117 (0.3)	21 (0.3)	121 (0.4)	32 (0.4)	125 (0.4)	0.09
The standard errors were e * Number of students is lc	stimated using a wer than 35. St	a jack-knife proc udents' percenta	edure for com ge lower than	olex sampling. 4%.							

Resou
Literacy
Home
on
Reports
lts'
Studen
and
Knowledge
Civic
Table 3.1
comparable to the scores for the 14-year-olds as obtained in the parallel study (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). The same is true if the sub-scale scores for content and interpretative skills only are compared *to the respective sub-scales* obtained from the parallel study.

As was to be expected, civic knowledge was more highly developed among the older group of students than the younger. Most of the upper secondary students had mastered the principles of democratic government, although, in many cases, uncertainties persisted when more demanding inferences were required. The latter is especially true in the domain of economic literacy, even though the economic literacy scores cannot be compared directly to the civic knowledge scores.

The apparent increase of civic achievement, as indicated by the score differences between the younger and older students, was not uniform across countries. Even after taking the variation into account that is attributable to age and coverage in the defined target populations, the acquisition of civic knowledge appears to be enhanced more effectively in some countries than in others during the years of later adolescence. At this stage of the analysis, no systematic pattern has yet been identified that would explain these differences.

In contrast to the study of 14-year-olds, the present investigation has produced evidence that, at the upper secondary stage, males have attained higher levels of civic knowledge and of economic literacy in particular than have females. This finding is in line with other research. At the same time, it suggests areas of civic education in which equity has not yet been obtained.

The influence of factors not directly related to schools was demonstrated by investigating the relationship between home background factors and civic achievement. This influence was also present in the study of 14-year-olds, and similarly in many studies related to other domains of school learning. The presence of non-school-related influences does not mean, however, that schools have no effect on the emergence of civic knowledge and economic literacy, as will be demonstrated later in this volume.



Students' Concepts of Democracy, Citizenship, and Government

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO CIVIC CONCEPTS

- The upper secondary students across countries recognized the importance of some of the basic attributes of democracy that are highlighted by political theorists. For example, they believed that free elections and freedom of expression strengthen democracy, and that democracy is weakened when politicians influence the courts and when wealthy people have undue influence on government. These responses of factors that are good and bad for democracy were quite similar to the responses from the 14-year-olds.
- While the responses of the upper secondary students and the 14-year-olds on the individual items were similar, the older group of students seemed to hold more differentiated views of democracy than did the younger students.
 Confirmatory factor analysis suggests that the older students possessed a more complex understanding of the various components of democracy than did the younger students.
- The upper secondary students also seemed to have developed concepts of what makes a good adult citizen in a democratic society (as had the 14-yearolds). In fact, there was a high degree of consensus among the students that three activities are important for a good adult citizen to engage in—obeying the law, voting, and following political issues and there was moderate agreement on the importance of most of the other citizenship items on the survey.
- Upper secondary school students seem to expect more from their governments than do 14-year-old students. In every country that tested both the younger and older populations, the older students scored higher on the society-related concept scale than did the younger students, and in over half of the countries the older students scored higher on the economyrelated concept scale.

In addition to assessing the civic knowledge and skills of adolescents, examining students' concepts of democracy, citizenship, and government was an important aspect of Phase 2 of the IEA Civic Education Study. The decision to include these concept items was made for several reasons.¹ First, during Phase 1 of the study, the national researchers in all participating countries identified the students' understanding of civic-related concepts as an important educational expectation in their societies (Torney-Purta, Schwille, & Amadeo, 1999). Phase 2 therefore measured the attributes that students think both strengthen and weaken democracy, the attributes they perceive to be essential to good citizenship, and the responsibilities they believe government should have. These questions on the student survey examined the students' opinions on democracy, adult citizenship, and the role of government.

Second, theoretical models in all three areas provided a basis for development of survey items, while previous research provided a context within which to view the IEA data. For example, political theorists have written extensively on

¹ For a review of the literature in the discussion of the three concept areas immediately following, see Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, & Schulz, 2001, p. 72 (concepts of democracy), p. 78 (concepts of good citizenship), and pp. 85–86 (concepts of government).

concepts of democracy, distinguishing different models, and researchers have examined the concepts of both adults and adolescents in this area. Much of the research has found, in general, that adolescents and even some adults often give simplistic or poorly formed responses to questions relating to the meaning of democracy. In regard to *concepts of citizenship*, many theorists and researchers have focused on adults. Theorists have formulated models of adult citizenship ranging from views of citizenship that include the responsibility to be an informed voter to a view of citizenship that places a low priority on trying to influence political leaders. Research in the area of *concepts of government* has explored individuals' views of what issues and areas the government should be responsible for, such as the social and/or economic well-being of citizens. In general, researchers have found considerable variation across countries in both adults' and adolescents' attitudes toward the role of government.

The third reason that concept items were included in the IEA Civic Education Study was touched on above, namely, that much of the previous research in these areas has involved only adults, or provided conflicting results. It was considered, therefore, that the IEA data could fill a gap by examining the concepts held by adolescents in both the lower and the upper secondary school.

Finally, the 1971 IEA Study of Civic Education (described in Chapter 1 of this volume) touched on the concepts of democracy, citizenship, and government and thus provided a basis on which to build. In the 1971 study, students endorsed survey items which indicated that they thought democracy gave people a chance to write or say what they think and that democracy helped people make important decisions about their lives (Torney, Oppenheim, & Farnen, 1975).

In the 1999 IEA Civic Education Study of 14-year-olds, it was evident that, across countries, 14-year-old students recognized the importance of some basic attributes of democracy (as highlighted by political theorists), such as freedom to express opinions openly. It also was apparent that they believed obeying the law and voting in elections to be important attributes of good adult citizenship. In addition, the 14-year-olds possessed concepts of social and economic governmental responsibilities that largely corresponded to those of adults in their countries. They were more likely to believe that the government should take responsibilities like providing education or preserving order than take responsibility for activities associated with the economy, such as reducing income inequalities or controlling prices (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001).

In this chapter, we examine the responses in these three concept areas of the upper secondary students. These older students are of particular interest because most would have reached a conceptual level allowing for a fairly sophisticated level of questions. Some of the questions administered to the 14year-olds received relatively high levels of 'don't know' responses.

RESULTS

1. Concepts of Democracy

One theme that emerged from the Phase 1 case studies was that civic-related knowledge is 'considered necessary, but not sufficient, for learning and for becoming a competent democratic citizen' (Schwille & Amadeo, 2002). Many of the national researchers argued that the schools' emphasis on textbooks and formal curricula in civic-related courses gives students a positive view of democratic institutions and processes. Yet, many questions remained open. For example, do young people understand the ways in which democracy may be threatened as well as strengthened? How much consensus is there across countries among secondary school students about what is good or bad for democracy? And to what extent do young people's views correspond to those of political theorists and researchers?

To address these and other questions relating to the students' concepts of democracy, the researchers included 25 items on the student survey. The items were written to show whether the students thought that a given condition or situation is 'good' or 'bad' for democracy. For example, there were items concerning strengths of democracy, such as free elections and a strong civil society in the form of organizations, as well as items concerning threats to democracy, such as political corruption and limitations on free speech critical of government. Several of the items dealt with the role the mass media play in democracy. The response options allowed the students to identify each condition as: (1) very bad for democracy, (2) somewhat bad for democracy, (3) somewhat good for democracy, or (4) very good for democracy. Panel 4.1 lists the 25 concept of democracy items.

Results from the upper secondary students

Generally speaking, there was a fair amount of consensus across countries on characteristics that were both good for and detrimental to democracy. As seen in Table 4.1, about 90 percent of the students in the participating countries indicated that they thought that it was 'somewhat good' or 'very good' for democracy when 'everyone has the right to express their opinions freely', 'citizens have the right to elect political leaders freely', and 'many different organizations exist for people who wish to belong to them'. In addition, about 80 percent of the upper secondary students responded that it was 'somewhat good' or 'very good' when 'a minimum income is assured for everyone', 'people peacefully protest against a law they believe to be unjust', 'people demand their social and political rights', and 'political parties have rules to support women to become political leaders'. Thus, the majority of students in this sample agreed that these seven factors strengthen democracy. What, then, did these students view as threats to democracy?

Across countries, 80 percent or more of the students saw five items as 'very bad' or 'somewhat bad' for democracy when 'wealthy business people have more influence on the government than others', 'one company owns all the newspapers', 'political leaders give government jobs to family members', 'courts and judges are influenced by political leaders', and 'people critical of the government are forbidden from speaking'. About 70 percent of the students thought it 'very bad' or 'somewhat bad' for democracy when

PANEL 4.1 Concept of Democracy Items

IS IT GOOD OR BAD FOR DEMOCRACY ...? (1 = very bad, 2 = somewhat bad, 3 = somewhat good, 4 = very good)

- ... When citizens have the right to elect political leaders freely?
- ... When many different organizations exist for people who wish to belong to them?
- ... When political parties have rules that support women to become political leaders?
- ... When people who are critical of the government are forbidden from speaking at public meetings?
- ... When one company owns all the newspapers?
- ... When courts and judges are influenced by politicians?
- ... When wealthy business people have more influence on the government than others?
- ... When everyone has the right to express their opinions freely?
- ... When a minimum income is assured for everyone?
- ... When people peacefully protest against a law they believe to be unjust?
- ... When laws that women claim are unfair to them are changed?
- ... When newspapers are forbidden to publish stories that might offend ethnic groups?
- ... When private businesses have no restrictions from government?
- ... When all the television stations present the same opinion about politics?
- ... When people refuse to obey a law which violates human rights?
- ... When immigrants are expected to give up the language and customs of their former countries?
- ... When political leaders in power give jobs in the government to members of their families?
- ... When people demand their social and political rights?
- ... When young people have an obligation to participate in activities to benefit the community?
- ... When differences in income and wealth between the rich and the poor are small?
- ... When political parties have different opinions on important issues?
- ... When people participate in political parties in order to influence government?
- ... When newspapers are free of all government control?
- ... When government leaders are trusted without question?
- ... When there is a separation between the church and the state?

'immigrants are expected to give up their language' and 'television stations present the same opinion'.

To summarize, about 80 percent of the upper secondary students across countries agreed that the 14 factors presented in Table 4.1 were either good for or bad for democracy. On the remaining 11 items (refer Panel 4.1), there was less agreement among the students.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

Both the 14-year-old students and the upper secondary students seemed to have a fairly strong grasp of most of the basic tenets of democracy, including those factors likely to strengthen and weaken it. The 14-year-olds, like the upper secondary students, endorsed free elections, different organizations, political parties supporting women, free expression, minimum incomes, and peaceful protests as factors that are good for democracy. There was, however, not as much agreement among the 14-year-old students across countries about whether or not it is good for democracy when people demand their social and political rights. As noted in Table 4.1, a substantial percentage of the older students—close to 80 percent—thought this item was good for democracy.

	Bad for Democracy		Good for Der	nocracy
	Very	Somewhat	Somewhat	Very
Express opinions	1	3	23	71
Elect leaders freely	2	4	18	75
Organizations to join	2	5	39	48
Minimum income assured	4	7	42	40
Peaceful protest	4	8	34	49
Demand rights	5	9	34	46
Parties support women	6	11	40	36
Wealthy have more influence	67	24	4	2
One newspaper company	56	31	6	2
Leaders give jobs to family	55	32	5	2
Courts and judges influenced	64	23	6	3
People forbidden from speaking	56	30	7	3
Immigrants must give up language	35	40	13	6
TV stations present same opinion	43	35	11	5

Table 4.1 Upper Secondary	Students' Concepts of Democracy	(Percentage of
Students across Countries)	

The 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students also largely agreed on the items that they perceived to be threats to democracy. For example, there was a high degree of consensus across countries among the 14-year-olds that people who are critical of the government being forbidden from speaking, one company owning all newspapers, courts and judges influenced by politicians, and wealthy people having more influence are factors that are bad for democracy (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). Large percentages of upper secondary students also perceived these four items to weaken democracy.

Another area of comparison between the two populations related to the contrasting models of democracy (based on political theories) that provided a framework for the development of the concept of democracy items in the student survey. The models included a generic or rule of law model, a liberalism model, a pluralism model, a participation model, a communitarian model, a social welfare model, and an élitism model. A confirmatory factor analysis of the data from the 14-year-olds showed only a single factor, with items relating to a generic or rule of law model of democracy. In contrast, factor analysis of the data from the upper secondary students revealed a threefactor solution for the democracy items, which included, first, the rights and opportunities in democracy, second, limited government, and, third, threats to democracy items. Future analysis of these data will look more closely at these three factors. This finding suggests that the older students may hold more differentiated concepts of democracy than the 14-year-olds, which makes sense from a developmental perspective. With age, it would appear that young people's cognitive growth and life experiences help them to reason more coherently about abstract concepts and to see more perspectives.

2. Concepts of Citizenship

The dimensions of citizenship and ways to create the qualities of a good citizen in young people were central concerns in many of the Phase 1 case studies. Many citizens in democracies understand—and exercise—their rights, but how do they conceptualize their responsibilities? Do adolescents hold notions of citizenship that differ from those of the adults in their societies?

Citizenship can have broad meaning, including individuals' perceptions of rights and responsibilities. In this section, we focus specifically on concepts young people have of what makes a good adult citizen. Students were asked to rate the importance of activities an adult citizen might undertake. The stem of all concept of citizenship items was 'An adult who is a good citizen ...'.

Confirmatory factor analysis revealed two factors—one with items concerned with conventional citizenship activities and the other with items concerned with social-movement-related citizenship activities. These then formed two IRT scales.

In broad terms, conventional citizenship includes activities such as voting, joining a political party, and engaging in political discussion. Some theorists have described these kinds of activities as minimal aspects of citizenship. Social-movement-related citizenship (as conceptualized for this study) refers to legal actions a citizen may take, such as participating in a peaceful protest or taking part in activities to protect the environment or promote human rights. Political theorists sometimes consider these activities as those that might be added on to minimal aspects of citizenship (that is, as more maximal aspects).

Results from the upper secondary students

Students rated, on a four-point scale ranging from 'not important' to 'very important', the extent to which an adult who is a good citizen 'votes', 'joins a political party', 'knows the country's history', 'follows political issues', 'shows respect for government representatives', and 'engages in political discussions'. These six items formed the Importance of Conventional Citizenship Scale.

Figure 4.1 shows that conventional citizenship activities were most important to the upper secondary students' concepts of what makes a good adult citizen in these countries: Chile, Cyprus, and Poland. In other words, the means of these countries on the Importance of Conventional Citizenship Scale fell above the international mean. Conversely, students in nine of the 14 countries scored below the international mean on this scale (the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Israel, Norway, Portugal, the Russian Federation, Slovenia, and Sweden). Switzerland (German) and Latvia were the only countries that were neither significantly above nor significantly below the international mean on the conventional citizenship scale. Note that the upper secondary students were scored on the same IRT scales as the 14-year-olds in order to make it possible to compare the means for the younger and older students. The international means, however, were recomputed and are indicated in the figures. These international means are not always 10, as they were for the 14-year-olds in 28 countries as reported in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001.

Students also were asked to rate the extent to which a good adult citizen participates in 'a peaceful protest', 'activities to benefit the community',

'activities promoting human rights', and 'activities that protect the environment'. These four items formed the Importance of Social-movementrelated Citizenship Scale.

As can be seen in Figures 4.1 and 4.2, the social-movement-related citizenship and the conventional citizenship scores revealed a similar but not an identical country pattern. Five countries were significantly above the international mean (Chile, Cyprus, Norway, Portugal, and Switzerland (German)), and eight countries were below the mean (the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Israel, Latvia, the Russian Federation, Slovenia, and Sweden). Only Poland did not deviate from the social-movement-related citizenship international mean.

To summarize, when looking across countries, we can see that the international mean scores on the conventional citizenship and social movement-related activities scales are similar, suggesting that the students generally endorsed both types of activities as important for adult citizenship. On examining individual countries, we find that the upper secondary students in the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Israel, the Russian Federation, Slovenia, and Sweden ranked low relative to the other countries in their support for

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	/	8	3 1	0 1	12
Chile	▲ 11.0 (0.05)	▲ 10.9	(0.03)			•	
Cyprus	▲ 11.5 (0.04)	▲ 11.9	(0.10)	Δ		QH	•
Czech Republic	▼ 9.2 (0.05)	▼ 9.2	(0.04)		•		
Denmark	▼ 9.1 (0.04)	▼ 9.7	(0.04)	Δ			
Estonia	▼ 9.2 (0.03)	▼ 9.4	(0.05)	Δ			
Israel ¹	[n.a.] [n.a.]	▼ 9.8	(0.04)		•		
Latvia	10.0 (0.05)	10.0	(0.07)				
Norway	▼ 9.3 (0.04)	▼ 9.5	(0.04)		()		
Poland	▲ 10.9 (0.04)	▲ 10.7	(0.04)	Δ			
Portugal	▲ 10.1 (0.04)	▼ 9.9	(0.03)	Δ	•	ρ	
Russian Federation	▼ 9.6 (0.05)	▼ 9.7	(0.05)		•		
Slovenia	▼ 9.5 (0.04)	▼ 9.6	(0.05)				
Sweden	▼ 9.4 (0.05)	▼ 9.6	(0.06)	Δ	ΩΦ		
Switzerland (German)	▼ 9.7 (0.06)	10.0	(0.08)	Δ	QI	Υ	
International Mean ²	9.9 (0.01)	10.0	(0.01)		q	•	
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than 				lean 14-year-ol lean upper secc opulation diffei	d students (± ondary school s rence statistica	2 SE). students (± 2 ally significar	SE). nt at .05 level.
Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means.							
1 Israel did not partici	1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.						

Figure 4.1 Importance of Conventional Citizenship

2 International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	10 12		
Chile	▲ 10.5 (0.04)	▲ 10.6 (0.04)				
Cvprus	▲ 11.0 (0.04)	▲ 11.4 (0.10)	Δ	Q+•+		
Czech Republic	▼ 9.7 (0.05)	▼ 9.6 (0.04)				
Denmark	▼ 9.5 (0.04)	▼ 9.3 (0.04)		• P O		
Estonia	▼ 9.2 (0.03)	▼ 8.9 (0.05)		θρ		
Israel ¹	n.a. n.a.	▼ 9.6 (0.04)		•		
Latvia	▼ 9.5 (0.05)	▼ 9.5 (0.07)				
Norway	▲ 10.2 (0.04)	▲ 10.3 (0.06)				
Poland	▲ 10.1 (0.05)	10.0 (0.05)		••••		
Portugal	▲ 10.6 (0.04)	▲ 10.6 (0.05)				
Russian Federation	9.9 (0.05)	▼ 9.6 (0.04)		• P		
Slovenia	▼ 9.6 (0.04)	▼ 9.6 (0.06)		•		
Sweden	9.8 (0.05)	▼ 9.6 (0.06)				
Switzerland (German)	▼ 9.7 (0.05)	▲ 10.3 (0.12)		9 🔸		
International Mean ²	9.9 (0.01)	9.9 (0.02)		•		
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. 						
 Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. 						
 Israel did not particip International mean (on 14 countries. 	pate in the 14-year-old s 14-year-olds) is based o	study. n 13 countries. Intern	ational mean (upper se	condary students) is based		

Figure 4.2 Importance of Social-Movement-related Citizenship

conventional or social-movement-related citizenship activities for adults while students in Chile and Cyprus more strongly endorsed both types of citizenship activities.

Another way to examine these data is to look at the international distribution of item frequencies. Therefore, in addition to reporting the mean scores on the two citizenship scales, we also examined the frequency percentages of individual items.

Examination of item response frequencies across countries indicated a fair amount of variation among several of the conventional citizenship items. Stated another way, while some conventional activities were endorsed by significant majorities of students, other so-called conventional activities were considered to be far less important. For example, 86 percent of the upper secondary students in the participating countries agreed that it is somewhat or very important for an adult citizen to vote; while only about 20 percent of the students thought it somewhat or very important for citizens to join political parties. And, while 80 percent of the students thought it was important for adult citizens to follow political issues in the media, approximately 40 percent rated engaging in political discussion as an important element of citizenship. Activities found on the social-movement-related scale were more consistently endorsed by students, however. The item attracting the highest endorsement across countries (85 percent of the students) was that a good adult citizen would participate in activities to benefit people in the community, whereas the item attracting the lowest, but still substantial, endorsement (about 75 percent of the students) was that a good adult citizen would participate in peaceful protest against a law believed to be unjust. The international percentage distributions of item responses for the sample are given in Appendix Figures B.2a (item-by-score map for importance of conventional citizenship) and B.2b (item-by-score map for importance of social-movement-related citizenship).

As noted above, several items that assessed students' concepts of good adult citizenship did not factor onto either of the two concept of citizenship scales. Those items were a good adult citizen 'obeys the law', 'works hard', 'is willing to serve in the military', and 'is patriotic and loyal to the country'.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

In half the countries where comparisons could be made, there were significant differences between the 14-year-old students and the upper secondary students on the Importance of Conventional Citizenship Scale. The older students in Cyprus, Denmark, Estonia, Sweden, and Switzerland (German) had higher mean scores on this scale than did the 14-year-olds in those countries. In two countries, however, that pattern was reversed. In Poland and Portugal the 14-year-olds reported higher scores on this scale than did the upper secondary students.

Similarly, differences between the two age groups (by country) were found on the Importance of Social-movement-related Citizenship Scale. In Cyprus and Switzerland (German), the upper secondary students were more likely than the 14-year-old students in those countries to endorse social-movement-related citizenship, but in four countries—Denmark, Estonia, the Russian Federation, and Sweden—the 14-year-olds scored significantly higher than the upper secondary students on the social-movement-related citizenship scale. However, a look at Figures 4.1 and 4.2 shows that the international means for the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students on both citizenship scales were the same, or almost the same.

Another way to analyze the data from the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students is to look at the individual countries and their rankings around the international mean. Such an examination showed the country trends around the international mean to be similar across the two populations of students. In only four countries—Chile, Cyprus, Poland, and Portugal were the 14-year-olds above the international mean on both the conventional and social-movement-related citizenship scales. The upper secondary students in Chile and Cyprus also strongly endorsed both concepts of citizenship.

In the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, and Slovenia, 14-year-old students responded that both types of citizenship activities were relatively unimportant. The scores of the older students in all of these countries as well as in the Russian Federation and Sweden also fell below the international mean on both citizenship scales. The Israeli students' scores were below the international mean on both concept of citizenship scales. Israel did not test 14-year-old students, and so no comparison by age population could be made.

Analysis by gender

The upper secondary female students in only one country—Chile—were significantly more likely than the male students to endorse conventional citizenship activities. In no countries were males more likely than females to endorse conventional citizenship activities. This pattern is somewhat similar to that for the 14-year-old students in that significant gender differences on the conventional citizenship scale were found in only three countries. Interestingly, however, gender differences at age 14 were not found in Chile, and in the three countries where they were found, males scored higher than females.

In comparison, upper secondary females in half of the countries were significantly more likely than males to endorse social-movement-related citizenship (Chile, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Norway, Portugal, Slovenia, and Sweden); see Figure 4.3. As was the case with conventional citizenship, there were no countries where male students were more likely than female students to endorse social-movement-related citizenship. Among the 14-yearolds, gender differences in the same direction (females scoring higher than males) were found in nine countries.

Country	Mean F	emales	Mean	Males		8	10 12
Chile	10.7	(0.05)	10.4	(0.05)			A ■
Cyprus	11.6	(0.12)	11.2	(0.13)			⊢∕┤●│
Czech Republic	9.8	(0.05)	9.5	(0.05)			
Denmark	9.4	(0.05)	9.0	(0.05)			
Estonia	8.9	(0.06)	8.9	(0.09)		K)	
Israel	9.7	(0.05)	9.6	(0.06)			
Latvia	9.5	(0.10)	9.6	(0.07)			
Norway	10.6	(0.07)	9.9	(0.06)		K	
Poland	10.0	(0.06)	10.0	(0.07)			
Portugal	10.8	(0.06)	10.5	(0.08)			- K×I€I
Russian Federation	9.6	(0.05)	9.7	(0.06)		•	
Slovenia	9.7	(0.07)	9.4	(0.08)			
Sweden	9.9	(0.07)	9.1	(0.09)			
Switzerland (German)	10.4	(0.16)	10.2	(0.13)			K I
() Standard errors app	ear in paren	theses.					
Gender difference sta at .05 level.	tistically sigr	nificant	-●- = N -◇- = N	Mean for Fer Mean for Ma	nales (± 2 SE). les (± 2 SE).		
L							

Figure 4.3 Gender Differences in Social-movement-related Citizenship

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

3. Concepts of the Responsibilities of Government

What do upper secondary students expect from the governments of their respective countries? Do they view governmental responsibilities as primarily social, economic, or both? How do their views compare to the 14-year-olds in their countries? Or, stated another way, as these older students anticipate taking on their roles as adult citizens, do their expectations of governmental responsibilities change?

To elicit answers to these questions, students were asked to indicate, on a fourpoint scale, the extent to which a set of actions or activities should be the government's responsibility. Once again, a confirmatory factor analysis showed two separable factors: (1) society-related responsibilities, and (2) economic responsibilities. The society-related responsibilities included seven items: 'provide health care', 'provide for old people', 'provide for education', 'ensure political opportunities for women', 'control pollution', 'guarantee order', and 'promote moral behavior'. There were five items on the economic responsibilities scale: 'guarantee a job', 'keep prices under control', 'support industries', 'provide for the unemployed', and 'reduce income differences among people'.

Results from the upper secondary students

As noted in Figures 4.4 and 4.5, four countries were above the older population international mean on the society-related government responsibilities scale (Chile, Cyprus, Poland, and Portugal), and six countries were above the older population's international mean on the economy-related government responsibilities scale (Chile, Cyprus, Israel, Poland, Portugal, and the Russian Federation). Among the participating countries, the students in Cyprus, Poland, and the Russian Federation were most likely to endorse economy-related views of governmental responsibility while students in Denmark were the least likely. In contrast, students in Chile and Poland were those most likely to endorse society-related responsibilities while students in Denmark and Israel were those least likely to give this endorsement.

Finally, the Israeli students scored above the international mean on the economy-related scale but below the mean on the society-related scale. Israel was the only country to exhibit this pattern.

A look at the individual items shows that over 90 percent of the upper secondary students across countries rated five of the society-related items as responsibilities that the government either probably or definitely should have. Those five items were: 'provide for health care', 'provide for the elderly', 'provide education', 'guarantee equal political opportunities for men and women', and 'guarantee peace and order'. Close to 90 percent of the students agreed that the government should control pollution, while 75 percent endorsed the idea that the government should promote honesty and moral behavior among people in the country. Similarly, large percentages of students (72 to 88 percent) agreed that the government should have responsibilities for activities related to the economy. The economy-related item endorsed by the largest percentage of students (88 percent) was the government's responsibility to provide an adequate standard of living for the unemployed.

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	10 12	
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	 ▲ 10.5 (0.04) 10.1 (0.04) 10.0 (0.04) ♥ 9.1 (0.03) ♥ 9.7 (0.05) n.a. n.a. ♥ 9.5 (0.06) 10.0 (0.04) ▲ 10.8 (0.06) ▲ 10.5 (0.04) ▲ 10.2 (0.06) 9.9 (0.04) ♥ 9.9 (0.03) ♥ 9.4 (0.05) 	 ▲ 11.3 (0.03) ▲ 10.9 (0.09) 10.5 (0.04) ▼ 9.6 (0.03) ▼ 10.2 (0.05) ▼ 9.8 (0.04) ▼ 10.1 (0.09) 10.5 (0.06) ▲ 11.5 (0.04) ▲ 10.7 (0.04) ▲ 10.7 (0.04) ■ 10.5 (0.08) ■ 10.6 (0.06) ▼ 10.1 (0.09) 			
International Mean ² 10.0 (0.01) 10.5 (0.02) () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Image: Horizer and Horizer					

Figure 4.4 Society-related Government Responsibilities

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

Figure 4.4 shows that in every country of the 13 where comparisons could be made, the older students scored higher on the society-related concept scale than did the younger students. Moreover, in more than half of the countries, the upper secondary students were more likely to endorse economy-related responsibilities of government than were the 14-year old students (Figure 4.5). Specifically, in Chile, Cyprus, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Russian Federation, Slovenia, and Switzerland (German), the older students' means on the economy-related scale were significantly higher than the means for the 14-year-olds.

It should be noted that while the upper secondary students scored higher on these government concept scales than did the younger students, the older population in three countries were nevertheless below the international mean on both scales. The older students in Denmark, Estonia, Latvia, and Switzerland (German) scored below the international mean on both economyrelated and society-related government responsibilities concept scales. In other words, while the older students in general were more supportive of the government's social and economic responsibilities than were the younger students, there was also some variation among the countries that tested the older students.

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students		٤	3 10) 12
Chile	10.1 (0.03)	▲ 10.7 ((0.04)		Ç	
Czech Republic	99 (0.04)	▼ 99 ((0.04)		•	
Denmark	▼ 9.4 (0.03)	▼ 9.4 ((0.04)		•	
Estonia	10.1 (0.05)	▼ 9.9 ((0.08)		_	γ
Israel ¹	n.a. n.a.	▲ 10.5 (0	0.05)			•
Latvia	▼ 9.8 (0.06)	▼ 10.1 (0	0.07))
Norway	▼ 9.6 (0.03)	▼ 10.0 (0	0.05)	-Δ		
Poland	▲ 10.4 (0.04)	▲ 10.9 (0	0.04)	-Δ		-A -
Portugal	▲ 10.3 (0.04)	▲ 10.7 (0	0.04)	Δ		A 🖣
Russian Federation	▲ 10.6 (0.05)	▲ 10.9 ((0.08)	Δ		- All
Slovenia	9.9 (0.05)	10.4 ((0.06)	Δ	Q	•
Sweden	▲ 10.4 (0.04)	10.3 ((0.08)			
Switzerland (German)	▼ 9.4 (0.04)	9.9 ((0.15)	Δ	<u>_</u>	
International Mean ²	10.0 (0.01)	10.3 ((0.02)		0	•
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. 						
 Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. 						
 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study. International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries. 						

Figure 4.5 Economy-related Government Responsibilities

Analysis by gender

In only two countries were female students more likely than male students to endorse economy-related government responsibilities—the Czech Republic and Denmark. No countries exhibited significant gender differences on the society-related government responsibility scale.

SUMMARY

Many of the students in this study had reached or were very near the age of first vote in their countries (18 years) at the time they completed the survey. As students in this age bracket take on the rights and responsibilities of adult citizenship, it is interesting to note their concepts of democracy and of what makes a good citizen. Indeed, their opinions proved to be similar to those of the 14-year-olds in their countries, suggesting that a major shift in these attitudes does not occur. One explanation may be that attitudes toward democracy and citizenship by the age of 14 have already been influenced by the cultural, educational, and historical context within which these adolescents live.

Younger and older students do differ, however, in their views of the responsibilities of government, although country trends were similar. In many of the participating countries, the older students were more likely than the younger students to think that both economic-related and society-related activities were among the government's responsibilities. This could be because upper secondary students are close to the age when they can directly benefit from these government activities. Another explanation may be that these students are more likely to be able to take a societal perspective and understand the benefits to society as a whole of education and high standards of health and economic well-being.



Students' Attitudes Toward the Nation, the Government, Immigrants, and Women's Political Rights

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO CIVIC ATTITUDES

- Examination of students' attitudes across countries revealed that the upper secondary school students held generally positive attitudes toward government-related institutions and their nations. However, the upper secondary students indicated less trust in government-related institutions than did the 14-year-old students. The older students also were less likely than the 14-year-olds to agree with positive statements about their country.
- Like the 14-year-olds, the upper secondary students expressed a great deal of trust in the police, the courts, and in the media, and the least amount of trust in political parties.
- Upper secondary students across countries were generally positive about immigrants' rights, especially in the area of educational opportunities. The majority of students also supported immigrants' rights to vote and retain their language and culture. These findings are consistent with those from the 14-year-olds.
- The majority of upper secondary students endorsed the political and economic rights of women. Females were much more likely than males to be supportive of these rights, and the upper secondary students were more likely than the 14year-olds to endorse women's rights.

Knowledge of the rights and responsibilities of citizenship are important for creating and sustaining democratic institutions, but they are by no means sufficient for that purpose. The legitimacy of democratic governments depends heavily on the extent to which citizens identify with their nation, trust their government, and participate in the democratic process. Examining the attitudes young people have toward their nation and government is an important ingredient in understanding their current and future plans for civic engagement.

Moreover, issues related to social cohesion and diversity are also key elements of citizenship in democratic societies. The transmission of civic-related knowledge may not be enough. If democratic nations thrive on an informed, active citizenry in diverse communities, then civic education also should address attitudes, tolerance, and willingness to participate. The IEA Civic Education Study, therefore, gives attention to students' civic attitudes and beliefs as well as to their civic knowledge and skills.

During Phase 1 of the study, the national researchers wrote extensively in their case studies about students' attitudes toward government-related institutions. Concern was expressed about young people's general apathy toward and, in some countries, outright mistrust in government institutions and political processes. Researchers in some of the participating countries feared that this distrust could lead to an undermining of the legitimacy of democratic processes (Torney-Purta, Schwille, & Amadeo, 1999).

There has been a considerable amount of research, primarily by political scientists, on issues related to citizens' trust in government-related institutions. Much of the previous research done in this area relied on surveys of adults

about their confidence in civic and political institutions. One theme that emerged from a cross-national analysis of trust in government was that adult citizens in countries with fewer than 40 years of continuous democracy tend to have lower levels of trust than citizens in countries with longer histories of democratic rule (Inglehart, 1997). Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, and Schulz (2001, pp. 94–95) provide a review of this and related research. The IEA Civic Education Study of 14-year-olds also found that students from countries with fewer than 40 years of continuous democracy showed lower levels of trust than did students from the other participating countries. In fact, all of the countries whose scores were below the international mean on this scale fell into this category (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, pp. 95–96).

The Phase 1 national researchers also identified the development of national identity as an important expectation that their societies hold for young people. While it is clear that national identity can have multiple meanings and negative as well as positive connotations, it has been identified as an important element of citizenship and the subject of considerable research. For example, political researchers Dalton (1999) and Norris (1999) view national pride as support for the national political community and as a vital element of healthy democracy (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 99, for a review of the research in this area).

From a developmental perspective, examining older adolescents' notions of national identity seems particularly salient. According to developmental psychologist Erik Erikson (1968), identity development is a major task of adolescence and occurs in four domains, including political attitudes and values. Often, a political or national identity develops later in adolescence. As young people grow closer to assuming their adult roles and responsibilities in society, including voting, this aspect of identity may take on more meaning.

In addition to trust and national identity, an important element of citizenship in democratic societies is the development of tolerance and an appreciation for life in a complex and diverse society. Immigration is a significant issue—with social, economic, and political ramifications—in many countries around the world. As borders and other barriers have loosened over the past decade, many nations are experiencing major demographic shifts. Often these changes result in societal tensions, particularly in the areas of language, customs, education, and employment. However, a major strength of democracy is in how it is able to deal with these tensions and foster community bonds. Examination of young people's attitudes of this type, therefore, relates to an area important to the democratic well-being of nations, that is, social cohesion.

During the first phase of the IEA Civic Education Study, nearly all the national researchers recognized problems of discrimination or disenfranchisement among certain groups of people in their societies. These groups ranged from those defined by race or ethnicity to those defined by language or religion or economically deprived groups. In many countries in the study, discrimination against immigrants or foreign-born individuals was identified as a problem in the area of social cohesion. Given the complex and rapidly changing societies in which adolescents live, it seemed important to explore their attitudes toward immigrants in their nations. Indeed, seven percent of the students across

countries were themselves born outside of the country where they now reside (see Table 2.2 in Chapter 2 for sample characteristics).

Many studies investigating attitudes toward immigrants have addressed the notion of immigrants as economic threats to a nation. Not surprisingly, a common finding across these studies is that where economic threat is perceived, support for immigrants' rights is weak. Moreover, negative stereotyping and perceptions of threats from immigrants tend to be related to opposition to immigration by both adults and adolescents. Finally, females and people who were themselves immigrants tend to be more supportive of immigrants' rights than do males and people who were not immigrants. For a review of the literature related to attitudes toward immigrants, see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al. (2001, p. 103).

Although discrimination against immigrants or minority groups was more widely discussed in the Phase 1 national case studies, gender discrimination, especially in the area of political power, also was mentioned by some of the national researchers. Consequently, in addition to ascertaining attitudes toward immigrants, Phase 2 assessed young people's attitudes toward women, especially relating to women's political and economic rights.

Previous research (including both the 1971 Civic Education Study and the 1999 Civic Education Study of 14-year-olds) found generally supportive attitudes toward the political rights of women. However, gender differences were significant. In 1971 and again in 1999, the IEA researchers found that among the student respondents, females were more supportive of women's political rights than were males. This finding is generally consistent with other research in the area (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 108).

To summarize, in this chapter we address young people's attitudes from each of the three major domains of the study—democracy and democratic institutions, national identity, and social cohesion. For the first domain of democracy and democratic institutions, we address the students' trust in government-related institutions, including the media. For the second domain of national identity, we examine the students' attitudes toward and attachment to their nation. Finally, for the third domain of social cohesion and diversity, we examine the students' attitudes toward immigrants' rights as well as the extent to which they support the political and economic rights of women.

RESULTS

1. Trust in Government-related Institutions and the Media

A) GOVERNMENT-RELATED INSTITUTIONS

As noted above, during Phase 1 of the study, the national researchers in both the long-established and the newly emerging democracies observed that young people seemed to lack confidence in government-related institutions. Questions that addressed students' level of trust in institutions therefore were included on the student survey. After a confirmatory factor analysis, six items were combined using IRT scaling methods to create a scale entitled Trust in Government-related Institutions. Specifically, students were asked how much of the time they could trust: (1) the national government, (2) the local government, (3) the courts, (4) the police, (5) political parties, and (6) the national parliament. The response options were 'never', 'only some of the time', 'most of the time', and 'always'. Students also were asked about their trust in the news media—television, radio, and newspapers. These media items were not scaled and are presented here as individual items.

Results from the upper secondary students

On looking at the students' responses to the individual items on the Trust in Government-related Institutions Scale, we found that across countries the upper secondary students expressed the highest levels of trust in the courts and in the police and the least amount of trust in political parties. Specifically, over 60 percent of the students responded that the courts in their countries could be trusted 'most of the time' or 'always', and slightly over 50 percent of the students in the international sample thought the police could be trusted 'most of the time' or 'always'. In contrast, 20 percent of these students expressed the same trust in political parties. Item frequencies can be found in the item-by-score maps in Appendix Figure B.2e.

At the national level, we can see from Figure 5.1 that the older students in six of the 14 countries expressed levels of trust in government-related institutions that were above the international mean of 9.6 for upper secondary students. Those countries with high levels of trust included Cyprus, Denmark, Israel, Norway, Sweden, and Switzerland (German). In a pattern very much like that found among the 14-year-old students, the highest levels of trust in government-related institutions were expressed by students in Denmark, Norway, and Switzerland (German)—countries with long-standing democratic traditions. In contrast, upper secondary students in Chile, the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland, Portugal, the Russian Federation, and Slovenia indicated levels of trust that were below the international mean. As was the case with the 14year-olds, the Slovenian responses showed the lowest level of trust.

Analysis of 14-year olds' and upper secondary students' results

In general, the upper secondary students indicated less trust in governmentrelated institutions than did the younger students. In only one country— Denmark—did the older students score higher on the trust scale than the younger students. In eight of the 13 countries where comparisons could be made, upper secondary students were less trusting than their younger compatriots. This pattern of the older group being less trusting than the younger corresponds with the finding in the 1971 IEA Civic Education Study (Torney-Purta, 1990) and with research in political socialization, which suggests that older adolescents tend more toward voicing critical opinions than do younger adolescents.

However, a look at the individual items on the Trust in Government-related Institutions Scale reveals that both the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students expressed the most trust in the courts and the police and the least amount of trust in political parties. The country trends for levels of trust are largely the same. As can be seen in Figure 5.1, the 14-year-olds in Cyprus, Denmark, Norway, and Switzerland (German) were among those most trusting of government-related institutions, while the 14-year-olds in the Czech

	Percentage of Students Who Trust Always or Most of the Time in					
Country	the national government	news on television	news on the radio	news in the press		
Chile	▼ 40 (0.9)	▼ 58 (0.9)	▼ 56 (0.9)	54 (0.9)		
Cyprus	▲ 53 (2.0)	▼ 48 (1.5)	▼ 51 (1.3)	54 (1.6)		
Czech Republic	▼ 25 (1.0)	▼ 44 (1.1)	▼ 51 (1.0)	▼ 48 (1.0)		
Denmark	▲ 91 (0.6)	▲ 88 (0.7)	▲ 90 (0.6)	▲ 85 (0.9)		
Estonia	▲ 52 (1.6)	▲ 68 (1.5)	▲ 69 (1.4)	54 (1.5)		
Israel	▼ 41 (1.0)	▼ 58 (1.0)	▼ 60 (0.9)	▼ 45 (1.0)		
Latvia	▼ 23 (2.3)	65 (1.7)	61 (2.4)	52 (2.0)		
Norway	▲ 66 (1.2)	▲ 74 (1.1)	▲ 75 (1.1)	▲ 66 (1.3)		
Poland	▼ 23 (0.9)	▲ 66 (1.0)	▲ 67 (1.0)	54 (1.1)		
Portugal	▼ 25 (0.9)	▲ 68 (1.1)	65 (1.1)	▲ 61 (1.4)		
Russian Federation	▼ 32 (1.7)	▼ 51 (2.2)	▼ 49 (2.0)	▼ 37 (1.5)		
Slovenia	▼ 18 (1.4)	▼ 53 (1.2)	▼ 52 (1.2)	▼ 42 (1.5)		
Sweden	▲ 55 (1.5)	▲ 76 (1.2)	▲ 77 (1.3)	▲ 66 (1.6)		
Switzerland (German)	▲ 76 (2.3)	68 (4.2)	68 (3.7)	▲ 68 (3.8)		
International Sample ¹	44 (0.4)	63 (0.4)	64 (0.4)	56 (0.4)		

Table 5.1 Trust in Media and National Government

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

1 International sample is based on 14 countries.

▲ Country mean significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means.

▼ Country mean significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Republic, Estonia, Latvia, Portugal, the Russian Federation, and Slovenia were among those least trusting of these institutions. This pattern is similar to that for the upper secondary students.

Analysis by gender

Significant gender differences in this area were found in only two of the countries that tested the upper secondary students. In Poland and Switzerland (German), female students expressed higher levels of trust in government-related institutions than did the males. In the remaining countries, no significant gender differences were found. Since significant gender differences were found in only two countries, a figure is not included here.

There were few gender differences among the 14-year-old students also. In three countries, 14-year-old females expressed more trust in government-related institutions than did male students. In two countries, the reverse was found.

B) NEWS MEDIA

The news media play an important role in the working of any democracy. Indeed, freedom of the press is essential to a democratic nation, and is considered as one of the pillars of democracy. Students therefore were asked whether they trusted news on television, radio, and in the press, and to give their responses on a four-point scale.

Results from the upper secondary students

As seen in Table 5.1, the majority of upper secondary students indicated high levels of trust in the news media—especially in television and radio. In fact, across countries, a higher percentage of students expressed trust in the media than trust in the national government. Over 60 percent of the students responded that they trusted news on television and on the radio 'always' or 'most of the time'; 56 percent expressed trust in news in the press (newspapers). In contrast, only 44 percent of the international sample indicated that they trusted their national governments.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

The 14-year-old students also generally expressed trust in the news media. Across countries, television was the news medium most trusted by these students, followed by radio news and, finally, news in the press (newspapers). About half of the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students in the international sample indicated that they trusted news in the press.

2. Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation

During Phase 1, the national experts identified the development of national identity as an important element of civic education in their countries. In addition to assessing trust, therefore, the survey instrument administered to the students contained 10 items relating to national attitudes. A confirmatory factor analysis revealed two factors: protecting the country from outside influences, and attitudes toward one's nation. Four items were retained to create an IRT scale entitled Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation, which is presented in this chapter. The other six national attitude items have been left for later analysis, as they have been for the 14-year-olds, and will provide an interesting possibility for additional research in the area of national attitudes.

The Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation Scale asked students to agree or disagree (on a four-point scale) with questions about the extent to which: (1) their country's flag was important to them; (2) they had great love for their country; (3) their country should be proud of what it has achieved; and (4) they would prefer to live in another country.

Results from the upper secondary students

In general, the upper secondary students held positive feelings about their countries. Examination of the international frequencies revealed that about 80 percent of the students across countries 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' with positive statements about the importance of their countries' flag, their love for their country, and pride in their country's achievements. Only about 20 percent of the students indicated that they would prefer to live permanently in another country.

Students from five countries had scores on this attitude scale that were significantly above the international mean for the upper secondary students (Figure 5.2). The countries were Chile, Cyprus, Israel, Poland, and Portugal. However, in half the countries, students scored below the mean on this scale. These countries were the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Latvia, Norway, Sweden, and Switzerland (German).

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	10 12	
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal Russian Federation Slovenia Swodon	10.0 (0.05) ▲ 10.5 (0.04) ♥ 9.7 (0.05) ▲ 11.4 (0.04) ♥ 9.7 (0.04) ♥ 9.7 (0.04) n.a. n.a. ♥ 9.5 (0.06) ▲ 10.8 (0.04) 9.9 (0.05) ♥ 9.6 (0.04) ♥ 9.4 (0.06) ♥ 8.6 (0.05) ■ 0.2 (0.06)	 ▼ 9.2 (0.04) ▲ 9.9 (0.08) ▼ 9.3 (0.04) ▲ 11.6 (0.03) 9.5 (0.05) ▲ 9.8 (0.04) ▼ 9.1 (0.12) ▲ 10.3 (0.04) ▼ 9.1 (0.04) ▼ 9.1 (0.03) ▼ 9.1 (0.07) ▼ 8.6 (0.07) ▲ 9.8 (0.05) 			
Switzerland (German)	▲ 10.7 (0.05) 10.0 (0.01)	▲ 9.9 (0.03) ▲ 10.4 (0.07) 9.6 (0.02)	-Δ		
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study. International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based 					

Figure 5.1 Trust in Government-related Institutions

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

The trend found among the upper secondary students was also evident in the 14-year-old data. Thus, large percentages of the 14-year-old students agreed with the three positive statements about their countries, and only a comparatively small percentage of this age group expressed a preference to live elsewhere.

However, it is interesting to note from a look at the individual countries (illustrated in Figure 5.2) that, in nine of them, the 14-years-olds were more likely than the upper secondary students to agree with positive statements about their country (Chile, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, and Switzerland (German)). In no countries were the upper secondary students more likely than the 14-year-olds to express positive national feelings. These results suggest that, in most countries in the study, there is more positive national feeling among the younger students than among the older students. However, it should be noted here that large majorities of both younger and older students expressed positive views of their nation. While the older students may have been less trusting (as noted above)

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	10 12	
Chile Cyprus	▲ 11.1 (0.04)▲ 11.3 (0.03)	▲ 10.7 (0.04)▲ 10.8 (0.08)	Δ	● P ● 9	
Czech Republic	10.2 (0.04)	▼ 9.7 (0.04)		Α Ο	
Denmark	▼ 9.8 (0.04)	▼ 9.6 (0.04)	Δ		
Estorila Israol ¹	▼ 9.5 (0.04)	◆ 9.1 (0.06)			
Latvia	$\nabla 95(0.06)$	\blacksquare 10.3 (0.03) \blacksquare 9.3 (0.09)			
Norway	▼ 9.9 (0.05)	▼ 9.6 (0.06)			
Poland	▲ 11.1 (0.08)	▲ 10.7 (0.05)			
Portugal	▲ 10.7 (0.04)	▲ 10.3 (0.05)			
Russian Federation	▼ 10.0 (0.05)	10.0 (0.06)		<u> </u>	
Slovenia	▼ 9.9 (0.04)	9.8 (0.06)		•	
Sweden	▼ 9.3 (0.08)	▼ 9.2 (0.07)		••••	
Switzerland (German)	▼ 9.3 (0.06)	▼ 8.6 (0.14)			
International Mean ²	10.1 (0.01)	9.8 (0.02)		•0	
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. 					
Country mean for 14-ye international mean base	ear-olds significantly lower tha ed on 13 country means.	In			
Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means.					
1 Israel did not partici	pate in the 14-year-old s	study.			
2 International mean (1 on 14 countries.	L4-year-olds) is based o	n 13 countries. Intern	ational mean (upper	secondary students) is based	

Figure 5.2 Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation

of their government-related institutions and relatively less positive toward their nation than the 14-year-olds, the older students (on average) did not appear to be cynical about their nations. In other words, it would appear that while upper secondary students can take a critical view of their respective governments, they do not become cynical about their nations.

Analysis by gender

In the two countries where gender differences among the upper secondary students were found (the Czech Republic and Slovenia), males were more likely than females to express positive attitudes about their nation.

How does this finding compare to that for the 14-year-olds? The direction of the gender effects, but not the magnitude, is the same as that found for the 14-year-old students. Here, significant gender differences were found in 10 of the 28 countries that tested this age level. In all but one of the countries where there were differences between males and females, the male students reported more positive attitudes than the females.

3. Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants

To assess their attitudes toward immigrants, students were asked to respond to a set of survey items pertaining to immigrant rights and opportunities. Because some countries in the study have large immigrant populations and some have comparatively small immigrant populations to be integrated into the economic sphere, questions dealing with the economic threat were not included, as they were thought to be ambiguous in meaning across countries. A confirmatory factor analysis of the immigrant items revealed a single factor solution with five items. The items included support for opportunities for immigrants to: (1) keep their own language; (2) receive the same education as other children; (3) vote; (4) keep their customs and lifestyle; and (5) generally have the same rights as other members of the country. Because of its unique immigration policy, Israel was not included in the analysis of the scores on the Attitudes Toward Immigrants Scale. The immigration scale in its questionnaire was adapted to the Israeli scene, a situation that made comparison with other countries meaningless.

Results from the upper secondary students

In general, the upper secondary students expressed positive attitudes toward immigrants' rights, especially in the area of education. In fact, over 90 percent of the students in the international sample agreed that immigrants should have the same opportunities for education that other children in the country have. Just over 80 percent of the students also thought that immigrants should have the opportunity to keep their own customs and lifestyles and have the same rights as everyone else in the country. A similar percentage of the students agreed that immigrants should have the opportunity to vote in elections and the opportunity to keep their own language. All item frequencies are reported in the item-by-score maps found in Appendix B.2g.

While these generally are positive findings, it is striking to note the percentages of students that did not support these opportunities for immigrants. Six percent of the students 'disagreed' or 'strongly disagreed' with educational opportunities for immigrants; 20 percent did not support immigrants retaining their language. Similarly, about 20 percent of the students did not endorse immigrants' opportunity to obtain the vote.

While the percentages cited in this section of the chapter reflect the responses of students from all participating countries (excluding Israel), there were national differences on the countries' scale scores. As seen in Figure 5.3, in five countries, students scored significantly above the international mean on the Attitudes Toward Immigrants Scale (Chile, Cyprus, Poland, Portugal, and Sweden). However, the upper secondary students in four countries (the Czech Republic, Latvia, Slovenia, and Switzerland (German)) scored significantly below the international mean on this scale. Finally, it is important to note that while the scores of some countries fell below the international mean on this scale, the responses (on average) of their students nevertheless indicated positive attitudes toward immigrants.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' responses

As was found with the older population of students, the majority of 14-yearolds also expressed generally positive attitudes toward immigrants. Examination of the international item frequencies indicated a pattern identical to that found among the upper secondary students. Thus, the largest percentage of 14-year-old students agreed that immigrants should have the same opportunities for education as other children and the opportunity to keep their own customs and lifestyles, while the smallest percentage agreed that immigrants should have the opportunity to keep their own language.

On looking at the scale scores, we found significant differences between the attitudes of the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students in only four countries. In three of these countries—the Czech Republic, Norway, and Slovenia—the older students expressed a level of support for the rights of immigrants that was lower than that expressed by the younger students (see Figure 5.3). One reason for this finding could be that the older students were closer to entering the job market than were the 14-year-olds, and so their responses reflected a perceived economic threat from immigrants. However, if that were so, then we might have expected to find age differences in more than just three countries. In the fourth country—Denmark—the older students were significantly more likely than the younger students to support immigrant rights. Denmark also was the only country where the older students expressed greater trust in government-related institutions than the younger students. Moreover, the Danish students were the oldest students in the upper secondary sample.

In general, as noted elsewhere in this volume, these comparisons between the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students should be viewed with caution, as the older group may have been a less representative sample of the age group than the younger group due to a relatively small proportion of the age cohort being still in school and available for testing.

Analysis by gender

As reported in Figure 5.4, in almost all of the participating countries, the female students in the upper secondary school sample were more likely than the male students to endorse rights and opportunities for immigrants, supporting the findings of previous research (including those for the survey of 14-year-olds). The only three countries where significant gender differences were not found on this scale were Estonia, the Russian Federation, and Switzerland (German).

The question of why there is such a substantial gender difference in this area remains unanswered. There are, however, several plausible explanations. It could be that in some or all of the countries in the study, females are more likely than males to be socialized to respond in what they perceive to be socially acceptable ways. Or, it might it be that there is a greater expectation for males than for females to enter the job market and that males therefore perceive immigrants as an economic threat. Finally, it may be more likely for females than males to have experienced some form of discrimination themselves. They, therefore, may be more sensitive than males to discrimination directed at others. Future research is needed to explore the hypotheses.

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8 10 12			
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Latvia Norway Poland Portugal Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	 ▲ 10.4 (0.03) ▲ 10.9 (0.03) 10.0 (0.06) ♥ 9.6 (0.05) ♥ 9.7 (0.04) ♥ 9.7 (0.04) ♥ 9.5 (0.05) ▲ 10.3 (0.07) ▲ 10.6 (0.06) ▲ 10.3 (0.03) 9.8 (0.06) ♥ 9.4 (0.05) ▲ 10.7 (0.08) ♥ 9.2 (0.08) 	 ▲ 10.4 (0.03) ▲ 11.0 (0.07) ♥ 9.6 (0.04) 10.0 (0.05) 9.8 (0.08) ♥ 9.5 (0.08) 9.8 (0.09) ▲ 10.5 (0.06) ▲ 10.3 (0.03) 9.9 (0.06) ♥ 9.2 (0.06) ▲ 10.8 (0.08) ♥ 9.3 (0.11) 	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			
International Mean ¹	10.0 (0.02)	10.0 (0.02)				
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. 						
1 International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 13 countries. (Israel did not take part in this scale.)						

Figure 5.3	Positive	Attitudes	Toward	Immigrants
------------	----------	-----------	--------	------------

4. Support for Women's Political Rights

The extent to which young people support the political and economic rights of women is an important component of civic attitudes. In many countries, only small percentages of women are elected to national political office although there is considerable variation among countries in this area (see Table 1.2 in Chapter 1 of this volume). The paucity of visible, elected role models at the national level may be one reason that female students express less interest in politics than their male counterparts. Since democracies function best when all members of society participate, the examination of both males' and females' attitudes toward women in the political realm is important when assessing civic attitudes.

In order to examine their attitudes toward women, the students were asked to respond to six items, including two items dealing with economic matters in the public sphere. More specifically, they were asked to agree or disagree (on a four-point scale) with the following statements: (1) women should run for public office; (2) women should have the same rights as men; (3) women should stay out of politics; (4) when jobs are scarce, men have more right to a job than women; (5) men and women should get equal pay; and (6) men are better qualified to be political leaders than women. A confirmatory analysis showed these items on a single factor, and an IRT scale was created.

Country	Mean Females		Mean Males		8 10 12		
Chile	10.6	(0.04)	10.2	(0.04)			
Cyprus	11.3	(0.06)	10.6	(0.12)			
Czech Republic	9.9	(0.05)	9.4	(0.06)			
Denmark	10.2	(0.06)	9.8	(0.07)			
Estonia	10.0	(0.07)	9.6	(0.11)			
Latvia	9.7	(0.05)	9.3	(0.14)			
Norway	10.2	(0.08)	9.2	(0.14)			
Poland	10.9	(0.06)	10.1	(0.08)			
Portugal	10.4	(0.03)	10.1	(0.06)			
Russian Federation	9.9	(0.07)	9.8	(0.08)	K P		
Slovenia	9.4	(0.07)	8.9	(0.06)			
Sweden	11.5	(0.09)	10.0	(0.11)			
Switzerland (German)	9.3	(0.11)	9.2	(0.18)			
() Standard errors appear in parentheses.							
Gender difference statistically significant at .05 level.			$\vdash \bullet \dashv$ = Mean for Females (± 2 SE). $\vdash \diamond \dashv$ = Mean for Males (± 2 SE).				
(Israel did not take part in this scale.)							

Figure 5.4 Gender Differences in Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants

Results from the upper secondary students

Among the upper secondary students, overall support for women's political rights was strong, with some variation across items and countries. For example, over 90 percent of the students agreed that men and women should receive equal pay, that women should run for public office, and that women should have the same rights as men. Ninety-two percent of the students disagreed with the statement that women should stay out of politics, with close to 60 percent of those students strongly disagreeing. Consensus on the economic item was not as definite: 81 percent of the students disagreed that, when jobs are scarce, men have more right to a job than women; 19 percent agreed with the statement.

In spite of these generally positive attitudes, students in five countries were more likely to endorse political rights for women than students in the other countries. As seen in Figure 5.5, the countries were Denmark, Norway, Portugal, Sweden, and Switzerland (German). Perhaps not surprisingly, the Nordic countries participating in this study strongly supported women's rights, a finding that seems to be consistent with the percentage of women elected to national positions in these countries (refer to Table 1.3, Chapter 1).

There were, however, countries where students expressed less support for women's rights. Students' scores on the IRT scale fell below the international mean in Chile, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Israel, Latvia, the Russian Federation, and Slovenia. It should be noted that despite the fact that scores for these countries fell below the international mean, those item responses generally indicated positive attitudes toward women.

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	3 10	12			
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	 ▼ 9.8 (0.05) ▲ 10.3 (0.04) 9.9 (0.05) ▲ 10.9 (0.05) ▼ 9.4 (0.04) n.a. n.a. ▼ 9.1 (0.05) ▲ 10.9 (0.04) 10.1 (0.07) 10.1 (0.05) ▼ 9.2 (0.04) 	 ▼ 10.3 (0.05) 10.6 (0.09) ▼ 10.2 (0.05) ▲ 11.7 (0.04) ▼ 9.6 (0.04) ▼ 9.6 (0.06) ▼ 9.5 (0.08) ▲ 11.1 (0.09) 10.4 (0.06) ▲ 10.9 (0.05) 			►			
Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	 ♥ 9.2 (0.04) ♥ 9.9 (0.04) ▲ 10.4 (0.06) ▲ 10.5 (0.08) ■ 10.0 (0.01) 	 ▼ 9.4 (0.05) ▼ 10.2 (0.09) ▲ 11.4 (0.07) ▲ 11.2 (0.11) 10.5 (0.02) 						
 () Standard errors appear in parentheses. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly higher than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly higher than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 13 country means. Country mean for 14-year-olds significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Country mean for upper secondary students significantly lower than international mean based on 14 country means. Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study. International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries. 								

Figure 5.5 Support for Women's Political Rights

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' responses

Data from the 14-year-olds revealed that the majority of these students were also supportive of political rights for women. However, examination of each country's mean score on this scale (reported in Figure 5.5) indicated that the upper secondary students were more likely than the 14-year-olds to support political and economic rights for women in 10 of the 13 countries where comparable data were available. The only three countries where there were not statistically significant differences between the two age groups were Cyprus, Norway, and the Russian Federation. Israel did not test 14-year-olds.

It is interesting to speculate on the reason for the age differences regarding attitudes toward women in three-quarters of the countries. It could be that older males and females interact with each other more often, both as friends and romantic partners. Or, it could be a reflection of the slightly higher percentage of females than males in the upper secondary student sample. As noted in Chapter 2 (Table 2.3), higher percentages of females than males were sampled in many countries. However, in the country with the second highest percentage of females in the older sample (the Russian Federation), there was not a significant difference between the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students.

Analysis by gender

Female students in all countries expressed greater support for women's political rights than did the male students, and these differences were quite large (see Figure 5.6). That difference in support also was found among the 14-year-old students and is consistent with other research in this area.

Country	Mean F	emales	Mean Males			8	10 12	
Chile	10.8	(0.05)	9.6	(0.05)		κ	┦───	
Cyprus	11.7	(0.08)	9.3	(0.11)				
Czech Republic	10.8	(0.06)	9.6	(0.05)			₩ ●	
Denmark	12.3	(0.05)	10.8	(0.06)			► (A)	
Estonia	10.1	(0.06)	8.9	(0.05)		Ŕ	•	
Israel	10.9	(0.07)	9.8	(0.08)			$\land \blacksquare$	
Latvia	10.0	(0.08)	9.0	(0.11)		- I ↔ I		
Norway	11.9	(0.08)	10.1	(0.10)			- K≻I - I - I - I - I - I - I - I - I - I -	
Poland	11.1	(0.06)	9.6	(0.06)			●	
Portugal	11.4	(0.05)	10.2	(0.07)				
Russian Federation	9.7	(0.07)	8.9	(0.05)	_			
Slovenia	10.9	(0.11)	9.4	(0.07)		- Ki		
Sweden	12.1	(0.06)	10.6	(0.12)			$ \bowtie $	
Switzerland (German)	11.6	(0.09)	10.7	(0.22)				
() Standard errors appear in parentheses.								
Gender difference statistically significant at .05 level.			$\vdash \bullet \dashv$ = Mean for Females (± 2 SE). $\vdash \diamondsuit \dashv$ = Mean for Males (± 2 SE).					

Figure 5.6 Gender Differences in Support for Women's Political Rights

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

SUMMARY

Results indicate that the upper secondary students in the international sample trust many, though not all, government-related institutions as well as the media and tend to hold positive attitudes toward their nations. There are, however, several differences based on country, age, and gender. Consistent with previous research, the 14-year-old students tested were generally more positive about their nation and government than the upper secondary students. Nevertheless, country trends and patterns remained quite similar across both populations of students.

In regard to the students' attitudes toward immigrants and the political rights of women, we found, in general, largely positive attitudes among the upper secondary students in the participating countries. These findings are consistent with those from the study of 14-year-olds. In three countries, the older students expressed a level of support for immigrants that was lower than that expressed by the 14-year-olds. However, the older group expressed a higher level of support for women's rights than did the younger group.



Students' Civic Engagement and Political Activities

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO CIVIC ACTIVITIES

- Half the upper secondary students across countries expressed an interest in politics, and the degree of interest appeared to be greater among the upper secondary students than among the 14-year-olds.
- In almost all countries, news broadcasts on television were the most prominent sources of political information. Newspapers ranked second, followed by news broadcasts on the radio. This trend is the same as that found with the 14-year- olds.
- A majority of upper secondary students indicated that they planned to vote in national elections. In three-quarters of the

countries where comparisons could be made, the older students were more likely than the 14-year-olds to indicate their intentions to vote.

 Only a minority of students—mostly males—reported that they were likely to engage in protest activities such as spraypainting slogans on walls, blocking traffic, and occupying buildings. This is similar to the findings from the 14-year-olds. However, the 14-year-old students were more likely than the upper secondary students to indicate that they would spraypaint slogans.

Much has been written about the lack of interest and growing cynicism, particularly among young people, toward politics and government. This concern over political disinterest and disengagement among adolescents was reflected in many of the national case studies from Phase 1 of the Civic Education Study. National researchers, during the first phase, observed that while educators try to make students aware of the importance of staying informed and of participation in the political process, students themselves often exhibit little interest in politics, particularly at the national level (Torney-Purta, Schwille, & Amadeo, 1999). Thus, to many experts, there appeared to be a gap between the societal expectation that civic education should create political interest among students, and the reality.

Is this lack of interest in politics evident among students who are at or nearing the age of first vote? Do young people use the mass media to stay informed on social and political issues? Moreover, as students come to the end of their secondary schooling, what civic activities do they anticipate taking part in as adults? To examine these questions, students were surveyed about three related elements of citizenship and democracy: first, their interest in politics; second, their exposure to political news; and, third, their plans for civic participation, including voting.

Previous research indicates that political interest is a positive predictor of voting, although political interest among young people is only moderate in most countries. In many studies, males report higher levels of interest in politics than females. There is some indication, however, that the gender gap in this area is narrowing, at least in some countries.

In addition, researchers in several countries have found that reading and watching news in the mass media seem to have positive effects on adolescents' political knowledge and involvement. Many adolescents, however, indicate little interest in using the media to stay informed about politics. Studies on the influence of the mass media also suggest that exposure to political news is associated with higher levels of political knowledge among adults. And, for both adolescents and adults, there is some evidence of gender differences in this area, with males reporting media use more frequently than females.¹

Finally, in the 1971 IEA Study of Civic Education (described in Chapter 1), the researchers asked students about their current political activities. In the study reported in this volume, this area was expanded to include questions about what the students planned to do as adults. Stated another way, the questions on this more recent survey addressed both the students' current and future civic involvement.

In this chapter, we examine the political interest, exposure to political news, and expected participation activities of upper secondary students. The students' reported intentions to vote are also reported here. The latter is an especially salient issue given that many of the students in this sample had reached the age of first vote.

RESULTS

1. Interest in Politics

As noted above, during Phase 1 of the IEA Civic Education Study, the researchers found that creating political interest in students was a goal of civic education in many countries. Experts in the area of civic education, however, perceived that this goal was not always easy to achieve among young people, who often expressed a general disinterest or even disdain for politics.

As a follow-up on information gathered during Phase 1, the second phase measured political interest. Students' interest was measured by a single item on the survey—'I am interested in politics'. The four response options for this item ranged from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'.

Results from the upper secondary students

As shown in Table 6.1, almost half of the upper secondary students in the international sample 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' with the statement 'I am interested in politics'. The responses ranged from a high of 63 percent in Cyprus and the Russian Federation to a low of 36 percent in Slovenia.

Politics appears to be especially salient in the lives of many Cypriots, with 63 percent of the students in the Cypriot sample expressing political interest. During Phase 1, the authors of the case study for Cyprus argued that given the small population of Cyprus, every vote in the country is considered important. Young people often discuss politics with their parents and share those discussions with teachers and fellow students in school (Papanastasiou & Koutselini-Ioannidou, 1999). Thus, the students' responses to this survey item seem to reflect national contexts and traditions.

¹ For reviews of previous research in these three areas, see Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, and Schulz (2001): page 115 (interest in politics); page 116 (exposure to political news); and page 121 (political activities).
Country	Percentage of Stue with the Stat	dents Who 'Agreed' or 'Strongly Agreed' ement 'I am Interested in Politics'
	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students
Chile	▲ 46 (1.4)	54 (1.1)
Cyprus	66 (0.9)	63 (1.8)
Czech Republic	▲ 28 (1.0)	41 (1.1)
Denmark	▲ 30 (1.0)	62 (1.3)
Estonia	▲ 34 (1.1)	47 (1.6)
Israel ¹	n.a. n.a.	58 (0.9)
Latvia	▲ 41 (1.1)	50 (1.6)
Norway	▲ 31 (1.1)	40 (1.4)
Poland	43 (1.9)	44 (1.0)
Portugal	▲ 35 (1.2)	43 (1.2)
Russian Federation	▲ 54 (1.6)	63 (1.4)
Slovenia	35 (1.1)	36 (1.4)
Sweden	▲ 23 (1.5)	40 (1.3)
Switzerland (German)	▲ 34 (1.3)	46 (2.8)
International Sample ²	38 (0.4)	49 (0.4)

Table 6.1 Students' Reports on Their Interest in Politics

() Standard errors appear in parentheses. Percentages based on valid responses.

▲ Population difference statistically significant at .05 level.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

As students approach the end of their secondary schooling, it does appear that their interest in politics becomes greater than that of 14-year-olds. Almost half of the upper secondary students in the international sample 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that they were interested in politics, while slightly less than 40 percent of the 14-year-old students from these same countries responded in this way. These findings, however, should be interpreted with caution. As noted elsewhere in this volume, the upper secondary students were not only an older but also, in some countries, more selective sample than the 14-year-olds.

When looking at the individual countries in Table 6.1, we can see that in 10 of the countries the percentage of older students expressing an interest in politics was significantly higher than the percentage of younger students. In no country were the 14-year-olds more likely than the older students to report an interest in politics. However, in the country where students expressed the greatest interest (Cyprus), there was little difference between the 14-year-olds and upper secondary students: over 60 percent of both age groups 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that they were interested in politics.

It is also interesting to note that the students in Cyprus scored above the international mean on both concepts of citizenship scales reported on in Chapter 4 of this volume. In other words, students in Cyprus expressed relatively high levels of political interest and indicated thier belief that both

conventional and social-movement-related activities are the responsibilities of adult citizens. These findings held true for both the 14-year-old students and the upper secondary school students. In short, political interest and beliefs about the importance of civic engagement were evident among both the younger and older adolescents in Cyprus.

In contrast, as can be seen in Table 6.1, the percentage of both 14-year-old and upper secondary students expressing interest in politics in Slovenia was comparatively low. Unlike other countries in the sample, an increase in political interest at the older age level was not evident in Slovenia. The Slovenian students also scored relatively low on both the conventional and social-movement-related citizenship scales, as well as low on the trust in government-related institutions (see Chapters 4 and 5).

Finally, the differences between the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students reflected in Table 6.1, while interesting, are probably not surprising. As students prepare to take on adult roles—in many realms of their lives— politics may become more salient to them. Upper secondary students are much closer to the time when they must make decisions about beginning careers, establishing families, entering military service, finding their own housing, or other life transitions, which may make political trends and policies more pressing issues in their lives. Many of these transitions have political dimensions, for example, required military service, the national economy and finding a job, financial support for education, and finding housing. For many of the 14-year-olds, these issues probably seem more distant from and less relevant to their daily lives, although it should be noted that some of the 14-year-olds may be close to leaving school and entering the labor force.

Analysis by gender

In almost every country where gender differences were found, upper secondary males were significantly more likely than females to indicate an interest in politics. In only one country—Chile—did a higher percentage of females than males agree with the statement 'I am interested in politics' (see Table 6.2). This finding relating to interest in politics is generally consistent with previous research, including the results from the survey of 14-year-olds, where gender differences were found in 18 of the 28 participating countries. In those 18 countries, and consistent with the findings of numerous previous studies, 14-year-old males reported greater interest in politics than did 14year-old females.

While these gender differences for the older population are consistent with the preponderance of research in this area, there are multiple interpretations of their meaning. It could be, for example, that females and males interpret the meaning of politics in different ways. Or, the differences might reflect national or cultural norms relating to gender roles. Finally, in many of the countries, female students likely have fewer role models in the political realm than do male students, although that does not hold true for all countries in the study (see Table 1.3 in Chapter 1).

Country	Percentage of Stu with the Stat	dents Who ement `I a	`Agreed' or `Str m Interested in	ongly Agreed' Politics'
	Females		M	ales
Chile	▲ 57 (1.6)	50	(1.5)
Cyprus	▲ 57 (2.1)	69	(2.3)
Czech Republic	▲ 34 (1.3)	49	(1.7)
Denmark	▲ 57 (1.8)	70	(1.8)
Estonia	▲ 41 (1.8)	56	(2.0)
Israel	▲ 53 (1.3)	63	(1.1)
Latvia	50 (1.7)	50	(2.3)
Norway	▲ 34 (1.8)	47	(2.3)
Poland	▲ 37 (1.3)	51	(1.3)
Portugal	▲ 37 (1.4)	51	(2.0)
Russian Federation	61 (1.6)	67	(1.9)
Slovenia	▲ 31 (1.9)	42	(1.4)
Sweden	38 (1.9)	43	(2.5)
Switzerland (German)	▲ 37 (4.1)	59	(3.0)
International Sample ¹	45 (0.5)	55	(0.5)

Table 6.2 Gender Differences in Students' Reports on Their Interest in Politics

() Standard errors appear in parentheses. Percentages based on valid responses.

▲ Gender difference statistically significant at .05 level.

1 International mean is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

2. Exposure to Political News

During the first phase of the study, many of the national researchers and national experts discussed the importance of exposure to news in the media, and to helping students understand and interpret the news that they read, see, and hear. While there is wide variation across (and within) countries with regard to media education, one thing is clear: most adolescents in industrialized countries are frequent consumers of the mass media. Yet, several questions remained unanswered. How much news are young people exposed to on television or radio? Do they read newspapers? Does exposure to news predict civic knowledge, skills, or engagement?

During Phase 2, the national researchers examined these and other issues related to the media by asking students to report the extent to which they: (1) read newspaper articles about their own country; (2) listen to news broadcasts on television; and (3) listen to news broadcasts on the radio. The response options were 'never', 'rarely', 'sometimes', or 'often'.

Results from the upper secondary students

Across the participating countries, students most frequently watched news broadcasts on television and least frequently listened to news broadcasts on the radio. (These percentages are reported in Table 6.3.) Specifically, about 90 percent of all students surveyed indicated that they 'sometimes' or 'often' watched television news, whereas only about 60 percent reported listening to news on the radio. In addition, 75 percent of the students indicated that they read newspaper articles about their own countries.

		Percenta	ge of Students wh	o Sometimes o	or Often	
Country	read newspap about own	er articles country	listen to news on tele	broadcasts vision	listen to news on the	s broadcasts radio
	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students
Chile	▲ 61 (1.1)	77 (0.9)	▲ 89 (0.6)	92 (0.5)	47 (1.1)	51 (0.8)
Cyprus	68 (1.1)	69 (1.6)	89 (0.6)	91 (0.8)	▲ 55 (1.2)	61 (1.3)
Czech Republic	▲ 69 (1.1)	79 (1.1)	94 (0.5)	93 (0.5)	▲ 60 (1.2)	69 (1.0)
Denmark	▲ 65 (1.1)	84 (0.9)	▲ 83 (0.7)	94 (0.5)	▲ 47 (1.2)	69 (1.1)
Estonia	▲ 75 (1.0)	88 (1.1)	▲ 84 (0.8)	94 (0.5)	▲ 70 (0.9)	85 (0.9)
Israel ¹	n.a. n.a.	83 (0.8)	n.a. n.a.	85 (0.7)	n.a. n.a.	69 (0.7)
Latvia	▲ 69 (1.4)	77 (1.9)	89 (1.0)	89 (1.1)	62 (1.4)	63 (1.0)
Norway	▲ 82 (0.9)	87 (0.8)	▲ 90 (0.6)	93 (0.6)	▲ 47 (1.1)	61 (1.2)
Poland	73 (0.9)	74 (0.9)	91 (0.6)	92 (0.5)	▲ 71 (1.3)	82 (0.7)
Portugal	▲ 69 (1.0)	81 (0.9)	▲ 93 (0.5)	97 (0.3)	▲ 55 (1.0)	61 (1.2)
Russian Federation	▲ 75 (1.4)	82 (1.2)	▲ 89 (0.7)	93 (1.1)	57 (1.8)	59 (1.8)
Slovenia	▲ 65 (1.1)	69 (1.0)	84 (1.0)	85 (1.2)	▲ 56 (1.2)	33 (2.1)
Sweden	▲ 79 (1.2)	89 (1.0)	▲ 84 (1.2)	92 (0.8)	▲ 47 (1.2)	61 (1.6)
Switzerland (German)	▲ 66 (1.3)	78 (1.0)	84 (1.1)	85 (1.8)	61 (1.1)	69 (2.9)
International Mean ²	70 (0.3)	75 (0.3)	88 (0.2)	91 (0.2)	57 (0.3)	64 (0.4)

Table 6.3 Students' Reports on Their Exposure to Political News

() Standard errors appear in parentheses. Percentages based on valid responses.

▲ Population difference statistically significant at .05 level.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

On looking at the individual countries listed in Table 6.3, we find that newspaper readership among the upper secondary students was especially prevalent in Estonia (88 percent), Norway (87 percent), and Sweden (89 percent). It was less prevalent in Cyprus and Slovenia, where about 68 percent of the students responded that they 'sometimes' or 'often' read newspaper articles.

The pattern in relation to watching television news broadcasts was fairly consistent across countries. In 10 countries, over 90 percent of the students said that they 'sometimes' or 'often' watched television news. This trend was especially strong in Portugal, where 97 percent of the students surveyed indicated that they watched television news.

Finally, the percentage of students who reported listening to radio news broadcasts ranged from a low of 33 percent in Slovenia to a high of 85 percent in Estonia. In most countries, only 50 to 60 percent of the students indicated that they listened to radio news.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

In most countries that tested both the older and younger students, the older students were significantly more likely than the 14-year-olds to read newspaper articles about their own country. Only in Cyprus and Poland were the percentages of older and younger students who said they 'sometimes' or 'often' read newspaper articles essentially the same.

In regard to watching news on television, in half of the countries, differences between the two populations were significant. These countries were Chile, Denmark, Estonia, Norway, Portugal, the Russian Federation, and Sweden. Once again, a higher percentage of older students than younger students reported watching television news.

Finally, the older students in nine countries were more likely to listen to news broadcasts on the radio than were the younger students. In one country, Slovenia, the trend was reversed, in that significantly more 14-year-olds than upper secondary students 'sometimes' or 'often' listened to radio news.

In general, the older students appeared to be more frequent consumers of news about their nations than were the younger students. This was true of all three media sources and may indicate a developing awareness of the importance of keeping informed. It also may reflect the fact that many news stories take on added importance as students prepare to leave secondary school and embark on careers or further education. It is also consistent with findings from the 'interest in politics' item (see Table 6.1), where greater percentages of older students than younger students expressed an interest in politics. It follows that if upper secondary students are interested in politics, they are likely to attend to political news. Again, caution needs to be taken in interpreting these findings from the two age groups.

Analysis by gender

As illustrated in Table 6.4, gender differences in regard to reading newspapers were found in only three countries. In the Czech Republic and Poland, significantly higher percentages of females than males reported reading newspapers, but in Slovenia, more males than females reported that they 'sometimes' or 'often' read newspaper articles about their country.

There were no significant gender differences with regard to viewing television news broadcasts. In general, substantial percentages of both male and female students across countries indicated that they watched news on television. This pattern, however, did not hold true for radio broadcasts. Here, we found significant gender differences in nine of the 14 countries (see Table 6.4). In all cases, more females than males reported listening to radio news broadcasts. This pattern is consistent with the findings from the 14-year-old students. In the 15 countries where significant differences were found between the 14year-old females and males, females were more likely than males to listen to news broadcasts on the radio.

		Percenta	ge of Students wh	o Sometimes o	or Often	
Country	read newspap	er articles	listen to news	broadcasts	listen to news	broadcasts
	about own	country	on telev	vision	on the	radio
	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males
Chile	78 (1.3)	78 (1.2)	92 (0.7)	92 (0.7)	▲ 54 (1.2)	48 (1.1)
Cyprus	66 (2.4)	68 (1.6)	91 (1.4)	91 (1.2)	61 (1.8)	60 (2.0)
Czech Republic	▲ 82 (1.2)	78 (1.5)	93 (0.7)	92 (0.8)	▲ 76 (1.3)	63 (1.4)
Denmark	83 (1.3)	84 (1.1)	94 (0.6)	95 (0.9)	▲ 72 (1.3)	63 (1.8)
Estonia	88 (1.1)	88 (1.5)	93 (0.8)	94 (0.8)	▲ 88 (0.8)	80 (1.7)
Israel	84 (0.8)	83 (1.4)	85 (1.1)	85 (0.9)	▲ 72 (1.0)	65 (1.2)
Latvia	81 (1.9)	79 (3.2)	89 (1.3)	89 (1.6)	▲ 67 (2.0)	58 (1.8)
Norway	88 (1.2)	88 (1.2)	93 (0.9)	92 (0.9)	▲ 65 (1.4)	56 (2.1)
Poland	▲ 77 (1.1)	75 (1.2)	93 (0.7)	91 (0.8)	▲ 86 (1.0)	78 (1.1)
Portugal	81 (1.2)	81 (1.2)	97 (0.4)	97 (0.5)	63 (1.2)	58 (1.8)
Russian Federation	83 (1.6)	82 (2.1)	92 (1.4)	94 (1.2)	60 (2.2)	58 (2.5)
Slovenia	▲ 66 (1.4)	69 (1.3)	83 (1.6)	86 (1.3)	31 (3.0)	35 (2.1)
Sweden	91 (1.3)	88 (1.4)	92 (1.0)	92 (1.2)	65 (2.4)	57 (2.0)
Switzerland (German)	77 (1.5)	80 (2.3)	83 (2.2)	88 (2.0)	▲ 76 (3.2)	59 (3.8)
International Sample ¹	80 (0.4)	80 (0.4)	91 (0.3)	91 (0.3)	67 (0.5)	60 (0.5)
		Development	hand an end de se			

Table 6.4 Gender Differences in Exposure to Political News

() Standard errors appear in parentheses. Percentages based on valid responses.

▲ Gender difference statistically significant at .05 level.

1 International mean is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

3. Expected Participation in Political Activities

Five items on the student survey dealt with students' intentions to participate in conventional political activities as adults. A confirmatory factor analysis revealed a three-item scale, which asked students to indicate the extent to which they would be willing, as adults: (1) to join a political party; (2) to write letters to newspapers about social or political concerns; and (3) to be a candidate for a local or city office. The confirmatory analysis did not include intention to vote as part of this scale. It therefore is reported in this chapter as a single item.

In addition to the Conventional Political Activities Scale just described, students also were asked about their intentions to take part in so-called socialmovement-related activities (described in Chapter 4). Specifically, students were asked about their willingness, as adults, to collect signatures for a petition, to collect money for a social charity, and to participate in a nonviolent protest march or rally. They also were asked to report on whether they expected to participate in typically illegal forms of political activities, including spray-painting protest slogans on walls, blocking traffic as a form of protest, and occupying public buildings as a form of protest. The response options for all these items were 'I will certainly not do this', 'I will probably not do this', 'I will probably do this', and 'I will certainly do this'. As with the case of intention to vote, we have presented these six items in this chapter as single items. In summary, the findings relating to political activities are reported here in four sections. First, we examine students' expectations to vote in national elections. Second, we report on the results from the three-item Conventional Political Activities Scale. Third, we deal with the individual social-movement-related participation items, and finally, we look at the items dealing with students' expectations in the area of protest activities that may be illegal.

A) VOTING IN NATIONAL ELECTIONS

Results from the upper secondary students

As mentioned above, the confirmatory factor analysis did not include intention to vote on the Conventional Political Activities Scale, and so it is discussed here as a separate item. Across countries, 85 percent of the students surveyed responded that they expected 'probably' or 'definitely' to vote in national elections (Table 6.6). This is a positive indicator of students' engagement in one aspect of the democratic process. However, examination of individual countries reveals some variations. While 97 percent of the students in Denmark indicated that they intended to vote, only 42 percent of the Swiss (German) students responded that they would do so. It is important to note here the age of the respondents and the age of first vote. In Denmark, the average age of students in the study was 19 years, and the age at which citizens may vote is 18 years (as it is with all countries in the study). We cannot distinguish from these data how many Danish students planned to vote, and how many had actually cast their first ballot. Similarly, in other countries, the average age of the respondents was 18 years or over (Estonia, Norway, Slovenia, and Sweden), and in each of these countries at least 85 percent or more of the students responded that they would be likely to vote. Again, we do not know how many of the students planned to vote, had actually voted, or had had the opportunity to vote but did not do so.

With the exception of Switzerland (German), even in those countries with students with lower mean ages, the percentage of students willing to vote was generally high. As seen in Table 6.5, substantial percentages of the youngest students in this upper secondary sample—those from Israel and Latvia—indicated that they would probably vote.

Thus, the variation of responses relating to likelihood of voting may not reflect age differences among the students but rather differences in political processes, voter laws, or variations in national voting trends. In Switzerland (German), for example, only 42 percent of the students indicated that they would be likely to vote. The reason for this may be because Swiss cabinet posts are shared by the four major political parties according to a distribution that is not really influenced by elections (barring an overwhelming landslide by one of the parties). Thus, since all parties are represented, large segments of the population feel represented. However, this situation could also have an adverse effect on Swiss voting, because voters have little influence on the composition of the government. In addition, frequent voting in Switzerland on national initiatives and referenda may lead to citizens growing tired of voting or focusing on something other than the national elections inquired about in the survey question.

Country	Mean Age (Years)	Expect to Vote (%)
Chile	17.9	79
Cyprus	17.7	93
Czech Republic	17.9	80
Denmark	19.4	97
Estonia	18.2	87
Israel	16.8	89
Latvia	16.6	79
Norway	18.1	92
Poland	17.6	92
Portugal	17.6	93
Russian Federation	17.0	93
Slovenia	18.4	85
Sweden	18.9	89
Switzerland (German)	17.9	42

Table 6.5 Mean Age and Students' Reports on Expected Voting

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

Although a clear pattern did not emerge when we examined the differences between the 16- to 19-year-olds' intentions to vote, a trend is clearly evident when comparing the 14-year-olds' and the upper secondary students' responses. As can be seen in Table 6.6, in every country except for three, a higher percentage of the upper secondary students than the 14-year-olds stated that they expected to vote in national elections.

The three countries that did not follow this pattern were Cyprus, Slovenia, and Switzerland (German). In Cyprus and Slovenia, the younger and older student percentages were essentially the same—95 percent and 93 percent in Cyprus and 84 percent and 85 percent in Slovenia. This is interesting in light of the high levels of stated political interest in Cyprus and the comparatively low levels in Slovenia. However, even though this difference was not statistically significant, in Switzerland (German), the 14-year-olds seemed more likely than the upper secondary students to indicate that they expected to vote: 48 percent of the 14-year-olds expected to vote, while only 42 percent of the older students responded in the same manner.

In all other countries, higher percentages of the older students agreed that they would 'probably' or 'definitely vote' in national elections. This finding could be because of these students having reached, or being very near, the age of first vote, or it could reflect emphases schools place on voting in the later grade levels. (Chapter 7 provides a discussion of the students' perceptions of what they had learned in school.) This finding may also be related to the greater interest in politics expressed by older students. Upper secondary students were more likely than 14-year-olds to express an interest in politics, attend to news about their nation, and express a willingness to vote, and so may have been taking on more of a political or civic identity than the younger students.

				Percent	age of Stude	ents Who Exp	ected Probably or [Definitely to		
Country	vote in në	tional elect	tions	collect mon	ey for a socia	al cause	collect signature	s for a petition	participate in a non-v	violent protest march
	14-year-olds	Upper S Stu	iecondary dents	14-year-olds	Upper Sti	Secondary udents	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students
Chile	▲ 74 (1.0)	79	(6.0)	85 (0.9)	83	(0.8)	77 (0.8)	78 (0.7)	▲ 47 (0.8)	61 (0.9)
Cyprus	95 (0.5)	93	(0.7)	82 (0.7)	79	(1.3)	64 (1.0)	66 (1.4)	86 (1.0)	83 (1.4)
Czech Republic	▲ 65 (1.7)	80	(1.0)	▲ 28 (1.0)	19	(1.0)	29 (1.0)	27 (0.9)	▲ 28 (1.0)	38 (1.2)
Denmark	▲ 91 (0.7)	76	(0.4)	51 (1.3)	50	(1.2)	43 (1.2)	45 (1.1)	▲ 46 (1.2)	61 (1.1)
Estonia	▲ 68 (1.1)	87	(9.0)	▲ 41 (1.2)	33	(1.5)	33 (1.2)	31 (1.2)	▲ 37 (1.2)	43 (1.4)
Israe ¹	n.a. n.a.	89	(0.7)	n.a. n.a.	64	(1.1)	n.a. n.a.	42 (0.9)	n.a. n.a.	61 (1.0)
Latvia	▲ 71 (1.3)	79	(2.1)	57 (1.6)	53	(1.4)	44 (1.5)	45 (1.4)	39 (1.5)	45 (1.6)
Norway	▲ 87 (0.7)	92	(6.0)	▲ 68 (1.1)	62	(1.6)	▲ 32 (1.2)	27 (1.2)	39 (1.2)	43 (1.6)
Poland	▲ 88 (1.2)	92	(9.0)	57 (1.7)	59	(1.3)	48 (1.1)	47 (1.2)	43 (1.1)	40 (1.0)
Portugal	▲ 88 (0.8)	93	(0.7)	▲ 74 (1.0)	69	(1.2)	54 (1.3)	52 (1.5)	▲ 42 (1.3)	61 (1.3)
Russian Federation	▲ 82 (1.0)	93	(0.8)	56 (1.4)	56	(2.2)	34 (1.0)	29 (1.5)	46 (1.0)	42 (1.9)
Slovenia	84 (1.0)	85	(1.2)	▲ 68 (1.0)	55	(1.2)	36 (1.2)	38 (1.5)	▲ 35 (1.2)	42 (1.1)
Sweden	▲ 75 (1.4)	89	(1.0)	▲ 42 (1.3)	31	(1.4)	▲ 31 (1.8)	23 (1.1)	▲ 36 (1.8)	44 (1.5)
Switzerland (German)	48 (1.6)	42	(3.2)	58 (1.4)	55	(4.5)	39 (1.3)	38 (2.8)	▲ 36 (1.2)	53 (3.3)
International Sample ²	78 (0.3)	85	(0.3)	59 (0.3)	55	(0.5)	43 (0.3)	42 (0.4)	43 (0.3)	51 (0.4)
() Standard errors ap	pear in parentheses	. Percentaç	ges based or	ו valid responses						
Population different	ce statistically sign	ificant at .	05 level.							
 Israel did not parti. International mean 	cipate in the 14-yea (14-year-olds) is ba	ar-old study ased on 13	'. countries. I	nternational me	an (upper sec	condary stude	ents) is based on 14	countries.		

Table 6.6 Students' Reports on Expected Political Activities as an Adult

Analysis by gender

As reported in Table 6.7, in four countries higher percentages of females than males responded that they expected that they would 'probably' or 'definitely' vote in national elections. The countries where gender differences were found included Chile (where females also reported higher levels of political interest than males), Israel, Poland, and Sweden. Interestingly, in Israel and Poland higher percentages of males than females indicated an interest in politics, yet the female students in those countries expressed a greater willingness to vote than males. In Sweden, no gender difference was found in the students' reports of their interest in politics, but females were more likely than males to indicate that they would vote.

These data do not, of course, tell us why this difference occurs. One possible explanation is that females are more likely than males to respond to a questionnaire in what they perceive to be more socially acceptable ways. An alternative explanation is that the term 'politics' does not resonate with female students, but when asked about a concrete political activity, such as voting, they do express interest. It would be an interesting follow-up to this study to examine the extent to which gender differences occur in the actual voting behavior of young people in these countries.

B) CONVENTIONAL POLITICAL ACTIVITIES

The three-item Conventional Political Activities Scale measured students' expectations that they would participate in conventional political activities as adults. (As noted above, items in this scale were 'join a political party', 'write a letter to newspaper', and 'be a candidate for office'.) Despite the fact that the upper secondary students were close to an age when these activities would become real possibilities, in about one third of the participating countries, these students scored below the international mean of 9.7 on this scale (Figure 6.1). The countries with relatively lower scores on this scale were the Czech Republic, Denmark, Norway, Slovenia, and Sweden.

Students in Chile, Cyprus, Estonia, Israel, Latvia, and Portugal, however, scored above the mean on this scale. In the case of Cyprus, this finding was consistent with the relatively high levels of political interest and willingness to vote evident among both the upper secondary students and the 14-year-olds.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

Another way to look at these data is to compare the 14-year-olds' and the upper secondary students' responses within countries. As seen in Figure 6.1, in all countries but four, younger students were significantly more likely than older students to indicate that they would participate in conventional political activities as adults. In Cyprus, Estonia, Latvia, and Switzerland (German) there were no significant differences between the responses of the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students on the Conventional Political Activities Scale. Israel did not test 14-year-olds.

Many of the students in the older population sample would have reached not only the age of first vote, but also the age at which many people in their societies would have perceived them to be adults. It is thus quite interesting

			Percentage	e of Students Who Ex	sected Probably or D	efinitely to		
Country	vote in na	ational elections	collect money	for a social cause	collect signature:	s for a petition	participate in a non-v	iolent protest march
	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males
Chile	▲ 82 (1.2)	75 (1.0)	▲ 89 (0.7)	76 (1.1)	▲ 82 (0.8)	72 (1.2)	61 (1.4)	61 (1.2)
Cyprus	95 (0.8)	91 (1.5)	▲ 85 (1.8)	72 (1.8)	68 (2.2)	64 (1.9)	86 (1.6)	80 (2.1)
Czech Republic	80 (1.5)	81 (1.2)	▲ 26 (1.3)	12 (0.9)	▲ 32 (1.6)	21 (1.2)	▲ 33 (1.8)	42 (1.3)
Denmark	97 (0.4)	97 (0.7)	▲ 62 (1.5)	33 (1.7)	▲ 52 (1.5)	34 (1.5)	▲ 64 (1.5)	55 (1.7)
Estonia	88 (0.7)	86 (1.3)	▲ 39 (1.7)	24 (2.2)	▲ 35 (1.4)	25 (2.0)	41 (1.5)	47 (2.2)
Israel	▲ 92 (0.7)	87 (1.1)	▲ 70 (1.3)	58 (1.6)	▲ 46 (1.2)	39 (1.3)	63 (1.5)	59 (1.4)
Latvia	82 (2.1)	76 (2.8)	56 (1.8)	50 (1.8)	49 (1.8)	41 (2.2)	42 (2.1)	48 (2.4)
Norway	94 (0.9)	90 (1.3)	▲ 75 (1.4)	48 (2.1)	30 (1.8)	24 (1.7)	▲ 47 (2.3)	39 (1.7)
Poland	▲ 95 (0.6)	90 (1.1)	▲ 68 (1.3)	49 (1.5)	▲ 51 (1.5)	44 (1.5)	38 (1.2)	43 (1.5)
Portugal	94 (0.9)	92 (1.0)	▲ 77 (1.3)	58 (2.0)	55 (1.7)	48 (2.2)	59 (1.6)	63 (1.7)
Russian Federation	93 (1.0)	93 (1.0)	59 (2.2)	52 (3.3)	28 (2.2)	30 (2.1)	39 (2.3)	46 (2.8)
Slovenia	86 (1.5)	83 (1.5)	▲ 63 (1.5)	47 (1.4)	39 (2.0)	36 (1.7)	39 (1.5)	45 (1.6)
Sweden	▲ 93 (0.9	85 (1.9)	▲ 40 (2.3)	21 (1.7)	26 (1.6)	20 (1.6)	▲ 49 (2.1)	39 (2.3)
Switzerland (German)	35 (3.2)	51 (4.8)	63 (3.7)	43 (6.9)	42 (4.3)	32 (1.5)	51 (5.6)	57 (3.6)
International Sample ¹	86 (0.4)	84 (0.5)	62 (0.5)	46 (0.7)	45 (0.5)	38 (0.5)	51 (0.6)	52 (0.5)
() Standard errors ap	pear in parentheses	s. Percentages based o	n valid responses.					
-		-	-					
Gender ditterence :	statistically signific:	ant at .05 level.						
1 International mean	i is based on 14 cou	untries.						

Table 6.7 Gender Differences in Students' Reports on Expected Political Activities as an Adult

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	10 12
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia	 ▲ 10.2 (0.05) ▲ 10.4 (0.04) ▼ 9.4 (0.04) ▼ 9.5 (0.04) ♥ 9.9 (0.04) 	 ▲ 9.9 (0.03) ▲ 10.4 (0.10) ♥ 9.3 (0.03) ♥ 9.3 (0.04) ▲ 10.1 (0.07) 		
Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German) International Mean ²	n.a. n.a. ▲ 10.5 (0.07) ♥ 9.7 (0.04) 10.5 (0.06) ▲ 10.4 (0.04) 10.0 (0.06) 10.0 (0.04) ♥ 9.8 (0.04) ♥ 9.8 (0.04) ♥ 9.8 (0.06) 10.0 (0.01)	 ▶ 9.9 (0.04) ▶ 10.3 (0.07) ♥ 9.5 (0.06) 9.7 (0.04) ▶ 10.0 (0.05) ♥ 9.5 (0.08) ♥ 9.2 (0.09) ♥ 9.4 (0.05) ♥ 9.5 (0.14) ♥ 9.7 (0.02) 		
 () Standard errors approved the second secon	ear in parentheses. ear-olds significantly higher the ed on 13 country means. In secondary students significan n based on 14 country means. ear-olds significantly lower the ed on 13 country means. In secondary students significan n based on 14 country means. pate in the 14-year-old significant 14-year-olds) is based o	an $\vdash \ominus = \mathbb{N}$ ntly higher $\bigtriangleup = \mathbb{P}$ an ntly lower study. n 13 countries. Interna	lean 14-year-old students (: lean upper secondary schoo opulation difference statisti ational mean (upper seco	± 2 SE). I students (± 2 SE). cally significant at .05 level. ondary students) is based

Figure 6.1 Expected Participation in Conventional Political Activities

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

that these students were less likely than the younger students in their countries to expect to participate in conventional political activities. On the one hand, the upper secondary students were more likely than the 14-year-old students to express an interest in politics, and also were more likely than the younger students to indicate that they expected to vote in national elections. On the other hand, the upper secondary students were less likely than the younger students to expect to participate in conventional activities such as writing letters to newspapers, joining a political party, or running for public office.

Analysis by gender

In less than half of the countries, significant gender differences were found on this scale (see Figure 6.2). In all cases, the male students were more likely than the female students to expect to participate in conventional political activities. The countries where significant gender differences were found were Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, and the Russian Federation.

Gender differences in the same direction were also found among the 14-yearold students. This finding may seem somewhat inconsistent with the findings relating to another political activity—expectation of voting—where females in

Country	Mean	Females	Mear	1 Males		8	10	12
Chile	9.9	(0.04)	9.8	(0.06)				
Cyprus	10.1	(0.13)	10.7	(0.10)			┼●┼⋉┤	
Czech Republic	9.1	(0.06)	9.4	(0.05)				
Denmark	9.2	(0.06)	9.5	(0.06)		€X		
Estonia	9.9	(0.08)	10.2	(0.11)			● ¢-	
Israel	9.8	(0.05)	10.0	(0.05)				
Latvia	10.2	(0.07)	10.3	(0.13)				
Norway	9.5	(0.07)	9.5	(0.10)		K		
Poland	9.6	(0.05)	9.8	(0.06)				
Portugal	10.0	(0.05)	10.1	(0.07)				
Russian Federation	9.3	(0.11)	9.9	(0.11)			K I	
Slovenia	9.1	(0.11)	9.3	(0.10)				
Sweden	9.4	(0.07)	9.4	(0.07)		0		
Switzerland (German)	9.3	(0.15)	9.8	(0.16)			\diamond	
() Standard errors app	ear in paren	theses.			L	-		
Gender difference sta at .05 level.	tistically sign	iificant	$ -\bullet- = N$ $ -\diamond- = N$	Nean for Fen Nean for Ma	nales (± 2 SE). les (± 2 SE).			



Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

four countries were more likely than males to indicate that they intended to vote. However, this could be a reflection of females' sense of civic responsibility, whereas the other conventional political activities may be more associated with interest in politics.

C) SOCIAL-MOVEMENT-RELATED ACTIVITIES

The social-movement-related activities are examined in this section as individual items (see Table 6.6). Examination of the responses to these items indicated the following: close to 60 percent of the upper secondary students in the international sample expected that they would 'probably' or 'definitely' collect money for a social cause or charity; slightly more than 40 percent of the students expected they would collect signatures for a petition; and over 50 percent expected they would participate in a non-violent protest march.

Once again we found national differences (shown in Table 6.6). In Chile, 83 percent of the students said they would collect money for a charity while only 19 percent of the Czech Republic students expected to do so. This difference might reflect a difference in opportunities: in some countries, more charities may exist than in other countries, or some countries may mobilize young adults to participate more effectively than others.

Chilean students were also highly likely to expect to collect signatures for a petition. Seventy-eight percent of the students from Chile expected to do so. In contrast, only about 20 percent of the Swedish students thought they would be likely to collect signatures. Again, this finding may reflect differences in political cultures: petitions may be used more often in some countries than in others.

Finally, 83 percent of the students in Cyprus expected to participate in a nonviolent protest march while only 38 percent expected to do so in the Czech Republic. This finding is consistent with other data from Cyprus. In this country, students are interested and aware of politics, and actively engaged. The same trend in Cyprus also was identified in the results from the data for the 14-year-olds.

Analysis of 14-year olds' and upper secondary students' results

The percentages of 14-year-olds and upper secondary students who anticipated collecting charity money and collecting petition signatures were essentially the same (Table 6.6), with slightly fewer older than younger students expressing willingness to engage in those activities. However, a higher percentage of older students than younger students responded that they would probably or definitely participate in a non-violent protest march. In fact, in eight of the 13 countries where comparisons could be made, the older students were more likely than the younger students to indicate that they would participate in a non-violent march. An interesting follow-up to this study would be to investigate the possible reasons for the age differences in this area, or to examine within-country explanations.

Analysis by gender

In almost all of the participating countries where comparisons could be made, higher percentages of female students than male students agreed they would be likely to collect money for a charity. In about half of the countries, females were more likely than males to indicate that they would collect signatures for a petition. However, gender differences in willingness to participate in a non-violent protest march were found in only four countries. In three of these countries—Denmark, Norway, and Sweden—higher percentages of females than males expressed their willingness to participate, and in the other country—the Czech Republic—the reverse was found (Table 6.7).

D) ILLEGAL PROTEST ACTIVITIES

Among all the political activities that the upper secondary students were asked about, it was the protest activities likely to be illegal in many countries for which the students indicated the lowest levels of probable participation. Only 10 percent of the international sample said that they would occupy buildings as a form of protest, and only 13 percent said that they would block traffic or spray-paint slogans on walls. Students in Cyprus were more likely than students in any of the other countries to indicate that they would engage in these three illegal activities. In fact, close to 35 percent of the Cypriot students said they would probably or definitely spray-paint protest slogans on walls, and close to 30 percent said they would block traffic and occupy buildings. In contrast, very low percentages of students in the Czech Republic, Sweden, and Switzerland (German) (under 10 percent) said they would participate in spraypainting, blocking traffic, or occupying buildings. While these findings could, in part, reflect cultural and political differences and traditions, it is interesting that they do not seem to reflect differences in levels of trust in governmentrelated institutions. As reported in Chapter 5, students' trust in governmentrelated institutions was relatively high in both Denmark and Cyprus.

Analysis of 14-year olds' and upper secondary students' results

On all three items, the 14-year-old students were more likely than the upper secondary students to agree that they would participate in these illegal protest activities. The difference was most pronounced on the spray-painting item. When asked about spray-painting slogans on walls, close to 20 percent of the 14-year-olds expected they would do this, while only 13 percent of the upper secondary students agreed that they would. The differences on the other two items were slight—see Table 6.8.

	Per	centage of St	udents Who Expe	cted Probably	or Definitely to	
Country	spray-paint slogans o	t protest n walls	block t as a form o	raffic of protest	occupy b as a form	uildings of protest
	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students
Chile	▲ 31 (0.9)	23 (0.8)	19 (0.8)	20 (1.0)	14 (0.7)	15 (0.7)
Cyprus	37 (1.1)	34 (1.4)	28 (0.9)	27 (1.3)	28 (1.0)	28 (1.3)
Czech Republic	▲ 12 (1.0)	5 (0.5)	7 (0.8)	6 (0.5)	7 (0.8)	5 (0.5)
Denmark	▲ 15 (0.9)	3 (0.4)	▲ 15 (0.9)	11 (0.9)	▲ 12 (0.8)	8 (0.6)
Estonia	▲ 22 (0.9)	15 (1.0)	12 (0.7)	11 (0.6)	9 (0.7)	7 (0.5)
Israel ¹	n.a. n.a.	10 (0.6)	n.a. n.a.	15 (0.8)	n.a. n.a.	9 (0.7)
Latvia	21 (1.3)	16 (1.4)	17 (1.2)	16 (1.3)	15 (1.3)	11 (1.3)
Norway	▲ 15 (0.9)	9 (1.1)	12 (0.9)	12 (1.1)	12 (0.7)	9 (0.9)
Poland	▲ 18 (0.9)	14 (0.9)	17 (1.1)	14 (0.9)	16 (1.0)	14 (0.8)
Portugal	▲ 13 (0.8)	8 (0.6)	▲ 11 (0.7)	15 (0.9)	10 (0.7)	9 (0.7)
Russian Federation	▲ 23 (1.1)	13 (1.0)	▲ 13 (1.1)	7 (0.7)	▲ 9(0.8)	5 (0.6)
Slovenia	18 (1.0)	15 (1.7)	12 (0.8)	12 (1.6)	12 (0.9)	11 (1.5)
Sweden	▲ 12 (1.2)	6 (0.6)	9 (0.8)	7 (0.8)	▲ 10(1.0)	5 (0.7)
Switzerland (German)	▲ 15 (1.2)	8 (1.9)	12 (0.9)	8 (1.1)	11 (1.1)	8 (1.2)
International Sample ²	19 (0.3)	13 (0.3)	14 (0.2)	13 (0.3)	13 (0.2)	10 (0.2)

Table 6.8	Students' Re	ports on Ex	pected Illegal	Activities as	an Adult
14810 010	•••••••		peeces inegai		

() Standard errors appear in parentheses. Percentages based on valid responses.

▲ Population difference statistically significant at .05 level.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

This pattern seems consistent with the findings relating to older students' interest in politics, staying informed, and willingness to vote. That is, as adolescents get closer to the age when they are likely to be looking for jobs, applying to universities, or making other major life transitions, they may be less likely to engage in an activity, such as spray-painting, that may jeopardize their futures. Similarly, this difference between 14-year-olds and upper secondary students may reflect a developmental difference. As students approach the age when they will increasingly be taking on adult roles and responsibilities, peer pressure (so prevalent during early adolescence) may start

to diminish. Greater maturity also may allow them to take a broader view of the issues surrounding such actions.

However, an interesting paradox emerges here. On the one hand, the upper secondary students were less trusting of government-related institutions than were the 14-year-old students (as reported in Chapter 5 of this volume). On the other hand, the older students were less likely than the 14-year-olds to indicate that they would participate in protest activities that may be illegal. It may be that although older students are more critical of their governments, their criticism is more constructive. Or, it may be that older adolescents face more severe punishment for transgressions, since some of them are legally adults.

Analysis by gender

In all countries, except for Switzerland (German), more male than female students expressed a willingness to spray-paint protest slogans. In fact, twice as many males as females in the international sample said they 'probably' or 'definitely' would expect to spray-paint (see Table 6.9). Males also were more likely than females to indicate a likelihood of participating in the other two illegal activities. This is consistent with findings from the 14-year-old students, in which males were more likely than females to say they would probably participate in illegal political activities.

		Percenta	ge of Students Wh	o Sometimes	or Often	
Country	spray-paint	protest	block t	raffic	occupy b	uildings
	siogaris or	Twalls	as a form o	protest	as a form o	of protest
	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males
Chile	▲ 19 (1.2)	28 (1.2)	18 (1.3)	22 (1.4)	▲ 13 (1.0)	17 (1.0)
Cyprus	▲ 27 (1.7)	42 (1.8)	▲ 20 (2.0)	35 (2.3)	▲ 23 (2.2)	33 (1.9)
Czech Republic	▲ 3 (0.5)	8 (0.9)	▲ 2(0.4)	10 (0.9)	▲ 2 (0.4)	8 (0.7)
Denmark	▲ 2(0.3)	6 (0.8)	11 (1.4)	11 (1.1)	8 (0.8)	8 (0.9)
Estonia	▲ 9(0.9)	23 (2.0)	▲ 6 (0.6)	19 (1.3)	▲ 4 (0.4)	13 (1.0)
Israel	▲ 8(0.7)	13 (0.9)	▲ 12 (0.9)	17 (1.3)	▲ 7 (0.7)	10 (1.0)
Latvia	▲ 10 (1.3)	23 (2.0)	▲ 9(1.3)	24 (1.9)	▲ 7 (1.3)	16 (1.6)
Norway	▲ 5(0.9)	14 (2.0)	▲ 7(1.0)	16 (1.8)	▲ 6 (0.9)	12 (1.6)
Poland	▲ 7 (0.8)	21 (1.3)	▲ 7 (0.8)	20 (1.4)	▲ 9(0.7)	19 (1.3)
Portugal	▲ 5(0.7)	13 (1.2)	13 (1.2)	17 (1.3)	8 (0.9)	9 (0.9)
Russian Federation	▲ 10(1.1)	18 (2.1)	6 (0.7)	10 (1.3)	▲ 3 (0.6)	7 (1.1)
Slovenia	▲ 10 (1.9)	21 (1.6)	9 (1.8)	16 (1.8)	9 (1.9)	13 (1.5)
Sweden	▲ 2 (0.5)	9 (1.3)	▲ 4 (0.9)	11 (1.4)	▲ 3 (0.4)	9(1.4.)
Switzerland (German)	5 (1.5)	13 (3.1)	6 (1.4)	12 (2.1)	7 (1.5)	9 (2.9)
International Sample ¹	9 (0.3)	18 (0.5)	9 (0.3)	17 (0.4)	8 (0.3)	13 (0.4)

Table 6.9 Gender Differences in Students' Reports on Expected Illegal Activities as an Adult

() Standard errors appear in parentheses. Percentages based on valid responses.

▲ Gender difference statistically significant at .05 level.

1 International mean is based on 14 countries.

SUMMARY

As students reach or attain the age of first vote, politics and political participation may take on new meaning for them. The upper secondary students in most of the participating countries were more likely than the 14-year-old students to express an interest in politics, to indicate that they planned to vote, and to follow national news in the media. However, the 14-year-old students seemed slightly more willing to express an interest in participating in conventional political activities as adults and slightly more willing to participate in political protest activities that may be illegal. The patterns relating to country differences and gender trends in these areas are quite similar.

Students' Views of Opportunities for Civic Engagement in Classrooms, Schools, and Youth Organizations

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO SCHOOLS AND CIVIC EDUCATION

- The upper secondary students reported low levels of participation in school and community activities, although this varied considerably from country to country and from organization to organization.
- The upper secondary students were more likely than the 14-year-olds to report that their classrooms were open to discussion of issues.
- In countries where there were gender differences related to the students' confidence in school participation, females were more confident than males. The direction of these findings is consistent with that found among the 14-year-olds. It is also consistent with what was found on the classroom climate scale. In almost all of the countries, female students were more likely than male students in the upper secondary school to perceive that there was an open climate for discussion in their classrooms. Once again, this replicates the findings from the 14-year-olds.

Understanding the development of civic knowledge, attitudes, and engagement among young people is a complex task. It is important to recognize not only the broad political and social culture of the societies in which adolescents live, but also to take into account their daily activities, their need to develop and maintain relationships with teachers and classmates, and to be part of a community of peers. Schools and youth organizations play an important role in this regard, and more generally in the lives of young people. They can be places where students have the opportunity to discuss issues, interact with peers, solve problems, and develop a sense of autonomy and initiative.

Civic education in schools and the influence of formal education on civic knowledge and engagement are emphases of the IEA Civic Education Study. Previous research suggests that students, when in classrooms where they feel free to express their opinions, report high levels of political interest and efficacy. Opportunities for open classroom discussion of issues may vary widely, however, not just among countries, but also within schools. (See Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, & Schulz, 2001, pp. 138, 141, for a review of the research in this area.)

In addition to the influence of classroom discussion, a sense of civic responsibility and community involvement as adults has been linked to earlier civic participation (both in and outside of school) during adolescence. Although more research in this area is warranted, it does appear that, within countries, adolescents who are active members of their schools and communities are likely to become active adult citizens. The preponderance of research in this area of school and civic involvement suggests that a climate in the school classroom that encourages discussion as well as participation in civic organizations is an important aspect of citizenship education. In this chapter, therefore, we examine students' perceptions of opportunities for participation available to them in their classrooms, schools, and communities.

RESULTS

1. Confidence in Participation at School

Schools offer adolescents not only opportunity to acquire content knowledge and skills but also to interact with peers, participate in groups, and engage in decision-making. The ideal school and classroom atmosphere can model the democratic process and foster a belief in students that they can contribute to the functioning/well-being of their school. This sense of efficacy—the belief that officials are responsive to an individual's input and that an individual can effect change, especially by joining in groups—is a long-standing interest of researchers in the field of political socialization. (For a review of research on confidence in the effectiveness of school participation, see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 132.)

The school is one of the main settings where adolescents can experience this sense of confidence or efficacy and prepare for their roles as adult citizens in the broader community and nation. The items in the scale reported in this section examine students' beliefs about the value of students working together in groups or as elected representatives to solve school problems. Specifically, four items were included in the Confidence in School Participation Scale. Students were asked to agree or disagree with the following statements: (1) electing student representatives to suggest changes makes schools better; (2) positive changes happen in school when students work together; (3) organizing groups of students to state their opinions helps solve school problems; and (4) students acting together can have more influence than acting alone. The four-point response scale ranged from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'.

Students' responses on the confidence in school scale indicates a generally positive perception on the part of the upper secondary students on the effectiveness of school participation. Over 85 percent of these students 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' with each of the four items on the scale. (See item-by-score map, Appendix Figure B.2j.)

In five countries, confidence in school participation was significantly higher than the international mean (Chile, Cyprus, Israel, Poland, and Portugal). There were also countries, however, whose scores fell below the international mean—the Czech Republic, Latvia, Norway, the Russian Federation, Slovenia, and Switzerland (German). These variations in scores among countries could be because of differences in students' opinions about the value of participating in school activities as well as national differences in opportunities available to students to participate in their schools. Ceding power to student groups is not the tradition in some countries.

Analysis of the 14-year-olds' and the upper secondary students' results

As noted elsewhere in this volume, there were 13 countries with weighted data where comparisons could be made between the upper secondary students and the 14-year-olds. In five of these 13 countries, there were significant differences between the two age groups, with the upper secondary students in Chile, Estonia, Poland, and Portugal reporting higher levels of confidence in school participation than did the 14-year-old students in those same countries. In Norway, the opposite was found: the upper secondary students felt less efficacious at school than did the 14-year-olds.

Country trends on this scale, however, remained largely the same as with the 14-year-olds. As can be seen from Figure 7.1, the older students in Chile, Cyprus, Israel, Poland, and Portugal were those most likely to agree with items about the effectiveness of school participation. The mean scores for the 14-year-old students in these countries also fell above the international mean. (Note that Israel did not test 14-year-olds.) Similarly, in countries where the older students' scores fell below the international mean, the scores of the younger students did so also, with the exception of Norway, as noted above.

14-year-olds ▲ 10.5 (0.04) ▲ 11.3 (0.05)	Upper Secondary Students	/	ş					
▲ 10.5 (0.04) ▲ 11.3 (0.05)	▲ 107 (8 10 12					
 ▼ 9.6 (0.05) 10.2 (0.04) ▼ 9.9 (0.05) n.a. n.a. ▼ 9.5 (0.05) ▲ 10.3 (0.06) ▲ 10.5 (0.08) ▲ 10.8 (0.05) ▼ 9.7 (0.05) ▼ 9.6 (0.05) ■ 10.2 (0.06) 	 ▲ 11.5 (▼ 9.6 (10.3 (10.3 (10.7 (♥ 9.6 (♥ 10.0 (▲ 11.0 (▲ 11.2 (♥ 9.8 (♥ 9.7 (10.3 ((0.04) (0.07) (0.04) (0.05) (0.05) (0.06) (0.05) (0.06) (0.06) (0.06) (0.06)						
▼ 9.4 (0.05) 101 (0.01)	▼ 9.3 (10.3 ((0.10) (0.02)						
in parentheses. olds significantly higher than a 13 country means. ondary students significar sed on 14 country means. olds significantly lower than a 13 country means. ondary students significar sed on 14 country means. e in the 14-year-old s year-olds) is based o	an htly higher n htly lower tudy. n 13 countries		ean 14-year-old stu ean upper secondar opulation difference ational mean (upp	dents (± 2 SE). y school students statistically sign per secondary s	s (± 2 SE). ificant at .05 I tudents) is ba	evel.		
	10.2 (0.04) 9.9 (0.05) n.a. n.a. 9.5 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) 10.8 (0.05) 9.7 (0.05) 9.6 (0.05) 10.2 (0.06) 9.4 (0.05) 10.1 (0.01) n parentheses. ds significantly higher that 13 country means. ondary students significart ed on 14 country means. in the 14-year-old se ear-olds) is based o	10.2 (0.04) 10.3 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 n.a. n.a. 10.7 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 10.5 (0.08) 11.0 10.5 (0.08) 11.2 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 9.6 (0.05) 9.7 10.2 (0.06) 10.3 9.4 (0.05) 9.3 10.1 (0.01) 10.3 n parentheses. ds significantly higher than 13 country means. ondary students significantly higher ears. on 14 country means. on 14 country means. in the 14-year-old study. ear-olds) is based on 13 countrie 13 countrie	10.2 (0.04) 10.3 (0.05) 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) n.a. n.a. 10.7 (0.05) 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 (0.07) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) 11.0 (0.05) 10.8 (0.05) 11.2 (0.05) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.6 (0.05) 9.7 (0.06) 10.2 (0.06) 10.3 (0.02) 9.4 (0.05) 9.3 (0.10) 10.1 (0.01) 10.3 (0.02) n parentheses. Hot = M ed on 14 country means. Hot = M in the 14-year-old study. ear on 13 countries. International study. ear-olds) is based on 13 countries. International study. ear on 13 countries. International study.	10.2 (0.04) 10.3 (0.05) 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) n.a. n.a. 10.7 (0.05) 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 (0.07) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) 11.0 (0.05) 0.7 (0.05) 412.2 (0.05) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.7 (0.06) 10.3 (0.06) 9.6 (0.05) 9.7 (0.06) 10.2 (0.06) 10.3 (0.06) 9.4 (0.05) 9.3 (0.10) 10.1 (0.01) 10.3 (0.02) 10.3 (0.02) -4 -4 9.4 (0.05) 9.3 (0.10) 10.3 (0.02) -4 -4 13 country means. -4 -4 -4 14 country means. -4 -4 <td>10.2 (0.04) 10.3 (0.05) 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) n.a. n.a. 10.7 (0.05) 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 (0.07) 10.3 (0.06) (0.07) (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) (0.07) (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) (0.05) (0.05) 10.8 (0.05) (0.05) (0.06) 9.7 (0.05) (0.06) (0.06) 9.7 (0.06) (0.3) (0.06) 9.4 (0.05) (0.02) (0.02) 10.1 (0.01) (0.3) (0.02) n parentheses. (0.02) (0.02) (0.02) n parentheses. (0.12) (0.12) (0.12) n parentheses. (0.12) (0.12) (0.12) n parentheses. (0.14) (0.25) (0.12) (0.14) (0.25) (0.12) (0.12) (0.14) (0.25) (0.12) (0.12)</td> <td>10.2 (0.04) 10.3 (0.05) 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) n.a. n.a. 10.7 (0.05) 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 (0.07) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) 11.0 (0.05) 10.8 (0.05) 11.2 (0.05) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.4 (0.05) 9.3 (0.10) 10.1 (0.01) 10.3 (0.02) n parentheses. HOH = Mean 14-year-old students (± 2 SE). ads significantly higher than 13 country means. 13 country means. HOH = Mean 14-year-old students (± 2 SE). Δ = Population difference statistically significant at .05 I ds significantly lower than 13 country means. indary students significantly lower ed on 14 country means. in the 14-year-old study. ear-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based</td>	10.2 (0.04) 10.3 (0.05) 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) n.a. n.a. 10.7 (0.05) 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 (0.07) 10.3 (0.06) (0.07) (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) (0.07) (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) (0.05) (0.05) 10.8 (0.05) (0.05) (0.06) 9.7 (0.05) (0.06) (0.06) 9.7 (0.06) (0.3) (0.06) 9.4 (0.05) (0.02) (0.02) 10.1 (0.01) (0.3) (0.02) n parentheses. (0.02) (0.02) (0.02) n parentheses. (0.12) (0.12) (0.12) n parentheses. (0.12) (0.12) (0.12) n parentheses. (0.14) (0.25) (0.12) (0.14) (0.25) (0.12) (0.12) (0.14) (0.25) (0.12) (0.12)	10.2 (0.04) 10.3 (0.05) 9.9 (0.05) 10.3 (0.06) n.a. n.a. 10.7 (0.05) 9.5 (0.05) 9.6 (0.07) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.3 (0.06) 10.0 (0.06) 10.5 (0.08) 11.0 (0.05) 10.8 (0.05) 11.2 (0.05) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.7 (0.05) 9.8 (0.06) 9.4 (0.05) 9.3 (0.10) 10.1 (0.01) 10.3 (0.02) n parentheses. HOH = Mean 14-year-old students (± 2 SE). ads significantly higher than 13 country means. 13 country means. HOH = Mean 14-year-old students (± 2 SE). Δ = Population difference statistically significant at .05 I ds significantly lower than 13 country means. indary students significantly lower ed on 14 country means. in the 14-year-old study. ear-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based		

Figure 7.1 Confidence in Participation at School

Analysis by gender

In half of the countries, females were more likely than males to express confidence in school participation (Figure 7.2). This finding is consistent with the 14-year-olds' responses. In over half of the countries that tested 14-year-old students, females expressed more confidence in school participation than did males.

2. Students' Views of Their Learning

IEA studies in a variety of subject areas have used measures of 'opportunities to learn' to ensure test fairness and to assist with interpretation of results. Most frequently, these measures are administered to teachers, who are asked to rate the extent to which students have studied the content material required to answer each test item. However, civic education occurs not just within the formal classroom, but also in homes, peer groups, extracurricular activities, and through the media. Further, as the Phase 1 researchers argued, civic education takes place not just in civics classes, but across school subjects—in courses such as history, literature, religion, and mother tongue especially. In short, civic education is often spread across the curriculum in a variety of classes over multiple years of instruction. Therefore, it would be misleading to discuss 'opportunity to learn' solely on the ratings of one current civic-related teacher. In so doing, we would ignore the cumulative effect of civic-related education in the many arenas where it may occur. A further difficulty is that no teacher data were collected for the upper secondary school students.

Despite the challenge to collecting this information, it is quite valuable to know some of the emphases schools place on civic-related knowledge and skills. Students were one source for this information, and while the national researchers agreed that it would be too time-consuming to rate every item on

Country	Mean F	emales	Mean M	lales		8	10	12
Chile	10.7	(0.05)	10.7	(0.05)				
Cyprus	11.7	(0.10)	11.2	(0.10)				- K≻H I I I
Czech Republic	9.7	(0.05)	9.5	(0.06)			Ƙ¶	
Denmark	10.5	(0.07)	10.1	(0.06)				
Estonia	10.5	(0.08)	10.0	(0.08)			Ŕ	
Israel	10.8	(0.06)	10.5	(0.09)				◇ ●
Latvia	9.8	(0.08)	9.4	(0.09)			∕> ●	
Norway	10.2	(0.06)	9.8	(0.08)				•
Poland	11.2	(0.07)	10.8	(0.07)				\bowtie
Portugal	11.3	(0.06)	11.1	(0.07)				K 🍽 🚽
Russian Federation	9.9	(0.07)	9.6	(0.07)			P ↓	
Slovenia	9.8	(0.08)	9.5	(0.07)				
Sweden	10.6	(0.07)	10.1	(0.07)			— К	$H \bullet$
Switzerland (German)	9.2	(0.12)	9.3	(0.19)			●	
() Standard errors appe	ear in paren	theses.						
Gender difference sta at .05 level.	tistically sigr	ificant	$ \begin{array}{c} \bullet = \mathbb{N} \\ \diamond \bullet = \mathbb{N} \end{array} $	/lean for Fen /lean for Mal	nales (± 2 SE). les (± 2 SE).			

Figure 7.2 Gender Differences in Confidence in Participation at School

the test and survey, a seven-item scale was developed to explore students' views of what they had learned in school in broader topic areas. To determine students' perceptions of their civic-related learning, the students were asked to agree or disagree (on a four-point response scale) with the following statements. 'In school I have learned' (1) to cooperate in groups; (2) understand people who have different ideas; (3) how to act to protect the environment; (4) to be concerned about what happens in other countries; (5) to contribute to solving problems in the community; (6) to be a patriotic and loyal citizen; (7) about the importance of voting in elections.

Results from the upper secondary students

As Table 7.1 indicates, 90 percent of the older students 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that in school they had learned to cooperate in groups with other students. In contrast, slightly less than half of these students 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that they had learned in school to be a patriotic and loyal citizen. These findings seem to support the Phase 1 national researchers' argument that, in many school systems, patriotic rituals and traditions have declined in the past several decades while goals of cooperation have increased. However, disaggregation of this international percentage revealed substantial national differences. For example, in Sweden, only about 15 percent of the students 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that they had learned in school to be a patriotic and loyal citizen. In contrast, more than 70 percent of the students in Chile and Cyprus indicated that they had learned patriotism and loyalty in school.

Fifty-five percent of the students across countries 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that in school they had learned about the importance of voting. Here, too, we found national differences: 76 percent of the students in Norway perceived voting to be a topic covered in school, whereas only 29 percent of the Slovenian students, 37 percent of the Czech students, and 41 percent of the Portuguese students indicated that they had learned about the importance of voting.

Interestingly, as is evident from Table 7.2, there does not seem to be a consistent pattern at the country level regarding the percentage of students who reported they had learned in school about the importance of voting, and the percentage who indicated that they expected to vote (reported in the previous chapter). For example, as stated above, only about 40 percent of the students in Portugal reported that they had learned in school about the importance of voting, but over 90 percent of these same students expected to vote. In Israel, about half of the students responded that they had learned about voting in school, but close to 90 percent expected to vote.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

A look at the international percentages found in Table 7.1 reveals that the perceptions of the 14-year-old students about what they had learned in school appear to be similar to the perceptions of the older students in a number of areas. For example, as was found with the older students, more 14-year-olds agreed (91 percent) with the statement that in school they had learned to cooperate in groups than with any of the other school learning statements.

Table 7.1 Students' R	eports on /	What They	Believe Th	ey Had Lea	rrned in Sc	hool								
					Percenta	ge of Stude	ents Who 'A	greed' or 'Sti	rongly Agree	d' with				
Country	In schoo learned to co groups wi stude	I I have ooperate in th other ints	In schoo learned to u people who hi ide.	l I have understand ave different as	In schoo learned hov protect the e	l I have v to act to nvironment	In schoo learned to b about what other co	el I have le concerned happens in untries	In schoo learned to cc solving probi commu	I I have ontribute to lems in the unity	In school learned to be and loyal c my cou	I have a patriotic itizen of ntry	In school I ha about the im of voting in and local e	ve learned portance national lections
	14-year-olds	U pper secondary students	14-year-olds	Upper secondary students	14-year-olds	Upper secondary students	14-year-olds	Upper secondary students	14-year-olds	Upper secondary students	14-year-olds	Upper secondary students	14-year-olds	Upper secondary students
Chile Cyprus	94 (0.5) 93 (0.6)	95 (0.4) 89 (1.0)	94 (0.4) 88 (0.7)	94 (0.4) 87 (1.1)	89 (0.7) 88 (0.8)	70(1.0) 70(1.9)	77 (0.9) 81 (0.9)	62 (1.0) 61 (1.5)	81 (0.7) 80 (0.8)	74 (0.9) 73 (1.4)	87(0.6) 91(0.7)	73 (1.1) 76 (1.7)	76(1.1) 72(1.1)	67(1.4) 59(1.8)
Czech Republic Denmark Ectoria	90 (0.9) 92 (0.5)	87 (0.7) 92 (0.8)	74 (1.2) 72 (0.9) 95 (0.0)	66 (1.1) 81 (1.0)	78 (1.1) 78 (1.1) 76 (1.1)	56 (1.4) 56 (1.2) 47 (1.5)	57 (1.5) 68 (1.1) (1,1)	50 (1.3) 86 (0.8) 74 (0.0)	69 (1.6) 63 (1.0) 54 (1-2)	55 (1.3) 65 (1.0) 28 (1.4)	58(1.1) 44(1.1)	35 (1.2) 21 (0.8) 37 (1.5)	42(1.6) 39(1.3)	37(1.3) 64(1.4) 57(1 0)
ESUUTIA	(/'O) T6	(0.0) 66	(6.0) CO	04 (0.7)	(0.1)0/	(C.T) /0	(T'T) T/	14 (0.7)	(C.T) +C	(+.T) OC	(C.1)04	(C.T) 10	(C.T) C+	(0'T)/C
Israel Latvia	n.a. n.a. 87 (10)	80 (0.9) 80 (1 3)	и.а. п.а. (г.г) га	72 (1.0)	n.a. n.a. 76.(1.4)	46 (1.2) 63 (1-7)	n.a. n.a. 72 (1 3)	46 (1.0) (3 L) L2	n.a. n.a. גו(ר) גו	64 (1.0) 69 (2.3)	n.a. n.a. 52(1 6)	45 (1.3) 45 (1.7)	и.а. п.а. (Э г) ви	49(1.3) 51(2.8)
Lalvia Norway	92 (0.6)	(C.T) 20	(1.1) 10 79 (1.1)	81 (1.4)	74(1.1)	(7.1.) 60	(6.1) 27	71 (1.5)	(6.1) 19	(<i>C</i> .2) 60 (61 (1.5)	55(1.0)	38 (1.5)	48(1.3)	76(1.4)
Poland Portugal	89 (1.1) 96 (0.5)	90 (0.5) 96 (0.6)	79 (1.5) 95 (0.5)	77 (0.9) 93 (0.6)	77 (1.3) 92 (0.6)	63(1.4) 80(1.1)	74 (1.7) 76 (0.9)	58 (1.0) 69 (1.4)	74 (2.1) 82 (0.9)	63 (1.1) 75 (1.2)	81(1.1) 84(0.8)	64 (1.3) 64 (1.4)	70(1.4) 48(1.1)	58(1.3) 41(1.5)
Russian Federation	88 (0.8)	90 (1.2)	87 (0.8)	90 (1.0)	80(1.5)	76(1.8)	78 (1.2)	80 (1.5)	45(1.2)	37 (2.2)	66(1.3)	66 (1.5)	64(1.8)	69(1.5)
Slovenia	92 (0.6)	90 (1.3)	80 (1.0)	77 (1.3)	78(1.0)	61(1.3)	57 (1.0)	54 (1.4)	80(1.1)	75 (1.3)	64(1.2)	55 (1.4)	35(1.2)	29(1.6)
Sweden Switzerland (German)	91 (1.1) 91 (1.0)	91 (0.9) 92 (1.1)	84 (1.4) 83 (1.0)	77 (1.4) 85 (1.6)	73 (1.5) 64 (1.7)	65 (1.8) 59 (3.1)	76 (1.6) 78 (1.3)	71 (1.5) 76 (2.5)	61 (1.2) 77 (1.0)	53 (1.7) 72 (2.9)	42(2.0) 49(1.8)	14 (1.0) 29 (2.3)	57 (1.8) 43 (2.0)	63(1.8) 53(3.7)
International Sample ¹	91 (0.2)	90 (0.2)	83 (0.3)	82 (0.3)	79(0.3)	64 (0.4)	72 (0.3)	66 (0.4)	68 (0.4)	63 (0.4)	63(0.4)	47 (0.4)	53 (0.4)	55(0.5)
() Standard errors app	ear in parer	itheses. Pen	centages bas	ed on valid r	esponses.									

1 International mean (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries. International mean (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Country	Learned about Voting (%)	Expected to Vote (%)
Chile	67	79
Cyprus	59	93
Czech Republic	37	80
Denmark	64	97
Estonia	57	87
Israel	49	89
Latvia	51	79
Norway	76	92
Poland	58	92
Portugal	41	93
Russian Federation	69	93
Slovenia	29	85
Sweden	63	89
Switzerland (German)	53	42

Table 7.2 Upper Secondary Students Who Reported That They Had Learned about Voting in School and Who Expected to Vote

Also, and again similar to the findings from the upper secondary students, only slightly more than half of the younger students (53 percent) indicated that in school they had learned about the importance of voting.

However, there were also differences between the two age groups. One of the most notable was the finding that while 63 percent of the 14-year-olds 'agreed' or 'strongly agreed' that in school they had learned to be a patriotic and loyal citizen, only 47 percent of the upper secondary students agreed with this statement. This finding seems consistent with the older students generally reporting lower levels of trust in government-related institutions and less positive attitudes toward their nation than the 14-year-olds (see Chapter 5).

Analysis by gender

There was substantial agreement between males and females on the extent to which they had learned in school about the importance of voting. However, in over half of the countries, significantly higher percentages of females than males indicated that in school they had learned to understand people who have different ideas. In fact, wherever differences were found, they were found in the direction of higher percentages of females than males agreeing with the statement (Table 7.3). Interestingly, females were also more likely than males to express positive attitudes toward immigrants. (See chapter 5.)

3. Open Classroom Climate for Discussion

An important finding from the 1971 IEA Civic Education Study was that students' beliefs that they were encouraged to speak openly in class was a potent predictor of their knowledge of and support for democratic values (Torney, Oppenheim, & Farnen, 1975). This relationship was also clear in the findings from the 14-year-olds tested in 1999. Here, students' perceptions of an open classroom climate for discussion was a predictor of both civic knowledge and civic engagement in most of the 28 participating countries.

The scale that was developed and used for both the 14-year-old and the upper secondary students included 12 items (many of which were adapted from the 1971 study). It included items related to classroom climate for open discussion

				Perce	ntage of Students Who	'Agreed' or '	Strongly A	greed' with the Stateme	ent'		
Country	In school I [†] to underst: who have ide	nave learned and people different	In school I ha to cooper groups wit studei	ave learned rate in th other nts	In school I have learned to contribute to solving problems in the community	In school I ha to be a pa and loyal ci my cour	ve learned triotic tizen of ntry	In school I have learned how to act to protect the environment	In school I have learned to be concerned about what happens in other countries	In school I have lear about the importan of voting in nation. and local election	ned ice al
	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females Males	Females	Males	Females Males	Females Males	Females Ma	les
Chile	▲ 95 (0.5)	92 (0.5)	96 (0.5)	94 (0.6)	▲ 76 (1.3) 71 (1.0)	73(1.6)	72 (1.4)	71 (1.4) 69 (1.3)	63 (1.4) 60 (1.2)	70 (1.8) 63 (1	1.7)
Cyprus	▲ 90 (1.1)	83 (1.8)	92 (1.1)	86 (1.7)	73 (2.1) 74 (2.0)	79(2.1)	73 (2.6)	71 (2.7) 68 (2.3)	59 (2.4) 63 (1.8)	56 (3.0) 61 (1	(6.1
Czech Republic	68 (1.5)	64 (1.6)	▲ 90 (0.9)	85 (1.2)	56 (1.9) 54 (1.3)	34(1.8)	36 (1.6)	59 (1.9) 54 (1.7)	▲ 57 (1.8) 44 (1.5)	36 (1.8) 38 (1	L.7)
Denmark	82 (1.2)	78 (1.4)	93 (0.9)	90 (1.3)	63 (1.4) 68 (1.6)	21(1.1)	22 (1.1)	54 (1.3) 58 (1.6)	88 (1.0) 84 (1.2)	64 (1.8) 64 (]	(6.1
Estonia	86 (0.9)	81 (1.6)	94 (0.7)	91 (1.1)	35 (1.7) 43 (2.6)	36(1.8)	39 (1.8)	68 (1.8) 63 (2.1)	75 (1.2) 72 (1.7)	58 (2.1) 57 (2	2.1)
Israel	72 (1.2)	71 (1.2)	▲ 82 (1.1)	77 (1.2)	66 (1.4) 63 (1.4)	43(1.7)	47 (1.8)	46 (1.5) 47 (1.5)	46 (1.5) 46 (1.4)	47 (1.7) 50 (1	l.4)
Latvia	84 (1.8)	79 (3.3)	91 (1.7)	86 (2.2)	72 (2.2) 66 (3.4)	42 (2.6)	48 (2.2)	64 (2.2) 62 (2.3)	73 (1.6) 69 (2.6)	51 (2.6) 51 (3	3.7)
Norway	▲ 86 (1.3)	75 (2.2)	▲ 95 (0.6)	88 (1.5)	63 (2.1) 60 (2.0)	37(1.7)	39 (2.1)	68 (1.6) 66 (1.8)	▲ 76 (1.6) 65 (2.0)	78 (1.6) 73 (2	2.1)
Poland	▲ 82 (1.1)	72 (1.3)	▲ 92 (0.7)	88 (0.8)	65 (1.3) 60 (1.5)	65(1.8)	63 (1.7)	▲ 67 (1.9) 59 (1.6)	▲ 61 (1.3) 55 (1.6)	59 (1.7) 58 (1	L.7)
Portugal	▲ 95 (0.6)	91 (1.0)	▲ 98 (0.5)	93 (1.1)	▲ 78 (1.5) 71 (1.8)	▲ 68(1.7)	59 (1.7)	▲ 83 (1.4) 75 (1.5)	72 (2.0) 65 (1.7)	41 (1.9) 41 (2	2.0)
Russian Federation	90 (1.4)	89 (1.4)	91 (1.0)	89 (1.9)	37 (2.7) 38 (2.7)	66 (2.1)	65 (2.8)	79 (1.5) 70 (2.7)	81 (1.7) 78 (2.4)	71 (1.7) 67 (2	2.0)
Slovenia	▲ 81 (1.5)	73 (1.3)	91 (1.8)	88 (1.1)	▲ 79 (1.6) 70 (1.7)	55(1.9)	56 (1.6)	63 (1.6) 59 (1.7)	57 (1.8) 50 (1.7)	29 (2.1) 29 (]	L.7)
Sweden	▲ 80 (1.2)	72 (2.5)	92 (1.0)	90 (1.2)	52 (1.9) 54 (2.6)	▲ 10(1.3)	17 (1.5)	63 (2.2) 67 (1.9)	▲ 76 (1.8) 66 (2.4)	63 (2.2) 63 (2	2.4)
Switzerland (German)	▲ 83 (1.2)	71 (2.5)	93 (1.6)	89 (1.2)	69 (3.8) 77 (4.2)	26(2.8)	33 (3.5)	57 (4.1) 62 (3.5)	78 (2.3) 73 (4.3)	51 (5.5) 57 (3	3.0)
International Sample ¹	84 (0.3)	78 (0.5)	92 (0.3)	88 (0.4)	63 (0.5) 62 (0.6)	47(0.5)	48 (0.5)	65 (0.6) 63 (0.5)	69 (0.5) 64 (0.6)	55 (0.7) 55 (((9.0
() Standard errors app	ear in parenth€	sses. Percenta	ages based on ve	alid response	s.						

Table 7.3 Gender Differences in What Students Believe They Had Learned in School

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Gender difference statistically significant at .05 level.
 International mean is based on 14 countries.

as well as the emphasis that teachers place on factual learning, and also items related to the students' perceptions of rigorous instruction from their teachers. A confirmatory factor analysis revealed a six-item classroom climate factor about openness of the classroom for discussion and a smaller factor related to the emphasis placed on factual knowledge. The factual knowledge items did not scale to IEA standards, and thus are not presented in this report.

The six items on the Open Classroom Climate for Discussion Scale were: (1) students feel free to disagree openly with teachers about political/social issues in class; (2) students are encouraged to make up their own minds about issues; (3) teachers respect our opinions and encourage us to express them in class; (4) students feel free to express opinions in class even when their opinions are different from those of most other students; (5) teachers encourage us to discuss political or social issues about which people have different opinions; and (6) teachers present several sides of an issue when explaining it in class. The response scale was 'never', 'rarely', 'sometimes', and 'often'.

Results from the upper secondary students

In general, the upper secondary students seemed to feel free to discuss issues and express their opinions in their classrooms. However, there was substantial variation in terms of the individual items in the scale. For example, across all countries, slightly less than half of the students responded that they were often encouraged to make up their own minds about issues and that they felt free to express opinions even when their opinions differed from those of their classmates. However, a much smaller percentage (about 20) of the students indicated that they were often encouraged by their teachers to discuss political or social issues about which people have different opinions. In fact, close to 10 percent of the students across countries said they were never encouraged to discuss these kinds of issues in their classrooms. The international item frequencies can be found in Appendix Figure B.2k.

As reported in Figure 7.3, there was also variation across countries. Students in Denmark, Estonia, Norway, the Russian Federation, Sweden, and Switzerland (German) were especially likely to report an open classroom climate for discussion. In contrast, students in Chile, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Israel, Poland, Portugal, and Slovenia had scores below the international mean on this scale.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

In most of the countries where comparisons could be made, the upper secondary students were significantly more likely than the 14-year-olds to perceive that their classroom climate was open for discussion. These countries, as is evident from Figure 7.3, were the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Latvia, Norway, Portugal, the Russian Federation, Sweden, and Switzerland (German). In only one country—Poland—were the 14-year-olds more likely than the upper secondary students to report an open classroom climate. The reason for the greater openness in most countries may be because the objectives and topics of older students' courses are more likely to be appropriate for discussion than are the courses for younger students, which leads the former group to perceive that the classroom climate itself is more open for discussion.

Analysis by gender

In every country but three, the upper secondary female students were significantly more likely than the male students to report an open climate for classroom discussion (see Figure 7.4). The only countries where this finding did not hold true were Cyprus, Denmark, and Switzerland (German). This finding is similar to the age 14 results in this area: in 23 of the 28 participating countries, 14-year-old females were more likely than the males to see the classroom climate as open. An interesting follow-up to this finding would be to investigate the extent to which females are more likely than males to actually engage in classroom discussions, particularly on issues where their teachers or classmates are likely to hold differing views.

4. Participation in Civic-Related Organizations

During the first phase of the IEA Study, the national researchers expressed the belief that organizations—both in and out of school—provide students with valuable opportunities to learn about democratic processes. A number of studies in the United States that have used longitudinal data to trace the links between civic and/or school activities during adolescence and community

Country	14-year-olds	Upper Secondary Students	8	10	12
Chile	▲ 10.3 (0.07)	▼ 10.3 (0.06)			
Cyprus	▲ 10.4 (0.05)	▼ 10.2 (0.07)			
Czech Republic	▼ 9.5 (0.08)	▼ 9.9 (0.06)			
Denmark	10.0 (0.06)	▲ 11.3 (0.07)	Δ	-9	
Estonia	▼ 9.7 (0.07)	▲ 11.2 (0.07)		0	
Israel ¹	n.a. n.a.	▼ 10.1 (0.05)		•	
Latvia	▼ 9.6 (0.06)	10.3 (0.14)	Δ		
Norway	▲ 10.6 (0.06)	▲ 11.2 (0.07)	Δ	<u>Р</u>	
Poland	▲ 10.4 (0.09)	▼ 10.0 (0.06)	Δ	●IO	
Portugal	▼ 9.7 (0.05)	▼ 9.9 (0.04)	$-\Delta$		
Russian Federation	10.1 (0.08)	▲ 11.1 (0.11)	Δ		•
Slovenia	▼ 9.3 (0.04)	▼ 9.5 (0.07)		(P)	
Sweden	▲ 10.2 (0.07)	▲ 11.0 (0.08)	$-\Delta$	M H	
Switzerland (German)	▲ 10.6 (0.09)	▲ 11.3 (0.18)	Δ		•
International Mean ²	10.0 (0.02)	10.5 (0.02)			
 () Standard errors apper Country mean for 14-y international mean base Country mean for upper than international mean 	ear in parentheses. ear-olds significantly higher th ed on 13 country means. r secondary students significan n based on 14 country means.	an $\vdash \ominus \downarrow =$ ntly higher \bigtriangleup	Mean 14-year-old st Mean upper seconda Population differenc	udents (± 2 SE). ary school students (± 2 s e statistically significant	SE). at .05 level.
Country mean for 14-ye international mean base	ear-olds significantly lower tha ed on 13 country means.	an			
Country mean for uppe than international mean	r secondary students significar n based on 14 country means.	ntly lower			
1 Israel did not partici	pate in the 14-year-old s	study.			
2 International mean (1	L4-year-olds) is based o	n 13 countries. Inter	national mean (up	per secondary student	ts) is based
on 14 countries.					

Figure 7.3 Perceptions of Open Classroom Climate for Discussion

Country	Mean F	emales	Mean N	lales		8	1	0	12
Chile	10.4	(0.08)	10.1	(0.06)					
Cyprus	10.3	(0.09)	10.2	(0.08)				<>	
Czech Republic	10.3	(0.08)	9.5	(0.07)			\rightarrow		
Denmark	11.4	(0.08)	11.2	(0.08)				\wedge	
Estonia	11.4	(0.08)	10.9	(0.10)				$ \Diamond \bullet $	
Israel	10.3	(0.06)	9.9	(0.07)			Ŕ		
Latvia	10.7	(0.15)	9.8	(0.14)			\rightarrow	+ + • +	
Norway	11.4	(0.07)	10.9	(0.10)					
Poland	10.2	(0.09)	9.8	(0.08)			∕>∣	•	
Portugal	10.2	(0.05)	9.6	(0.05)			\Diamond	•	
Russian Federation	11.4	(0.11)	10.7	(0.14)					
Slovenia	9.7	(0.09)	9.2	(0.07)					
Sweden	11.4	(0.09)	10.5	(0.11)				\bowtie	
Switzerland (German)	11.3	(0.22)	11.3	(0.25)				- `> -	-
() Standard errors appe	ear in paren	theses.							
Gender difference sta at .05 level.	tistically sign	ificant	$ -\bullet- = N$ $ -\diamond- = N$	/lean for Fen /lean for Ma	nales (± 2 SE). les (± 2 SE).				

Figure 7.4 Gender Differences in Perceptions of Open Classroom Climate for Discussion

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

involvement during adulthood support this view (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 141, for a review of the literature). Thus, learning about students' participation in clubs, youth organizations, and other activities is important to a holistic view of young people's civic knowledge and engagement. Simply put, in addition to asking what civic activities students plan to engage in in the future, the Phase 2 researchers wanted to know what activities presently were engaging students. To that end, a list of voluntary organizations inside and outside of school to which students might belong was developed. Care was taken to ensure that the list was applicable across the range of countries in the study, and some language adaptations were made (e.g., 'school parliament' for 'school council'). To get a picture of peer group activity outside of formal organizations, students additionally were asked about how much time they spent informally with their friends, both after school and in the evening.

Results from the upper secondary students

The international percentages from the participating countries revealed somewhat low rates of student participation in selected civic-related organizations and activities. As can be seen in Table 7.4, between 5 to 33 percent of the students reported participation in a student council/parliament, a youth organization affiliated with a political party, an environmental organization, a human rights organization, a community group, or a charity that collects money for a social cause. Of these activities, the highest percentages of students (slightly over 30 percent) indicated that they were involved with a student council/parliament and collecting money for a social cause, whereas the lowest percentage of students (5 percent) indicated that they belonged to a human rights organization. Collecting money for a social cause was an activity that was especially prevalent in two countries—Denmark (71%) and Norway (80%).

Despite the relatively low aggregate participation percentages, it is interesting to look at the participation rates in individual countries. The percentages likely reflect national differences in opportunities available to young people, historic priorities, and national norms and customs. For example, while 67 percent of the students in Cyprus reported participating in a student council/parliament, only 9 percent of the students in Poland did so. And while, across countries, involvement in youth organizations affiliated with a political party or union was quite low (10 percent), in Cyprus, 34 percent of the students indicated their participation in such organizations. These variations can be found in all categories. For example, in most countries, fewer than 20 percent of the students reported participation in an environmental organization. This did not hold true in Portugal, however, where 25 percent of the students participated in environmental organizations. One of the most striking differences can be seen in the students' reports of their involvement with groups conducting voluntary activities in the community. While close to half of the students in Chile and Israel said that they participated in community volunteer activities, less than 10 percent said this in Estonia, Poland, the Russian Federation, and Sweden. Finally, as noted above, collecting money for a charity was quite high in Denmark and Norway, but quite low in Estonia, Latvia, Poland, and the Russian Federation. In general, participation in all organizations was low in these four countries, particularly in Poland, where less than 10 percent of the students indicated participation in any of the organizations reported here. This could be, however, a reflection of the particular organizations reported on in this volume.

Analysis of 14-year-olds' and upper secondary students' results

Within countries, the responses from the 14-year-old students were generally similar to those of the older students (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). For example, as was the case with the older students, the 14-year-olds in Cyprus reported the highest percentage of membership in youth organizations affiliated with political parties. Similarly, collecting money for charities was high among both younger and older students in Denmark and Norway and low among both groups of students in Estonia, Poland, and the Russian Federation.

SUMMARY

The upper secondary students generally expressed high levels of confidence in the effectiveness of participating in school and indicated that they felt free to discuss issues and offer opinions in their classrooms. This is an important finding given that previous research (including findings from the 14-year-olds tested in 1999) suggests a link between open classroom climate and civic knowledge and engagement.

There are, however, national differences in these areas as well as substantial gender differences. In many of the participating countries, female students expressed higher levels of confidence in school participation than did the males, and also perceived more often than males that their classrooms were open for discussion. Furthermore, female students were more likely than male students to report that in school they had learned to understand people who

	F	Percentage of S	Students Who Re	ported Having I	Participated in	
Country	a student council/student government/class or school parliament	a youth organization affiliated with a political party or union	a political environmental organization	a human rights organization	a group conducting voluntary activities to help the community	a charity collecting money for a social cause
Chile	14 (0.6)	7 (0.5)	18 (0.9)	3 (0.3)	45 (1.1)	24 (0.8)
Cyprus	67 (1.6)	34 (1.4)	21 (1.6)	12 (1.0)	26 (1.7)	43 (2.3)
Czech Republic	19 (1.1)	4 (0.8)	12 (0.8)	1 (0.3)	25 (1.2)	16 (1.0)
Denmark	50 (1.1)	9 (0.7)	9 (0.7)	7 (0.6)	39 (1.0)	71 (1.1)
Estonia	29 (1.2)	6 (0.9)	7 (0.8)	2 (0.4)	9 (0.9)	6 (0.7)
Israel	48 (1.0)	23 (1.0)	15 (0.7)	9 (0.6)	46 (1.1)	51 (1.0)
Latvia	20 (1.3)	2 (0.3)	5 (0.6)	5 (0.8)	10 (1.0)	5 (0.6)
Norway	53 (1.2)	14 (1.2)	15 (1.2)	6 (0.6)	21 (1.1)	80 (1.3)
Poland	9 (0.6)	1 (0.2)	7 (0.9)	1 (0.2)	6 (0.5)	9 (0.8)
Portugal	36 (1.2)	6 (0.6)	25 (1.2)	7 (0.8)	22 (1.0)	37 (1.4)
Russian Federation	47 (2.1)	2 (0.5)	10 (1.8)	4 (0.5)	9 (1.8)	7 (1.0)
Slovenia	11 (1.0)	3 (0.4)	10 (0.6)	5 (0.7)	20 (1.1)	30 (1.0)
Sweden	45 (1.2)	15 (1.3)	14 (1.2)	10 (0.9)	8 (0.8)	21 (1.0)
Switzerland (German)	16 (4.6)	9 (0.8)	8 (1.4)	3 (0.6)	26 (3.1)	35 (4.7)
International Sample ¹	33 (0.5)	10 (0.2)	13 (0.3)	5 (0.2)	22 (0.4)	31 (0.4)
() Standard errors appe	ear in parenthese	es. Percentages	based on valid re	esponses.		

Table 7.4 Students' Reports on Their Participation in Civic-Related Organizations

1 International mean is based on 13 countries.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

have different ideas. (This latter finding seems consistent with the finding reported in Chapter 5 that females were more likely than males to support the rights of immigrants.) This gender difference may be a reflection of differences in the ways in which males and females respond to surveys or it may be that females feel more engaged and comfortable in the school environment than do males. The gender difference on the items relating to the school environment was found at both the lower and upper secondary levels and warrants further investigation.

In terms of participation in both in-school and out-of-school activities, national norms and traditions appear to play a large role. For example, the long tradition of joining organizations in the Nordic countries was reflected in the responses of the students from Denmark, Norway, and Sweden. Similarly, the high participation rate of the Israeli students in all organizations reported in this volume likely reflects cultural or national norms and practices. While the participation in these school and community activities may vary in meaning and opportunity from country to country, it enhances our understanding of adolescents to know not only what they plan to do as adults, but also what activities they currently engage in. Note, however, that only those activities and organizations that loosely fit the definition of being civicrelated are reported in this and the 14-year-old volumes. Students also were asked about their participation in other activities, such as sports and scouting, and these data will be available for secondary analysis. In summary, students are members of both a school community and a broader social network. Their opportunities for and willingness to engage in political discussions and civic activities may predict their activities as adults. The similarities between the responses of the 14-year-olds and the upper secondary students are particularly interesting, and it may be that engaging students early on is beneficial to both their future and current levels of civic knowledge, skills, and engagement.



A Model for Explaining Students' Civic Knowledge and Engagement

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO THE CORRELATES OF CIVIC KNOWLEDGE AND ENGAGEMENT

- At upper secondary school level, the learning environments of homes play the most important role in students' acquisition of civic knowledge and skills. Upper secondary students from more educated and not very large families who reported higher exposure to books at home had considerably higher knowledge scores.
- More knowledgeable upper secondary students who knew about the functioning and the values of democracy, who showed interest in politics, and who reported having learned about the importance of voting at school were more willing to participate in future elections.
- Democratic practices and civic activities at school play an important role in the civic education process. Encouragement of open classroom climate for discussion accounted for higher knowledge scores in almost half

of the countries. Upper secondary students who reported participation in a school council or parliament performed considerably better than other students in the civic knowledge test.

- Among the older adolescents, gender accounted for strong and significant differences in the overall performance on the civic knowledge test. Female students scored lower than males in at least 10 countries. At the same time, girls expressed greater willingness than boys to vote in about one quarter of the countries.
- Reading of news in the newspaper was more important than watching news on television for a better performance on the civic knowledge test. However, in the majority of countries, watching news programs on television accounted for more positive effects on the intention to vote.

The country differences described in the previous chapters present a useful view of civic education. However, a fuller understanding of the differences in student outcomes arising out of the civic education cognitive and attitudinal testing can be achieved by examining the relative importance of school and socioeconomic background factors. The explanatory power of selected student characteristics is also useful in predicting civic achievement.

The report for the 14-year-olds (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, & Schulz, 2001, Chapter 8) presented a multiple regression model focusing on between-student differences across and within countries in two important dimensions of citizenship—civic knowledge and civic engagement. The major aim of the model was to analyze the main factors relating to civic educational outcomes, whereas more elaborate investigation of the complex interactions between civic knowledge, engagement, and attitudes was to be conducted in later analysis.

This chapter contains a similar analysis of civic knowledge and civic engagement for students at the upper secondary level. Its primary purpose is to present a multiple regression model designed to give estimates of the balance of home, school, and individual factors on a cross-national comparative basis, and also to indicate the specific characteristics important for explaining the acquisition of civic knowledge and students' intention to participate in elections within the individual countries. The analysis of these two dimensions of civic education—civic knowledge and civic engagement—was based on the fully weighted population samples of 13 countries out of 16 that tested upper secondary students. The population samples of Colombia, Hong Kong (SAR), and Switzerland (German) were not included in the regression model. The availability of unweighted data was the reason for excluding Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR), whereas for Switzerland (German) it was due to a great amount of missing information in the predictor variables used in the regressions, which would have led to an immense reduction of the effective population size for this country.

The regression analysis provided in this volume includes a slightly different selection of predictor variables than did the model in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al. (2001). We have included here four additional predictors: political interest, frequency of reading news in the newspaper, educational level of parents, and family size. From a developmental perspective, upper secondary students, who are the target population in this report, are expected to have a greater in-depth understanding of civic-related concepts and to be more mature in their civic attitudes and behaviors than are younger secondary students. It was therefore expected that the older students in the Civic Education Study would be more likely than the 14-year-old students to express an interest in politics and to read newspapers. (This is, in fact, what we found and reported in Chapter 6 of this volume.)

We were also interested in examining more explicitly the relationship between social background and student performance. An understanding of this relationship is a useful starting point for analysis of the distribution of educational opportunities. From a school policy perspective, understanding of the relationship is also important because it indicates how equitably the benefits of schooling are being shared among students from different socioeconomic backgrounds. In the volume of findings from the 14-year-olds (see Chapter 8 in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001), the social background factor was captured by one predictor only-home literacy resources. It turned out to be the second largest predictor of civic knowledge. The more books that 14-year-olds reported having in their house, the higher their level of civic competency. In this model, we added to home literacy resources the educational level of parents as proxies for socioeconomic status and cultural resources, thereby allowing us to examine more explicitly the influence of the home. Apart from that we were interested in exploring, on a cross-national basis, the relationship between school achievement and family structure. The factor 'family size' was included in the model on the assumption, as based on previous research, that students from larger families tend to have lower school achievement than those from smaller family structures. To give one example, in a recent study in Germany, Lehmann and Peek (1997) found that the more children living in the family, the lower the mean school achievement of the individual child. Undoubtedly, this factor may have different interpretations in the different countries included in the model, depending on their economic, cultural, historical, or educational situation. In countries with lower economic development, it is more likely to be a proxy for socioeconomic status than it is in economically developed countries. Nonetheless, it was assumed that, in
general, individuals living in larger family structures would be more likely to have fewer academic and economic resources at their disposal than those in smaller families. Therefore, family size is treated in the model as an indicator for socioeconomic and educational resources at one's disposal in the family. In the present study, the factor 'family size' was measured by the students' reports on the number of people living in their house. Hence, it was not possible to differentiate families with more children from families with other members living in the family, such as grandparents. It was possible, however, to explore, from a more general perspective, the relationship between large family structures and student mean achievement in the civic knowledge test.

THE MODEL

A detailed description of the variables included in the multivariate regression analysis is given in Panel 8.1. As already stated, the two dependent variables or criteria whose variance was to be explained by the regression model are *civic knowledge* and *civic engagement*. The former was measured by the total score based on knowledge of civic content and skills in interpreting civic communication. The latter was measured by the students' reports on their willingness to participate in national elections. In short, the 'total test score' in this chapter (and in Chapter 3 as well) is a comprehensive variable measuring the students' overall performance on two out of the three sub-dimensions that were tested in the present study.

The two criteria, civic knowledge and civic engagement, were linked to several explanatory factors that could be grouped together in four main blocks of predictors: background factors, school factors, mass media, and students' activities out of school (or peer-group activities). In addition to these independent factors, we were interested, as was the case in the younger population study, in analyzing the impact of civic knowledge on the students' expressed willingness to vote. One of the major findings in the study of the 14-year-old students was the strong relationship between their civic competency and their expectations to vote. The more young people knew about the values and functioning of democracy, and of democratic institutions and citizenship, the more they were willing to exercise their fundamental right to vote.

The extent to which civic knowledge predicts other types of civic engagement, as well as the extent to which civic engagement predicts civic knowledge, will be examined in a later, more elaborate analysis. In this model it was not possible to investigate the influence of civic engagement on civic knowledge, for the reason that, here, civic engagement was captured by the students' reports on their willingness to participate in elections. This variable, as defined in the student questionnaire, implies an expected single, personal action. It could not be treated, however, either as an established behavior pattern, or as an already completed experience. In this sense, it cannot, theoretically, serve as a predictor of civic knowledge.

Four background factors were included in the model presented in this chapter: gender, home literacy resources, educational level of parents, and family size. The analysis of social background effects, such as ethnic group, could not be

PANEL 8.1 Description of Variables Included in the Model

The dependent variables or criteria are (i) the total test score for civic knowledge, and (ii) the expectation of students that they will vote in the future.

The independent variables or predictors included in the model were:

- 1. Background factors
- Gender: This variable was coded 0 for males and 1 for females.
- *Home literacy resources:* This variable was measured by students' reports on the number of books at home. It was coded 1 for fewer than 11 books at home, 2 for about one shelf (11 to 50 books), 3 for about one bookcase full (51 to 100 books), 4 for about two bookcases (101 to 200 books), and 5 for three or more bookcases (more than 200 books). Home literacy resources was the second most important predictor of civic knowledge in the 14-year-old study.
- *Educational level of parents:* Students were asked to report their parents' level of education. This variable was coded 1 if one or both parents had a college or university degree (i.e., of a higher educational level) and 0 for parents with other educational tracks and certificates that are generally considered of a lower educational level.
- *Family size:* This variable was measured by students' reports on the number of people at home. The upper boundary was set to 20 people at home.
- 2. Background factor/school factor
- *Expected years of further education:* Measured by students' reports on their estimated years of future education, this variable was the most powerful predictor of knowledge at the 14-year-old level. In the regression model, it was coded as follows: 0 for zero years; 1 for one or two years; 2 for three or four years; 3 for five or six years; 4 for seven or eight years; 5 for nine or 10 years; and 6 for more than 10 years of further education. This variable not only indicates the individual's aspirations and parental influences, but also reflects the type of school or track the student was in.
- 3. School factors
- Open classroom climate for discussions: This is the international Rasch scale score presented in Chapter 7. The scale was based on six items reflecting students' perceptions about whether their classrooms provided open climates for discussion. The freedom of expression encouraged in the classroom was a strong predictor of civic knowledge and of support for democratic values in the 1971 IEA Civic Education Study, and was a positive predictor of both civic knowledge and of likelihood of future voting in about three-quarters of the countries in the 14-year-old study.
- *Reported participation in school council or parliament:* Participation in a school organization was positively related to civic knowledge in one-third of the countries that tested 14-year-olds. This variable was coded 1 for participants and 0 for all other students.
- *Students' reports about having learned about the importance of voting:* In the 14-year-old study, this variable was, after civic knowledge, the second most important predictor of the likelihood of participation in future voting. The response options were coded as follows: 1 'strongly disagree', 2 'disagree', 3 'agree', and 4 'strongly agree'.

4. Mass media experience

- *Frequency of watching television news*: Measured by students' reports on how often they watched news broadcasts on television, this variable had a significant positive effect on civic knowledge in about half of the countries and on the likelihood of voting in nearly all countries in the 14-year-old study. The response options were coded 0 'never', 1 'rarely', 2 'sometimes', and 3 'often'.
- Students' reports of how often they read newspaper articles about what was happening in their own country: Although students made less frequent use of newspapers than television as a source of information, we were interested in exploring the influence of newspapers on civic knowledge and civic engagement. We considered that in a multivariate analysis, these two media sources might have effects that would not manifest themselves in the reported frequencies. This variable was coded in the same manner as frequency of watching television news.

5. Students' activities out of school

- *Evenings spent outside home*: This variable, which covered time spent with peers outside the home, had a negative effect on civic-related knowledge in the study with the younger population (see Chapter 8 in Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001). The response options were 0 'never', 1 'few times each month', 2 'several days', 3 'almost every day'.
- *Students' reports about having political interest*: The inclusion of this variable was based on the assumption from previous research that political interest, especially among upper secondary students, would be one of the important predictors of civic knowledge and civic engagement. We assumed that students who did not know whether they were interested in politics were more likely to have no such interest. Therefore, the response options were coded 1 for 'strongly disagree' and 'don't know', 2 for 'disagree', 3 for 'agree', and 4 for 'strongly agree'.

used at a cross-national level because of the different response categories for these variables between countries.

The group of school factors contains four predictors: the students' reports of the extent to which there is an open climate for discussions in their classrooms; the students' reports of opportunities to learn about voting in school (in predicting likelihood of voting only); their reported participation in school councils or parliaments; and their reported expected further education. It may be worth mentioning here that, in some of the participating countries, the predictor 'expected years of further education' may also be considered as a proxy for home background because it reflects the joint impact of school and home environment.

The influence of mass media on civic knowledge and civic engagement was examined by two independent factors: frequency of watching television news and frequency of reading news in the newspaper. Only the television variable had been included for the 14-year-olds. The fourth block of factors contains two predictors addressing the influence of peer group and out-of-school experience. The two variables included were the reported time spent outside the home with peers in the evening, and the students' reports of having political interest. Only the former had been included for the 14-year-olds.

The statistical investigations done in this chapter include two separate regression analyses for each dependent variable. First, we estimated a simple path regression model for civic knowledge and a model for likelihood to vote based on the fully weighted population samples of all countries except Colombia, Hong Kong (SAR), and Switzerland (German). Second, we estimated separate regression models within each of the 13 countries. We used the program WesVar 4, using a jack-knife procedure for complex samplings, to compute the correct standard errors of the models within the individual countries, and then used the Dunn-Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons to correct the resulting test statistics.

INTERPRETING THE MODEL¹

Figures 8.1 and 8.2 show the results for the overall regression models for civic knowledge and likelihood of voting for the upper secondary students. The models presented here are full saturated regression models for civic knowledge and civic engagement. The path diagrams contain only significant beta coefficients (the path coefficients) and the total percentage of variance (R^2) explained. For civic knowledge, this model explained about 21 percent of the variance, and for likelihood of voting, about 20 percent. The variables included in the multiple regression analysis were checked for multicollinearity. There was no correlation higher than r = .35 between two predictors, which was the correlation coefficient between home literacy resources and educational level of parents. The collinearity statistics of the model showed that this amount of correlation could still be tolerated. In other words, the variable 'home literacy resources' correlated highly with the educational level of parents because both variables are indicators of the same latent factor, 'cultural/home background'. But, nevertheless, because they measure different dimensions of the latent factor, both were included in the model.

PREDICTION OF CIVIC KNOWLEDGE

Predictors of Civic Knowledge in the Sample Containing 13 Countries

The most important predictor of civic knowledge in the presented path model for upper secondary students (estimation is based on the standardized beta coefficients) turned out to be home literacy resources, as indicated by the associated path coefficient of .18 in the overall model for civic knowledge (Figure 8.1). (The strong positive relationship between number of books at home—considered as a proxy for the emphasis placed on education as well as for the academic support in the family—and the students' civic outcomes in

¹ When interpreting the results from this multivariate data analysis, it is important to keep in mind the same caveats as those in the report for the 14-year-olds (Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, p. 149).

Figure 8.1 Path Model for Civic Knowledge



Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.





Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

the cognitive test was discussed in the bivariate analysis in Chapter 3.) The multivariate regression analysis not only confirmed the findings of the bivariate comparison but also showed that home cultural resources play an even more important role in students' acquisition of civic competency at upper secondary level than do the aspects of the school included in this analysis. The findings from the 14-year-old study that students from homes with low educational support have lower knowledge scores and that higher exposure to books at home accounts for higher scores in the civic knowledge test have, in this sense, not only been replicated with the upper secondary students, but also, or so it appears, are at least as significant.

The second largest predictor of civic knowledge in the model was the number of years of further education that the students expected to undertake (.14). The amount of education expected by the students would have reflected, in varying degrees, their educational tracks, self-concept, and external constraints. In some countries this factor may be seen as a strong indicator of home background as well. Certainly, it was the strongest predictor of civic-related knowledge in the 14-year-old study. However, on taking into account the selective nature of the upper secondary sample discussed in Chapters 2 and 3 of this report, we could relate the decreased explanatory power of expected years of further education to the possible homogenizing effects of specific factors in some countries.

Educational level of parents as well as family size-the other two predictors reflecting home background effects in the model-showed the third strongest effect (.13) on the students' knowledge outcome. There was a significant difference between the scores of students from more and less educated families. Moreover, as assumed, the more people there were at home, the lower the achievement in the civic knowledge test. This finding corresponds to the results of the 1971 IEA Civic Education Study where size of family was consistently negatively related to civic knowledge. Although this negative relationship between larger family structure and civic competency is likely to mean different things in different countries, a possible explanation for it could be that larger family structures are more likely to possess fewer academic and economic resources than smaller families. The conclusion that we can draw from the fact that all factors measuring socioeconomic background and home environment explained the highest amount of variance among the achievement scores for the upper secondary students is this: the learning environments of homes have a strong influence on student civic competency at upper secondary school level.

In contrast to the study of the 14-year-olds, where gender differences played only a minor role in the regression, the study of the upper secondary students revealed gender to be an important predictor, accounting for a considerable amount of the variance (.09). The resulting statistics showed female students scoring significantly lower than males in terms of overall performance in the civic knowledge test.

The school factors—students' perception of an open classroom climate for discussion (.08) and students' reported participation in a school council or

parliament (.07)—were two other factors accounting for large effects on students' civic knowledge outcomes in the model. Although these effects were not as strong as the impact of home background factors, they still had, to a considerable extent, a significant and important influence on students' acquisition of civic-related competency. Thus, individuals perceiving their classroom environment to be open for discussion or for expressing their opinions freely tended to achieve higher levels of civic knowledge scores than did those perceiving no such environment in the classroom. This finding replicates the results in the 14-year-old study and underlines the important role that schools play in fostering civic knowledge. Another strong positive predictor of civic cognitive achievement at the upper secondary school level, which was explicitly defined as a school factor, was participation in a school organization. Here, and unlike the findings for the 14-year-olds, the upper secondary students who reported participation in a school council or parliament, that is, engaged in civic activities at their school, achieved considerably higher civic knowledge scores than did those students who reported no such participation.

In regard to the impact of exposure to mass media, the frequency of reading news in the newspaper was found to have a considerable positive relationship to performance on the civic knowledge test (.08). In comparison, the effect of exposure to television news on performance was found to be almost insignificant. Spending evenings outside home with peers had a significant negative effect on the students' civic achievement. This finding replicates the results for the 14-year-olds.

As assumed, in the overall model for civic knowledge, we found a strong positive relationship between expressed political interest and civic knowledge. Those students who reported that they were interested in politics achieved accordingly higher test scores than the other students. We can assume as well that students with higher levels of civic knowledge would be more likely to be politically interested and engaged than those scoring lower. In any respect, this finding reinforces the importance of high-quality civic education programs at school that motivate and stimulate students' interest in civic-related issues.

Predictors of Civic Knowledge within Individual Countries

Table 8.1 reports separately by country the results for each of the variables entered into the regression for civic knowledge. Only the significant beta coefficients are included in the table. The total percentage of variance explained differed greatly among the countries, ranging from 10 percent in Estonia to 27 percent in Chile and Norway; the median was 23 percent.

Table 8.1 shows that home literacy resources was consistently related to civic achievement in all but two of the countries (Cyprus and the Russian Federation) that were included in the model. The effect of cultural resources was strongest in Chile (.15), Norway (.17), and Sweden (.20), where the scores of those students who reported having the highest number of books at home were around two to four points higher than the scores of those students reporting lower numbers.

In general, no one significant predictor came through consistently in all 13 countries included in the regression analysis of upper secondary students' civic knowledge. The educational level of parents was found to be significant in all but one country (Norway). Its effect was strongest in Chile, Israel, and the Russian Federation. Students from more educated families in these countries performed six to seven score points higher than did the other students. Students from larger families performed less well in about half of the countries. In Israel, family size was the second largest predictor of civic knowledge, after years of further education.

Expected years of further education was significant in predicting differences in students' civic knowledge in all countries except Estonia, the Russian Federation, and Sweden. In eight out of 13 countries, however, it appeared as the most important predictor of civic knowledge. In the Czech Republic, it was associated with a beta coefficient of .38, in Cyprus with .30, in Chile with .27, and in Norway with .26. This variable reflects the influence of home background as well as the role of school or a student's educational track. Hence, its strong effect in almost two-thirds of the countries demonstrates that both the students' school environment or school program and the academic support at their homes are important for scoring higher levels of civic knowledge.

Gender (female) was consistently negatively related to civic knowledge, with males scoring better than females in all countries except Cyprus, Latvia, and Slovenia. Considerable differences between males and females were evident in Denmark, where it was the strongest predictor (.20), in Norway (.18), and in Portugal (.17). Somewhat less but still strong was the difference in civic competency between males and females in the Czech Republic (.12), the Russian Federation (.11), and Chile and Sweden (.10).

Encouragement of open classroom climate for discussions accounted for higher knowledge scores in seven out of the 13 countries, most notably in Latvia (.20), the Russian Federation (.18), and Sweden (.17). In Latvia, perception of open classroom climate proved to be the second strongest predictor in the model. Those students who reported participation in a school council or parliament performed better in Cyprus and Sweden.

Spending evenings outside home with peers had consistently negative effects on knowledge in all nine countries where it was a significant predictor. The negative relationship was especially notable in Cyprus, Estonia, Latvia, and Poland. In these four countries, it was the factor that had the strongest negative effect. Reported interest in politics accounted for significant positive effects on students' civic competency in all countries, except Poland and Slovenia. Sudents who reported being politically interested showed higher levels of civic competency, most notably in Denmark, Norway, and Sweden.

Frequency of watching television news had a significant positive relationship to civic knowledge only in Slovenia. In spite of this, in this country it came through as the most important positive predictor of civic achievement. Frequency of reading news in the newspaper accounted for more knowledgeable students in about three of the 13 countries, especially in Israel.

Within Individual C	ountrie	s		age of	σμμει	Jecond	uuciits	
			ic					ration

Table 8.1. Repression Models for Civic Knowledge of Unner Secondary Students

Predictor Variables	Chile	Cyprus	Czech Republic	Denmark	Estonia	Israel	Latvia	Norway	Poland	Portugal	Russian Federati	Slovenia	Sweden
Gender (Female)	10	_	12	20	08	06	-	18	09	17	11	-	10
Number of People	07	-	-	-	-	20	08	-	09	06	-	-	15
Home Literacy Resources	.15	_	.13	.13	.11	.10	.09	.17	.15	.10	_	.14	.20
Educational Level of Parents	.15	.12	.07	.10	.12	.16	.10	-	.10	.10	.14	.10	.13
Expected Years of Education	.27	.30	.38	.17	-	.21	.23	.26	.24	.24	_	.12	-
Open Classroom Climate	_	_	_	_	.07	.07	.20	-	-	.07	.18	.12	.17
Student Council/ Parliament	_	.15	_	_	-	_	_		_	-	_	-	.06
Reading News in the Newspaper	.07	_	_	_	-	.13	_	-	.08	-	_	-	-
Watching TV News	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	.17	-
Political Interest	.08	.09	.10	.19	.10	.05	.14	.18	-	.14	.11	-	.17
Spending Evenings	-	11	-	06	18	06	12	-	13	09	10	-	07
Outside													
R ²	.27	.24	.26	.20	.10	.23	.25	.27	.21	.20	.16	.14	.25
Weighted N	5522	1579	3200	2429	2918	4769	2332	1374	3741	2594	1467	3538	2217
NOTES:													
Standardized (beta)	regressi	on coeff	icients.	Not sigi	nificant	coeffici	ents wei	re omitt	ed (-).				

The standard errors were estimated using a jack-knife procedure for complex sampling; significance tests corrected for multiple comparisons.

Listwise exclusion of missing values.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Most of these findings replicate the results for the 14-year-olds, at least for those variables included in the model that were the same (see Torney-Purta, Lehmann et al., 2001, Figure 8.1 and Table 8.1).

In almost all countries, students from homes with more educational resources and who had more substantial educational aspirations performed better in the civic knowledge test at both school levels. The perception of an open classroom climate for discussion, which is an indication of the learning conditions at school, was positively related to civic achievement in more than half of the countries for upper and lower secondary students, most notably in Latvia and the Russian Federation. For the upper secondary students as well as for the 14-year olds, time spent 'hanging out' with peers was consistently negative for their performance on the civic knowledge test.

PREDICTION OF LIKELIHOOD OF VOTING

Predictors of Likelihood of Voting in the Sample Containing 13 Countries

In the sample containing 13 out of 16 countries participating at the upper secondary level (see Table 8.2), three factors had almost equally strong explanatory power. These were the total civic knowledge score, the reported learning about the importance of voting at school, and the reported interest in politics. As with the 14-year-old study, civic knowledge came through consistently as the most important factor, explaining an overall beta coefficient of at least .19. The students' reports of whether they had learned in school about the importance of voting showed the second largest effect on their expectations of participating in future voting (.17). The third, almost equally, important factor, which was included only in the model for the upper secondary students, was reported interest in politics. The overall model thus reveals that more knowledgeable students, that is, those who know about the functioning and the values of democracy, who have interest in politics, and who report having learned about the importance of voting at school, are more willing to participate in future elections. This finding replicates, to a great extent, the multivariate analysis results from the 14-year-olds, thereby reinforcing assumptions regarding the important role that schools play in fostering democratic knowledge, values, and attitudes. As can be seen in Figure 8.2, other important factors whose measurement adds much to the prediction of students' disposition to participate in elections are reported frequency of watching news broadcasts on television and the frequency of reading news in the newspaper.

Encouragement of open classroom climate for discussions and reported participation in a school council or parliament accounted for moderately positive effects on the students' intention to vote as adults. The same moderately positive impacts on the expectation to vote were observed also with respect to anticipated further education and gender. In the overall model, girls at the upper secondary level showed more willingness than boys to vote as adults.

The home background variables of home literacy, educational level of parents, and family size had insignificant predictive power in the overall model for likelihood to vote. However, their important role is indirectly implied in the effects they played on civic knowledge acquisition, which is one of the strongest predictors of likelihood to vote in this model.

Predictors of Likelihood of Voting within Individual Countries

The model results for the upper secondary students' expectations to vote as adults examined separately by country are reported in Table 8.2 (only the significant beta coefficients are included). The total percentage of variance explained ranged from 11 percent in Slovenia to 30 percent in Chile. The median of the country totals was 21 percent.

Two significant predictors came through consistently in all 13 countries: the indicator for civic knowledge and the reported learning about the importance of voting at school. The total test score on the civic knowledge test proved to be an especially prominent predictor of likelihood of voting in Estonia and

Table 8.2	Regression Models for Likelih	ood to Vote of	f Upper Secondary S	Students
Within In	dividual Countries			

Predictor Variables	Chile	Cyprus	Czech Republic	Denmark	Estonia	Israel	Latvia	Norway	Poland	Portugal	Russian Federation	Slovenia	Sweden
Gender (Female)	.08	-	-	_	_	.05	-	_	.09	-	_	-	-
Number of People at Home	_	_	_	_	_	06	_	_	_	-	_	_	-
Home Literacy	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Educational Level of Parents	.04	-	.05	.06	.07	_	_	-	_	_	_	-	-
Expected Years of Education	_	_	.13	_	_	_	_	.12	.07	_	_	-	-
Open Classroom Climate	_	_	-	-	_	.08	.15	.09	.06	_	.08	_	-
Learned to Vote	.24	.12	.20	.19	.25	.06	.20	.19	.18	.18	.19	.13	.14
Student Council/ Parliament	_	_	_	_	_	.06	_	_	_	_	_	.06	-
Civic Knowledge	.10	.11	.24	.10	.17	.21	.17	.10	.13	.11	.14	.13	.30
Reading News in the Newspaper	.09	_	_	_	.08	.20	_	_	.08	_	_	.11	-
Watching TV News	.07	-	-	.09	.07	.11	.21	-	.12	.08	-	.11	-
Political Interest	.31	.14	.19	.30	.10	-	.09	.20	.09	.22	-	.06	.11
Spending Evenings Outside	_	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	-	_	—	-
R ²	.30	.16	.28	.25	.18	.22	.27	.26	.14	.15	.15	.11	.28
Weighted N	5112	1478	2920	2274	2557	4761	1804	1392	3612	2429	1398	3151	2046
NOTES:													
Standardized (beta)	regressi	on coeff	icients.	Not sig	nificant	coeffici	ents wei	re omitt	ed (-).				

The standard errors were estimated using a jack-knife procedure for complex sampling; significance tests corrected for multiple comparisons.

Listwise exclusion of missing values.

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Latvia (.17), Israel (.21), the Czech Republic (.24), and Sweden (.30). This variable was the strongest predictor of civic engagement in the Czech Republic, Israel, and Sweden.

The other prominent predictor that was consistently related to students' expectations to vote in all countries was the reported learning about the importance of voting at school. This variable contributed considerably to explaining differences in voting expectations within Poland as well as Portugal (.18), Denmark (.19), Norway and the Russian Federation (.19), the Czech Republic and Latvia (.20), Chile (.24), and Estonia (.25). In Estonia, Poland, and the Russian Federation, it was the factor adding most to the prediction. Both factors—civic knowledge and reported learning about voting at school—were, in Slovenia, equally strong in predicting students' expectations to vote in future elections.

Reported interest in politics was the third predictor to show a strong and significant effect on students' expectation to vote in all participating countries that were included in the analysis, except in Israel and the Russian Federation. The strongest effects were found in Chile, Denmark, Portugal, and Norway, where it was the most prominent factor explaining the civic engagement of upper secondary students. Considerable effects were also found in Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Norway, and Sweden.

Frequency of watching television news came through consistently in all but five countries. It was especially large in Latvia (.21), and Poland (.12), and in Israel and Slovenia (.11). The reported frequency of reading news in the newspaper had an important positive effect on the reported likelihood of voting in five of the 13 countries. In Israel it was the second largest predictor, associated with a beta coefficient of .20.

Students who experienced classroom climates open for discussions were more determined to participate in elections as adults in about half of the countries. The positive effect of this variable was most notable in Latvia. The students' expected level of future educational attainment had considerable significance as a predictor of expected voting only in the Czech Republic and Norway, and a moderate effect in Poland. The reported participation in a school council or parliament had a moderate positive relationship with voting expectations, significant in Israel and Slovenia.

Within the background factors, the educational levels of parents had moderate positive effects in Chile, the Czech Republic, Denmark, and Estonia, while family size accounted for moderate effects only in Israel. In Israel, however, family size was negatively related to likelihood of voting. Gender (female) played consistently small positive effects in three countries, with girls significantly more inclined to engage in future voting than boys in Chile, Israel, and Poland.

Four variables were significant predictors of expected future voting in, respectively, at least eight out of the 13 countries. Two of these were school-related factors, namely civic knowledge and the opportunity to learn about the importance of voting at school. The other two were interest in politics and frequency of watching television news.

SUMMARY

The data presented in this chapter suggest that the school plays an important role in accounting for differences in civic knowledge and civic engagement. Major findings of the upper secondary population study concerning school effects are the consistent positive relationship between expected educational attainment and civic achievement. The relative consistency of findings relating to open classroom climate for disscussion reinforces the hypothesis that democratic practices at school are important in fostering civic knowledge and intention to vote.

Another important finding that is related to the impact of the school and which replicates the results from the study of the 14-year-olds is the strong positive relationship between civic knowledge, the opportunity to learn about voting in school, and expected engagement in democratic elections. However, when school effects were held constant, the role of home literacy resources was found to be even more important for scoring higher on the civic knowledge test for the upper secondary students than for the 14-year-old students. Generally, it can be concluded that the home environment is of major importance at the upper secondary level, and that these effects are cumulative over time.

Gender played a significant role as well among older adolescents, with boys performing better than girls on the civic knowledge test. Exposure to television news had a positive effect on the intention to vote in the majority of the participating countries, whereas the reading of news in the newspapers led to a better performance on the civic knowledge test than did viewing news on television.

With regard to the considerable impact that home background factors played in this model, it should be emphasised here that this was a single-level regression analysis, which did not allow us to disentangle context effects on the school or class level from individual effects. A more refined analysis using multi-level modelling procedures would allow us to clarify more precisely the exact role of individual effects, school or classroom influences, and home bachground factors. Secondary analyses at the international level and analyses undertaken by individual countries will expand the models and their usefulness. It also is likely that interpretation of these predictors will vary from country to country.



Civic Knowledge and Engagement: A Synthesis

HIGHLIGHTS RELATING TO THE IEA CIVIC EDUCATION STUDY OF UPPER SECONDARY STUDENTS

- The testing of upper secondary students by IEA provided an opportunity to examine both national and age-related trends pertaining to civic knowledge, attitudes, and actions. Overall, there is evidence that many aspects of civic attitudes are stable across this time period.
- Policy questions that were addressed especially by Phase 2 included the description of the images that students hold of civic life and citizenship. Here, the study found that older adolescents grasped major elements of democracy and citizenship in a somewhat more differentiated way than 14-year-olds and expected more rather than less from their government. Obeying the law and voting were still seen as important attributes of being good citizens while political party affiliation continued to hold little attraction. The older students were somewhat less trusting of governmental institutions than the younger group.
- Another set of policy questions dealt with gender and socioeconomic differences among students in regard to civic knowledge, engagement, and attitudes. Gender differences were most substantial in knowledge of economic processes (not measured in the 14-year-olds) and in support for women's rights and immigrants' rights. Differences between students from homes with high and low levels of home educational resources were also substantial among upper secondary students (and may even be underestimated due to the fact that many students with few educational resources leave school before reaching the upper secondary level).
- Finally, at least three realms within schools seem to have leverage in contributing to the civic preparation of youth. These are the content of the curriculum (both as it fosters civic knowledge and emphasizes the importance of voting), how frequently students are encouraged to discuss issues in their classroom, and the culture of the school as it promotes students' opportunities to participate. Most of these relationships maintained themselves at both age levels and in countries with very different histories.

The IEA Civic Education Study was initiated in the mid-1990s to examine the ways in which young people are prepared for their rights and responsibilities as citizens in democratic societies. As reported in Chapter 1 of this volume, the Civic Education Study was designed and implemented in two phases. During the first phase, researchers from more than 20 countries collected documentary evidence on the circumstances, content, and processes of civic education in their countries. These case studies provided insight into the political, social, and economic context within which civic education occurs. The data collected during Phase 1 also contributed to the design of a test of civic knowledge and skills as well as a survey of civic concepts and attitudes, administered to students during the second phase of the study. In short, the Phase 1 case studies provided information for the design of the Phase 2 instrument and a context within which to interpret the Phase 2 data.

During the second phase of the study, 90,000 14-year-old students from 28 countries were administered tests of civic knowledge and skills and surveys of civic concepts and attitudes. The data were collected in 1999, and the international findings were released in 2001 and reported in *Citizenship and education in twenty-eight countries: Civic knowledge and engagement at age fourteen* (Torney-Purta, Lehmann, Oswald, & Schulz, 2001).

In the following year, over 50,000 upper secondary students from 16 countries received a similar test of civic knowledge and skills (including some new, more difficult items and economic literacy items not given to the 14-year-olds) and the same survey of civic concepts and attitudes. Those results, reported in this volume, enabled us to examine both national and age-related trends pertaining to civic knowledge and attitudes. Stated another way, data were collected from over 140,000 students to provide us with a series of snapshots of the civic knowledge, attitudes, and engagement of both younger and older adolescents.

The analyses provided in this volume and in the volume of findings from the 14-year-olds are but a beginning of what can be gleaned from these massive sets of data. Further analyses, such as multivariate modeling, examination of results by geographic region, and a closer examination of the relationship between social and economic factors and civic knowledge and engagement will expand our understanding in this area. Also, the individual countries participating in the study may have areas of interest reflecting their social, political, or educational contexts. For example, the IEA national researchers may choose to investigate, in their respective countries, the differences and similarities among students in different secondary school programs, the role of the media in the development of civic knowledge and attitudes, and the performance of immigrant and non-immigrant students. Many possibilities remain open, and the public release of both the upper secondary student data as well as the 14-year-old data will give researchers from around the world the opportunity to conduct secondary analyses on a wide range of topics.

As noted, the Phase 2 tests and surveys were administered to two age groups of students. The 14-year-olds were tested to capture the diversity of students before they enter the specialized programs of the upper secondary school or leave formal schooling. In all the participating countries, education is mandatory for 14-year-olds.

The second administration of tests included students in the upper secondary school who are close to the age when they will start taking on the adult responsibilities of citizenship. They are at or near the age of first vote, and to ending their secondary schooling. They also are getting ready to embark on major life transitions, careers, tertiary education, and the establishment of families. Thus, governmental policies and political processes may be more obvious to them in their daily lives.

It was considered that data from the older adolescents would allow us to examine the attitudes and knowledge of young citizens who are or will be participating in the political process and institutions of their societies and developing adult identities in many domains, including political and social values and beliefs. The limitation, however, is that the study could not include those older adolescents who had dropped out of school by age 16 or those in some specialized upper secondary school programs. The proportion of the upper secondary school age group included in the national samples therefore varied from country to country, and this variance is explained in Chapter 2 of this volume.

RESULTS FROM THE UPPER SECONDARY STUDENTS

1. What Do They Know?

In general, the upper secondary students scored well on the test of civic knowledge. Not surprisingly, these students, who were two to five years older than the 14-year-olds, had higher scores on the test of civic content and skills than did the younger sample of students tested in 1999 (a comparison that was possible because of the inclusion of anchor items and IRT scaling to a common metric). However, interpretation of these knowledge scores must be made with caution, and is limited by at least one factor—the upper secondary samples were not representative samples of all young people in that age group.

The average ages of the upper secondary students tested ranged from 16 years of age in Israel and Latvia to over 19 years of age in Denmark. The older students in the sample, with more years of schooling and more life experiences, tended to perform better on the test of civic knowledge than did the younger students. And, not surprisingly, the upper secondary students were generally more knowledgeable about democratic institutions and processes, national identity, and social cohesion and diversity than were the 14-year-old students tested in 1999.

As was the case with the study of 14-year-olds, total civic knowledge was conceived of as a combination of two dimensions: content knowledge and skills in interpretation. We have also reported the specific results for the two dimensions (content and skills) to provide more detailed information. In addition, economic literacy items were added to the test for the upper secondary students, although not included in the test administered to the 14-year-olds. Chapter 3 of this report provides details of the development, scaling, and analysis of the test of civic knowledge and economic literacy.

As seen in Table 9.1, in three of the 14 countries where comparisons could be made, male students scored higher on the total civic knowledge test than female students. This was also the case with the 14-year-olds, where only minor gender differences were found. Most of the differences in the test administered to the upper secondary students can be found by examining the civic knowledge sub-scale scores. As reported in Chapter 3, few statistically significant gender differences were found on the civic knowledge and civic skills sub-scales (although there did appear to be higher scores among the males in most of the countries; see Chapter 3 for a more complete discussion of gender differences). In two countries—Denmark and Portugal—males scored higher than females on all three sub-scales of the knowledge test. However, in half of the countries, males scored higher on the economic literacy sub-scale than females.

CHAPTER 9	CIVIC KNOWLEDGE AND	ENGAGEMENT: A S	YNTHESIS
-----------	---------------------	-----------------	----------

	ts	Support for Women's Political Pidpte	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	►	
	1er Concep	ni trust in Government-related Institutions									►						
	des and Otl	Positiva Avitizo9 z'sn0 bvavoT Nation			◀									◀	◀		
	ic Attitu	Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants	►	►	►	►		*		►	►	►		►	►		ale.
	Civ	Society-related Government Responsibilities															oart in this so
		Economy-related Government Responsibilities			►	►											did not take p
		Confidence in Participation in School		•		►	►		►	►	►				►		* Israel (
ttitudes	agement	Expected Participation in Political Activities		•	•	•							•				an males.
Civic A	Civic Eng	Social-movement- related Citizenship	►		►	►				►		►		►	►		higher th
ent, and	0	Conventional Ginanip	►														gnificantly
ıgagem		Political Interest	►	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•		•		◀	' mean si
Civic Er		Total Civic Knowledge	•		◀	◀	◀			•		◀					Females
vledge,	vledge	Economic Literacy (subscale)	•		◀	◀	•			•		◀			◀		
Civic Knov	Civic Knov	Interpretative Skills (subscale)				•						•					females.
nces in (Content Knowledge (subscale)	•			◀						•					igher than
9.1 Gender Differe	try			ns	h Republic	nark	nia		a	vay	pu	ugal	ian Federation	enia	len	zerland (German)	ales' mean significantly h
Table	Coun		Chile	Cypri	Czecł	Denn	Estor	Israe	Latvi	Norw	Polar	Portu	Russi	Slove	Swea	Switz	₩ W

noissuosiO for Classroom

stdpiЯ

Open Climate

►

►

► ►

What does this mean for schools? It could mean that the inclusion of economic education is not viewed as within the purview of civic education. It could also mean that economic literacy does not fit as neatly into the octagon model (Figure 1.2 in Chapter 1) used as a framework for the Civic Education Study. Thus, at least for females, if students are not learning economic information at school, they are also not learning it from families, peers, the media, and so on. Unfortunately, the Phase 1 case studies shed little light on this area, as few of them addressed economic literacy education (although the participating countries were given the option of elaborating on this topic if they chose).

2. What Do They Believe?

While knowledge about democratic processes and institutions, along with skills in interpreting political communication, are vital elements of citizenship, many commentators believe that it is also important for citizens in democratic societies to be tolerant, willing to participate, and cognizant of both their responsibilities and their rights. The IEA Civic Education Study addressed all three of these aspects of citizenship.

Specifically, four scales from the survey dealt with students' concepts (of citizenship and of governmental responsibilities), while seven scales related to students' attitudes. These were positive national feeling, trust in government-related institutions, support for the rights of immigrants, support for the political rights of women, expected participation in political activities as adults, confidence in participation at school, and open classroom climate for discussion.

In regard to civic concepts, the upper secondary students seemed to have clear notions of what factors are benefits for and threats to democracies. Across countries, the older students, like the 14-year-olds, endorsed free elections, different organizations, political parties supporting women, free expression, minimum incomes, and peaceful protests as factors that are good for democracy. Conversely, they saw as threats to democracy, wealthy people having more influence, one newspaper company owning all newspapers, leaders giving jobs to family, and courts and judges being influenced by others.

The older students, however, seemed to hold more differentiated views of democracy than the 14-year-olds, as noted in Chapter 4. Perhaps this finding is a reflection of the older students' deeper conceptual understanding of democracy or their cognitive growth in the area of analytical skills.

The upper secondary students also seemed to have well-developed concepts of what makes a good adult citizen in a democratic society (as did the 14-yearolds). In fact, there was a high degree of consensus among the students that three activities are important for a good adult citizen to engage in (obeying the law, voting, and following political issues). There was moderate agreement on the importance of most of the other citizenship items on the survey. Obeying the law was the most strongly endorsed aspect of citizenship among both the upper secondary students and the 14-year-olds. Interestingly, but perhaps not surprisingly, the upper secondary students seemed to expect more from their governments than did the 14-year-old students. In every country that tested both the younger and older populations, the older students scored higher on the society-related government responsibilities scale than did the younger students. And, in about two-thirds of the countries, the older students were more likely than the younger students to endorse the economy-related responsibilities of government (see Chapter 4). Perhaps upper secondary students believe that such activities are within the government's responsibility because they are at an age when government policies with regard to the economy, education, and social welfare can have a direct impact on their lives and livelihoods. Or, it may be because they are better able to take a societal perspective and understand the benefits to the whole society of education and high standards of health and economic wellbeing.

There were differences across countries, however, in the extent to which the upper secondary students endorsed social and economic activities as governmental responsibilities. On the one hand, as seen in Table 9.2, students in Chile, Cyprus, Poland, and Portugal were more likely than students in the other countries to endorse both social and economic activities as responsibilities of the government (as described in Chapter 4). At the 14-year-old level, only two of these countries—Poland and Portugal—had scores above the international mean (for 28 countries) on both of the government responsibility scales. On the other hand, the upper secondary students in Denmark, Estonia, and Latvia scored below the international mean on both government responsibility scales. Fourteen-year-olds in Denmark were also below the international mean on these two scales.

Both the upper secondary students and the 14-year-olds held generally positive attitudes toward their nations, government-related institutions, immigrants, and the political rights of women. Like the 14-year-olds, the older students expressed a great deal of trust in the police, the courts, and the media, and the least amount of trust in political parties. Despite these similarities in attitudes between the younger and the older adolescents, there is an interesting paradox. On the one hand, the upper secondary students expressed positive attitudes toward their nation, but were less trusting of government-related institutions than the 14-year-old students. On the other hand, the older students were somewhat less likely than the younger to indicate that they would participate in possibly illegal protest activities (especially spray-painting protest slogans). Thus, while there may be some moderation of idealism among upper secondary students, and even though these students might appear more critical and less trusting than the younger students, their criticism may be seen as more constructive and tempered by a more realistic view of society.

It is also interesting to note the relative stability of some country patterns in the area of civic attitudes. It may be that such attitudes develop early (at least by age 14) and remain relatively stable throughout adolescence. As an example, the upper secondary school students in Chile, Cyprus, Israel, Poland, and Portugal scored above the international mean on the scale measuring

CIVIC	KNOWL	EDGE	AND	ENGAGEMENT
01110	111011	LDGL	71140	ENGRALMENT

Countries
Across
Attitudes
Civic /
and
Engagement
Civic
able 9.2

	Open Climate for Classroom Discussion	►	►	►	•	◄	►		•	►	►	◄	►	◄	•	
	Support for Women's Political Rights			►	•	►		►	•		•	►		•	•	
Concepts	ni trust in Government-related Institutions	►		►	•		•	►	•	►	►	►	►	◀	•	
s and Other	Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation	•	•	►	►	►	•	►	►	•	•			►	►	1al mean.
Attitudes	Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants	•	•	►				►	►	•	•		►	◀	►	nternation
Civic /	Society-related Government Responsibilities	•	•		►	►	►	►		•	•				►	lower than i
	Economy-related Government Responsibilities	•	•	►	►	►	•	►	Þ	•	•	•				ı significantly
t	Confidence in Participation in School	•	•	►			•	►	►	•	•	►	►		►	Country mear
Engagemen	Expected Participation in Political Activities	►	•	►	•			•	►	►		►	►	►	►	ean.
Civic E	Social-movement- related Citizenship	•	•	►	►	►	►	►	•		•	►	►	►	•	ational me
	Conventional Girlsnssifi	•	•	►	►	►	►		►	•	►	►	►	►		an interna
	Political Interest	•	•	►	•		•		►	►	►	◀	►	►		higher th
Country		Chile	Cyprus	Czech Republic	Denmark	Estonia	Israel	Latvia	Norway	Poland	Portugal	Russian Federation	Slovenia	Sweden	Switzerland (German)	 Country mean significantly

positive attitudes toward one's nation. The 14-year-olds in those same countries (with the exception of Israel, which did not survey this age group) also scored above the international mean on this attitude scale. Along the same lines, in six of the seven countries where upper secondary school students scored below the international mean on this scale, the 14-year-olds did so also (see Figure 5.2).

This same pattern emerged when we looked at students' attitudes toward the rights of immigrants. In almost all of the countries where the upper secondary students were most likely to endorse the rights of immigrants, 14-year-olds in those countries were also most likely to endorse immigrants' rights (Chile, Cyprus, Poland, Portugal, and Sweden). And, in most of the countries where the upper secondary students' scores were below the international mean, the 14-year-olds' scores were as well.

Although some countries were above the international mean on the attitudes toward immigrants scale, it should be noted that, across all countries, students' attitudes toward the rights of immigrants were quite positive. During Phase 1 of the Civic Education Study, the national researchers in many of the countries acknowledged that understanding social cohesion and developing an appreciation for diversity were important elements of civic education. Many national researchers, however, were concerned about schools' abilities to address these issues. Although we have not been able to determine from these Phase 2 data the extent to which matters of social cohesion, diversity, immigration, or political rights were being addressed in the schools, we can conclude that most of the students surveyed were developing generally positive attitudes. This was an expectation their societies held for them, as identified by experts in all countries participating in Phase 1. A note of caution should be raised here, however. Variations occurred both within and across countries on students' attitudes in this area. In all participating countries, there are groups of students who hold negative attitudes toward the rights of immigrants. These groups should not be overlooked, and further analysis of their characteristics, level of civic knowledge, and other attitudes and attributes is warranted.

In a similar vein to their attitudes toward immigrants, the upper secondary students across countries expressed support for the political rights of women. Students in Denmark, Norway, Portugal, Sweden, and Switzerland (German) were most likely to endorse these rights (Table 9.2). Fourteen-year-olds were also largely supportive of the political rights of women, with the means for the 14-year-olds in Denmark, Norway, Sweden, and Switzerland (German) above the international mean for this scale (see Figure 5.5).

Finally, as shown in Table 9.1, males and females shared similar civic attitudes in most countries, with three notable exceptions. Females were more likely than males to indicate positive attitudes toward the rights of immigrants and toward the political rights of women, and to perceive open climate for classroom discussion. The findings in these three areas are consistent with the findings from the 14-year-olds, and consistent with findings from other studies in this area. The magnitude of these gender differences is illustrated in Table 9.1. It is particularly striking that, despite differences in history, social context, and even age of the respondents, females in all countries were more likely than males to endorse the political rights of women.

3. How Are They Engaged in Civic Activities?

The third aspect of citizenship examined by the IEA Civic Education Study relates to young people's engagement, both now and in the future. Across countries, students were engaged in a variety of school and community organizations and activities, ranging from participation in student government organizations to collecting money for charities. However, the opportunities for participation and the time involved varied greatly from country to country, making comparisons across countries difficult.

One thing is clear from the findings, however, and that is what the students planned on doing. Over 80 percent of both the older and younger students indicated that they intended to vote in national elections, although the extent to which they did or will do so remains unanswered. And, in almost every country that tested both age groups, higher percentages of upper secondary students than 14-year-old students responded that they would vote. Thus, it appears that as students reach or get close to the age of first vote in their countries, they are more likely than younger adolescents to indicate that they plan to vote. This situation could be a reflection of an increased emphasis on voting in schools during the later grades, or an overall increased awareness of civic responsibilities among the older students. An interesting follow-up to this finding would be to compare age-related voting patterns with the percentage of upper secondary students who said they would vote in each country. It is likely that, in many countries, there would be a gap between intention to vote and actual voting behavior.

In addition to the single item 'intention to vote', two scales addressed students' civic and social engagement. One scale related to the students' expected conventional political activities as an adult, the other to their confidence in the effectiveness of participation at school. In other words, the first scale dealt with students' intentions for the future, and the second with their current circumstances. Students' political interest also was assessed, on the premise that political interest is a prerequisite to participation in political activities.

As students approach the end of their secondary schooling, it does appear that their interest in politics is greater than that of younger adolescents. As discussed in Chapter 6 of this volume, half of the upper secondary students in the international sample agreed or strongly agreed that they were interested in politics. On looking at national variations (Table 9.2), we find that students in the Czech Republic, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovenia, and Sweden scored below the international mean on this item. In other words, students in these countries were less likely than students in the other participating countries to express an interest in politics. As might be expected, the students in five of these countries—the Czech Republic, Norway, Portugal, Slovenia, and Sweden—were also less likely than the students in the other participating countries to say they were likely to participate in political activities as adults. (These activities—joining a political party, writing letters about political concerns, and becoming a candidate for public office—are discussed in Chapter 6.)

Of the countries with lower levels of political interest (noted above), students in the Czech Republic, Norway, and Slovenia were also below the international mean on the Confidence in School Participation Scale. Interestingly, students in Portugal expressed relatively low levels of political interest, but relatively high levels of willingness to participate. In contrast, the mean scores of students in the Russian Federation were above the international mean on the political interest item, but below the mean on intention to participate in political activities and confidence in school participation scales.

Examination of gender differences in the area of participation reveals an interesting dichotomy (Table 9.1). That is, in every case where there was a statistically significant difference between males and females on the political participation scale, males scored higher. This occurred in four countries, with males expressing a greater intention than females to participate in conventional political activities as adults. However, in the countries with gender differences related to the students' confidence in school participation, the females' scores were higher. The direction of these findings is consistent with that found among the 14-year-olds on these two scales. It is also consistent with what was found on the school climate scale. In about two-thirds of the countries where statistical comparisons could be made, female students in the upper secondary school were more likely than male students to perceive that there was an open climate for discussion in their classrooms. Once again, this replicates the findings from the 14-year-olds: in 23 of the 28 countries that surveyed 14-year-olds, females were more likely than males to perceive that their classrooms were open to discussion. These findings suggest that schools may need to consider ways to engage male students in the school community, while political entities outside the school may need to reach out to females.

Finally, in every country but one where gender differences were found in the area of political interest, males reported higher levels of interest than females. This is consistent with numerous other studies and also replicates what was found in the parallel study of 14-year-olds.

CONCLUSIONS, LESSONS, AND HOPES FOR THE FUTURE

The IEA Civic Education Study began with a series of questions with policy implications. It therefore seems appropriate to conclude with those questions and what we have learned. The study researchers intended that some questions be addressed in Phase 1 and the others in Phase 2.

The policy questions addressed in Phase 1 dealt primarily with characteristics of civic education objectives and their place in education more generally, for example, their status, priorities, and the courses around which they are organized. The preliminary answers given to those questions in that phase were that these objectives are often of relatively low status and priority compared to other aspects of the curriculum and that they are carried out through a variety of courses that may or may not include 'civic education' in their titles (particularly national history and social sciences or social studies). These points were confirmed in the Phase 2 survey administered to the teachers of the 14-year-olds. The issue of the extent to which priority ought to be given to these areas is, of course, a matter that this study's data cannot answer. What this study has been able to do is to indicate what the results are when such programs experience pressure of various kinds, including low status and minimal time in the curriculum.

A second set of policy-related questions dealt with students' images of the area of civic education and what it means to be a citizen and to have a sense of civic engagement as well as national, gender, and group identities. Because the study surveys utilized only multiple-choice items, it was not possible to fully answer these questions either. What we did learn, though, was that students have somewhat more complex images of citizenship and democracy than many commentators might previously have imagined. This was certainly true for the upper secondary students, but even the lower secondary students (the 14-yearolds) grasped the major elements of democracy and citizenship, knew basic elements of how government operates, were somewhat cynical about political parties, and thought that schools could be organized in a way that allowed some measure of democratic participation. The upper secondary students, who additionally were tested with some economics items, also had a nascent grasp of those topics that are increasingly important in a global society. Moreover, senses of identity (national, gender, etc), strong preferences in favor of community action, and less favorable views about political parties and conventional politics were certainly developing in most students by the upper secondary years.

A third set of policy-related questions, addressed in the Phase 2 analysis, dealt with gender and socioeconomic differences among students in regard to civic knowledge, engagement, and attitudes. Here, we found relatively few gender differences at both age levels. If anything, the differences were larger for the older group in terms of the knowledge test, although this appeared to be a function of the inclusion of items about economics, which male students answered better than did females. However, gender differences also were apparent on a number of the attitudinal and concept scales. In particular, it was the females who had more positive attitudes about social-movement-related activity for adult citizens, more positive attitudes toward immigrants' rights, and much more positive attitudes toward women's political and economic rights. On the matter of differences according to socioeconomic status (here measured with literacy resources at home), the analysis showed powerful effects upon student knowledge. This was a sobering finding, suggesting considerable further probing of the data and attempts extending beyond the IEA study to ascertain what schools can do to decrease a potential gap in knowledge and electoral participation between more and less advantaged students.

The fourth set of policy-related questions dealt with the influence of the schools upon the civic preparation of young people. We identified at least three realms within which schools appear to have leverage on these issues: the content of the curriculum (e.g., the extent to which topics such as elections and voting receive explicit emphasis); how frequently students are encouraged to discuss issues in their classrooms; and the culture of the school (e.g., the extent to which that culture promotes students' sense of confidence). Of particular interest was that most of the relationships maintained themselves at

both age levels and in countries with very different histories and emphases in civic education (such as the post-Communist countries and the more longstanding democracies).

In short, what have we learned from the IEA Civic Education Study? We can see civic knowledge is important, but not enough. Tolerance, willingness to participate, and understanding responsibilities as well as rights are important elements of citizenship in democracies. While there is no single approach that is likely to enhance all facets of citizenship, the school can play a valuable role. School factors predicted civic knowledge and engagement for both the lower and upper secondary school students. It would seem that schools offer places for students to practice democracy as much as they offer places for learning facts.

As with the report on data collected from the 14-year-olds, it is our hope that this present report will further encourage individual countries to examine their upper secondary students' position in relation to the various dimensions documented here and to conduct further analyses. We also hope that this report will encourage policy-makers, educators, and the public to engage in dialogue about the ways that curriculum, teacher education, and community involvement can better prepare young people for citizenship.



Appendices

APPENDIX A EXAMPLES OF ITEMS FROM THE CIVIC KNOWLEDGE TEST

Country	14-year-olds Correct Answers (in %)	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 5 (Item #07) Knowledge of Content
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia	40 (1.1) 71 (1.0) 51 (1.4) 70 (0.9) 61 (1.0)	63 (1.2) 85 (1.3) 60 (1.1) 93 (0.5) 79 (1.2) 61 (1.3)	7. Which of the following is most likely to happen if a large publisher buys many of the [smaller] newspapers in a country?
Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	57 (1.6) 65 (0.8) 78 (1.5) 34 (1.0)	67 (1.4) 80 (1.4) 86 (1.0) 80 (1.0)	 A. Government censorship of the news is more likely. B. There will be less diversity of opinions presented.* C. The price of the country's
Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	66 (1.9) 55 (1.2) 69 (1.0) 57 (1.4)	75 (1.8) 65 (1.9) 89 (0.9) 73 (4.3)	newspapers will be lowered. D. The amount of advertising in the newspaper will be reduced.
International Sample ²	60 (0.3)	75 (0.5)	International Scale Value: 103

Figure A.1a Item Example: Result if large publisher buys many newspapers

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Country	14-year-olds Correct Answers (in %)	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 6 (Item #15) Skills in Interpretation
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia	31 (1.2) 56 (1.3) 48 (1.6) 67 (1.2) 41 (1.3)	62 (1.3) 63 (2.9) 66 (1.2) 94 (0.5) 77 (2.0)	15. Two people work at the same job but one is paid less than the other. The principle of equality would be violated if the person is paid less because
Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	n.a. n.a. 33 (1.8) 57 (1.3) 68 (2.3) 41 (1.4)	66 (1.6) 43 (2.1) 73 (1.5) 69 (1.8) 74 (1.2)	 of A. fewer educational qualifications. B. less work experience. C. working for fewer hours.
Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	29 (2.4) 46 (1.2) 68 (1.6) 56 (2.2)	31 (2.5) 71 (1.9) 92 (1.1) 82 (2.6)	D. gender [sex].*
International Sample ²	49 (0.5)	69 (0.5)	International Scale Value: 108

Figure A.1b Item Example: Which is an example of discrimination in pay equity?

() Standard errors appear in parentheses.

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

righte rize item Examples what are the coontenno criceto el cultannig preduction
--

Country	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 7 (Item #34) Economic Literacy		
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German)	40 (0.8) 36 (1.9) 55 (1.1) 71 (1.1) 62 (1.2) 33 (1.0) 49 (2.3) 47 (1.6) 58 (1.3) 35 (1.0) 55 (2.6) 39 (1.6) 67 (1.3) 54 (4.1)	 OPEC TO REDUCE OIL PRODUCTION The Organisation of Petroleum Exporting Countries met in Vienna last week. Leaders of the oil producing countries agreed to reduce the amount of oil each of them pump. At a press conference today, the organisation's spokesman said that this will help to keep the world's economy in balance. 34. Why would the OPEC countries decide to reduce their oil production? A. To help economic growth in the world B. To keep oil prices from falling * C. To save oil for future generations D. To promote the development of new energy sources 		
International Sample ²	50 (0.5)	International Scale Value: 108		
() Standard errors appear in parentheses.				

* Correct answer.

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Country	Upper Secondary Students Correct Answers (in %)	Example 8 (Item #35) Economic Literacy		
Chile Cyprus Czech Republic Denmark Estonia	55 (1.3) 71 (2.2) 75 (1.3) 66 (1.2) 79 (1.2)	35. If there were a high protective tariff [tax] in Brazil on cars made in Japan, who would most directly		
Israel ¹ Latvia Norway Poland Portugal	56 (1.4) 52 (2.8) 63 (1.4) 57 (1.5) 53 (1.5)	benefit? A. car-makers in Japan B. people in Brazil who buy cars made in Japan C. car-makers in Brazil * D. the government in Japan		
Russian Federation Slovenia Sweden Switzerland (German) International Sample ²	70 (2.1) 62 (1.7) 68 (1.7) 60 (3.1) 63 (0.5)	International Scale Value: 99		
() Standard errors appear in parentheses. * Correct answer.				

Figure A.1d Item Example: What is the effect of high national tariffs?

1 Israel did not participate in the 14-year-old study.

2 International sample (14-year-olds) is based on 13 countries; international sample (upper secondary students) is based on 14 countries.

Table A.1 Domain Content Categories and Short Titles for Items in Final Test

I A: Democracy and Its Defining Characteristics

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Identify defining characteristics of democracy	1	necessary feature of democratic government	91	80
Identify limited and unlimited government, undemocratic regimes	6	what makes a government non-democratic	80	106
Identify problems in transitions of government from non-democratic to democratic	14	most convincing action to promote democracy	71	106
	28	what direct democracy is	70	111

I B: Institutions and Practices in Democracy

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Identify characteristics and functions of elections and parties	9	function of periodic elections (also IEA, 1971)	54	123
	18	meaning of coalition government	71	106
	20	main message of cartoon about elections	60	119
Identify qualifications of candidates for positions and making up one's mind during elections	11	which party issued political leaflet	80	97
	12	what issuers of leaflet think about taxes	83	91
	13	which policy issuers of leaflet likely to favor	75	100
Identify a healthy critical attitude toward officials and their accountability	30	example of corruption in national minister	80	100
Identify basic character of parliament, judicial system, law, police	17	part of legislative branch	68	112
Identify provisions of constitution	16	what countries' constitutions contain	86	99

Table A.1 (continued)

I C: Citizenship: Rights and Duties

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Identify general rights, qualifications, and obligations of citizens in democracies	8	a political right	90	85
Identify citizens' rights to participate	5	violation of civil liberties in democracy (also IEA 1971)	72	107
Understand the role of mass media in democracy	7	result if large publisher buys many newspapers	75	103
	43	influence of media	75	101
Identify network of associations and differences of political opinion	3	why organizations are important in democracy	85	93
Identify the human rights defined in international documents	2	purpose of Universal Declaration of Human Rights	92	86
Identify rights in the economic sphere	4	purpose of labor unions	86	98
Table A.1 (continued)

II A: National Identity

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Recognize sense of collective identity source of conflict	25	national or ethnic difference as the source of conflict	68	110
Recognize that every nation has events in its history of which it is not proud	10	main message of cartoon about history textbooks	67	110

II B: International Relations

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Recognize major intergovernmental organizations and understand diplomatic relations between countries	23	reasons for recalling an ambassador	67	113

III A: Social Cohesion and Diversity

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Recognize groups subject to discrimination	15	an example of discrimination in pay equity	68	108
	29	main message of a cartoon about excluding women candidates	71	110
	31	persistance of gender discrimination at work	70	109

1 The reported item parameters are based on the joint scale of civic knowledge (which includes the sub-dimensions content knowledge and interpretative skills). The item parameters mean that students with that level of proficiency had a 65 percent probability of providing a correct response.

Table A.2 Domain Content Categories and Short Titles for Economic Items in FinalTest

I B: Institutions and Practices in Democracy

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Understand basic economic issues and their political implications	26	graph relating labor costs to factories' location	61	102
	32	economic effects of budget deficits	66	98
	34	economic effects of curtailing production	50	108
	35	effect of high national tariffs	63	99
	37	meaning of supply and demand	39	115
	38	meaning of market economy	69	94
	39	meaning of monopoly	68	95
	40	meaning of budget deficit	66	96
	42	meaning of international balance of trade	52	106

Table A.2 (continued)

I C: Citizenship: Rights and Duties

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Identify citizens' rights to participate and express criticism and their limits	21	why different groups would protest tax rates	66	98
Identify rights in the economic sphere	36	meaning of real income	58	102
Demonstrate awareness of tradeoffs or relations between social/economic	22	effect of declining birth rate and increasing life span	72	94

II B: International Relations

Domain Content Category	Item #	Short Titles for Items	Correct Answers (in %)	Item Parameter ¹
Recognize international economic issues and organizations (other than	19	effect of IMF provisions on tariffs	75	91
with matters with economic implications	33	why countries seek World Bank Aid	73	93

1 The reported item parameters are based on the scale of economic literacy. The item parameters mean that students with that level of proficiency had a 65 percent probability of providing a correct response.

APPENDIX B ITEM-BY-SCORE MAPS FOR SCALES REPORTED IN CHAPTERS 4 THROUGH 7

Item-by-Score Maps and International Item Percentages

This section contains additional information on the scales presented in Chapters 4 to 7. The so-called 'item-by-score maps' are designed to illustrate the meaning of the international scale scores for all of the 11 scales reported in the aforementioned chapters. The attitudinal items have been scaled using the IRT (Item Response Theory) 'Partial Credit Model'. From the item parameters of this model it is possible to determine which response can be expected for each item, given a certain scale score. Figure B.1 shows how the item-by-score map should be interpreted.

The vertical lines indicate for each of the scale scores at the top of the figure which response a student is most likely to give. If, for example, a respondent has a score of 10 in this example, he or she is likely to agree with Items 1 and 2 but to disagree with Item 3. Likewise, a respondent with a scale score of 8 will probably disagree with Items 1 and 2 and disagree strongly with Item 3, whereas a respondent with a scale score of 12 will probably strongly agree with Items 1 and 2 and agree with Item 3.

Generally, items differ according to the extent of endorsement along the latent dimension. Thus, for example, in a measurement of altruism, respondents will probably more readily agree with 'donating smaller amounts of money' than with 'spending time after work in community service'. Both items may measure the same dimension, but respondents usually will score higher on the latent dimension 'altruism' when they agree with the second item. The scale scores are always to be seen as relative to the international mean, and in themselves do not reveal any substantial meaning regarding the item response categories.

In addition to providing the item-by-score maps, we also give the international percentage for each scaled item. These percentages are based on fully weighted samples from 14 out of 16 participating countries and include only valid responses, excluding 'don't know' and missing. The international percentages enable the reader to see the average level of endorsement for each of the scaled items. Figure B.1 shows a fictitious example, and consequently does not contain any percentages.



Figure B.1 Example of Item-By-Score Map

- #4: A respondent with score 12 is expected to agree strongly with Items 1 and 2 and agree with item 3.
- #5: A respondent with score 14 is expected to agree strongly with all three items.
- Source: International Coordinating Center of the IEA Civic Education Study.



Figure B.2a Item-By-Score Map for Importance of Conventional Citizenship



Figure B.2b Item-By-Score Map for Importance of Social-movement-related Citizenship

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Figure B.2c Item-By-Score Map for Concept of Society-related Government Responsibilities





Figure B.2d Item-By-Score Map for Concept of Economy-related Government Responsibilities



Figure B.2e Item-By-Score Map for Trust in Government-related Institutions



Figure B.2f Item-By-Score Map for Positive Attitudes toward One's Nation



Figure B.2g Item-By-Score Map for Positive Attitudes toward Immigrants



Figure B.2h Item-By-Score Map for Attitudes toward Women's Political and Economic Rights



Figure B.2i Item-By-Score Map for Political Activities



Figure B.2j Item-By-Score Map for Confidence in Participation at School



Figure B.2k Item-By-Score Map for Open Classroom Climate for Discussion

APPENDIX C CLASSICAL PSYCHOMETRIC INDICES (SELECTED)

Scale Name	Alpha	Number of Items in Scale
Civic Knowledge (Content Knowledge and Interpretative Skills)	.86	26
Content Knowledge	.75	14
Skills in Interpreting Political Communication	.75	12
Economic Literacy	.78	14
Conventional Citizenship	.70	6
Social-movement-related Citizenship	.70	4
Economy-related Government Responsibilities	.57	5
Society-related Government Responsibilities	.69	7
Trust in Government-related Institutions	.79	6
Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation	.71	4
Support for Women's Political and Economic Rights	.80	6
Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants	.80	5
Confidence in Participation in School	.74	4
Expected Participation in Political Activities	.75	3
Open Climate for Classroom Discussion	.80	6

Table C.1 Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Coefficients for All Scales

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Footnote: Alphas are not necessarily based on all countries because some items had to be set to missing countrywise.

Country	Content Knowledge	Skills in Interpreting Political Communication	Economic Literacy	Civic Knowledge (Knowledge and Skills)	
Chile	.70	.72	.73	.83	
Cyprus	.70	.72	.74	.82	
Czech Republic	.68	.69	.75	.81	
Denmark	.59	.62	.71	.74	
Estonia	.66	.70	.72	.80	
Israel	.75	.81	.80	.87	
Latvia	.75	.74	.75	.85	
Norway	.76	.77	.77	.87	
Poland	.73	.72	.74	.84	
Portugal	.64	.60	.68	.76	
Russian Federation	.80	.75	.80	.87	
Slovenia	.80	.77	.75	.88	
Sweden	.81	.80	.81	.89	
Switzerland (German)	.67	.68	.71	.80	
Median	.72	.72	.74	.84	
Number of items	14*	12**	14***	26****	
 * Number of items for Cyprus is 12. ** Number of items for Poland and the Russian Federation is 11. *** Number of items for Cyprus, Israel, and Switzerland (German) is 13. **** Number of items for Cyprus is 24, for Poland and the Russian Federation is 25. 					

Table C.2 Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Coefficients Within Countries: Civic Knowledge Sub-scales and Overall Test

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older Population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Footnote: Alphas are not necessarily based on all countries because some items had to be set to missing countrywise.

Country	Conventional Citizenship	Social-movement- related Citizenship	Society-related Government Responsibilities	Economy-related Government Responsibilities		
Chile	.65	.63	.66	.54		
Cyprus	.69	.69	.76	.61		
Czech Republic	.66	.65	.61	.49		
Denmark	.64	.72	.62	.57		
Estonia	.64	.65	.70	.61		
Israel	.68	.67	.73	.64		
Latvia	.62	.61	.72	.53		
Norway	.69	.64	.67	.54		
Poland	.69	.68	.66	.54		
Portugal	.63	.66	.63	.52		
Russian Federation	.62	.62	.72	.63		
Slovenia	.66	.67	.68	.56		
Sweden	.73	.79	.66	.63		
Switzerland (German)	.71	.67	.59	.43		
Median	.66	.67	.68	.55		
Number of items	6	4*	7**	5		
 * Number of items for the Czech Republic and Slovenia is 3. ** Number of items for Latvia is 6. 						

Table C.3a Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Coefficients Within Countries: Attitudinal Scales

Source: IEA Civic Education Study, Older population of upper secondary students tested in 2000.

Country	Trust in Government-related Institutions	Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation	Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants	Attitudes Toward Women's Political and Economic Rights
Chile	.74	.65	.72	.68
Cyprus	.76	.61	.80	.83
Czech Republic	.76	.67	.75	.78
Denmark	.71	.67	.83	.79
Estonia	.78	.68	.81	.78
Israel	.71	.81	.74	.81
Latvia	.74	.72	.78	.76
Norway	.76	.71	.89	.83
Poland	.77	.64	.82	.79
Portugal	.69	.61	.70	.73
Russian Federation	.72	.62	.80	.74
Slovenia	.75	.64	.74	.80
Sweden	.81	.73	.90	.81
Switzerland (German)	.73	.81	.83	.79
Median	.75	.67	.80	.79
Number of items	6	4*	5**	6***

Table C 2h	Cronbach's Al	nha Daliahility	Coofficients Wit	hin Countrios	Attitudinal Scales
Table 6.50	Grunnach S Al	טוומ הפוומטווונץ	GUEINCIENCS WIL	liiii Gountries:	Alliluumai Scales

* Number of Items for Israel and Sweden is 3.

** Number of items for Israel is 4.

*** Number of items for Latvia, the Russian Federation, Sweden, and Switzerland (German) is 5.

Country	Expected Political Activities	Confidence in Participation at School	Open Classroom Climate for Discussion
Chile	.75	.64	.78
Cyprus	.72	.77	.76
Czech Republic	.75	.56	.75
Denmark	.76	.76	.77
Estonia	.81	.80	.79
Israel	.77	.80	.78
Latvia	.73	.67	.78
Norway	.79	.78	.80
Poland	.78	.77	.82
Portugal	.67	.70	.78
Russian Federation	.78	.65	.78
Slovenia	.73	.64	.72
Sweden	.76	.77	.82
Switzerland (German)	.75	.69	.82
Median	.76	.73	.78
Number of items	3	4	6

Table C.3c Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Coefficients Within Countries: Attitudinal Scales

APPENDIX D RESULTS FROM COLOMBIA AND HONG KONG (SAR)

Scale Name	Colombia	Hong Kong (SAR)
Civic Knowledge (Content Knowledge and Interpretative Skills)	102.4	124.8
Content Knowledge	111.6	120.8
Skills in Interpreting Political Communication	97.4	116.7
Economic Literacy	82.9	109.2
Conventional Citizenship	10.8	9.9
Social-movement-related Citizenship	11.6	9.5
Economy-related Government Responsibilities	10.1	9.5
Society-related Government Responsibilities	10.1	10.0
Trust in Government-related Institutions	9.1	10.0
Positive Attitudes Toward One's Nation	10.8	8.9
Support for Women's Political and Economic Rights	10.4	10.1
Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants	10.7	10.7
Confidence in Participation in School	10.0	9.9
Expected Participation in Political Activities	10.8	10.2
Open Climate for Classroom Discussion	10.8	9.9

Table D.1 Scale Scores for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR) for All Scales*

 * Only unweighted data available. Standard error of mean could not be reported.

Scale Name	Colorr	ibia	Hong Kong (SAR)		
	Mean Females	Mean Males	Mean Females	Mean Males	
Content Knowledge	110.9	112.6	120.4	121.3	
Skills in Interpreting Political Communication	96.5	98.7	115.6	117.8	
Economic Literacy	81.4	84.9	108.1	110.5	
Social-movement-related Citizenship	11.7	11.6	9.6	9.4	
Support for Women's Political and Economic Rights	10.9	9.8	10.5	9.6	
Positive Attitudes Toward Immigrants	10.8	10.5	10.8	10.6	
Confidence in Participation in School	10.0	9.9	10.0	9.9	
Expected Participation in Political Activities	10.7	10.9	10.0	10.4	
Open Climate for Classroom Discussion	11.1	10.5	10.0	9.7	

Table D.2 Mean Scale Scores by Gender for Colombia and Hong Kong(SAR)*

* Only unweighted data available. Standard error of mean could not be reported.

Item		Colombia	Hong Kong (SAR)
	the national government	33	47
	news on television	53	63
Percentage of students who trust always	news on the radio	53	65
or most of the time in	news in the press	55	28
Percentage of students who agreed or strongly agreed with the statement 'I am interested in politics'	Political Interest	64	34
Deventere of students who corrections	read newspaper articles about own country	83	85
or often	listen to news broadcasts on television	95	92
	listen to news broadcasts on the radio	57	59
Deveentage of students who eveneted	vote in national elections	91	88
probably or definitely to	collect money for a social cause	78	82
[collect signatures for a petition	73	59
	participate in a non-violent protest march	72	48
	spray-paint protest slogans on walls	23	10
	block traffic as a form of protest	23	10
	occupy buildings as a form of protest	15	10
	In school I have learned to cooperate in groups with other students	95	93
	In school I have learned to understand people who have different ideas	94	89
Percentage of students who agreed or strongly agreed with	In school I have learned how to act to protect the environment	89	77
	In school I have learned to be concerned about what happens in other countries	69	58
	In school I have learned to contribute to solving problems in the community	88	61
	In school I have learned to contribute to be a patriotic and loyal citizen of my country	86	43
	In school I have learned about the importance of voting in national and local elections	87	58
	a student council/student government/ class or school parliament	24	73
Percentage of students who reported	a youth organization affiliated to a political party or union	6	5
having participated in	an environmental organization	38	17
	a human rights organization	10	3
	a group conducting voluntary activities to help the community	46	57
	a charity collecting money for a social cause	25	48

Table D.3 Reported Percentages for Colombia and Hong Kong (SAR)*

* Only unweighted data available. Standard error of mean could not be reported.

Table D.4	Reported	Percentages	by Ge	ender for	Colombia	and	Hong	Kong	(SAR) [*]	*
-----------	----------	-------------	-------	-----------	----------	-----	------	------	--------------------	---

Item		Colombia		Hong Kong (SAR)	
		Females	Males	Females	Males
Percentage of students who agreed or strongly agreed with the state- ment `I am interested in politics'.	Political Interest	64	64	25	44
Percentage of students who	read newspaper articles about own country	84	81	87	84
sometimes or often	listen to news broadcasts on television	94	95	93	90
	listen to news broadcasts on the radio	56	57	62	56
	vote in national elections	92	89	91	86
Percentage of students who	collect money for a social cause	82	73	89	75
expected probably or definitely to	collect signatures for a petition	74	72	61	56
	participate in a non-violent protest march	72	73	45	52
Percentage of students who	spray-paint protest slogans on walls	16	32	8	13
expected probably or definitely to	block traffic as a form of protest	20	27	8	13
	occupy buildings as a form of protest	12	20	8	12
Percentage of students who agreed or strongly agreed with	In school I have learned to cooperate in groups with other students	96	91	92	86
	In school I have learned to understand people who have different ideas	97	94	96	90
	In school I have learned how to act to protect the environment	90	86	63	59
	In school I have learned to be concerned about what happens in other countries	88	84	40	47
	In school I have learned to contribute to solving problems in the community	91	86	80	73
	In school I have learned to be a patriotic and loyal citizen of my country	69	67	59	58
	In school I have learned about the importance of voting in national and local elections	88	85	58	58

* Only unweighted data available. Standard error of mean could not be reported.

REFERENCES

Archer, S. (1982) The lower age boundaries of identity development. *Child Development*, *53*, 1331–56.

Beck, K. and Krumm, V. (1991) Economic literacy in German speaking countries and the United States: First steps to a comparative study. *Economia*, 1(1), 17–23.

Beck, K. and Krumm, V. (1999) *Wirtschaftskundlicher bildungs-Test (WBT)* (Manual). Göttingen: Hogrefe.

Beck, K., Krumm, V., and Dubs, R. (1998) *Wirtschaftskundlicher bildungs-Test* (*WBT*) (Handanweisung). Göttingen: Hogrefe.

Becker, W., Walstad, W., and Watts, M. (1994) A comparison of the views of economists, economic educators, teachers, and journalists on economic issues. In W. Becker (Ed.), *An international perspective on economic education* (pp.65–87). Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1988) Interacting systems in human development. In N. Bolger, C. Caspi, G. Downey, and M. Moorehouse (Eds.), *Persons in context: Developmental processes* (pp.25–50). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Conover, P. J. and Searing, D. D. (2000) A political socialization perspective. In L. M. McDonnell, P. M. Timpane, and R. Benjamin (Eds.), *Rediscovering the democratic purposes of education* (pp.91–124). Lawrence, KN: University Press of Kansas.

Dalton, R. (1999) Political support in advanced industrial democracies. In P. Norris (Ed.), *Critical citizens: Global support for democratic government* (pp.57–77). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Dalton, R. (2000). Citizen attitudes and political behavior. *Comparative Political Studies*, *33*(6/7), 912–30.

Diamond, J. (1999) *Developing democracy: Toward consolidation*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Doig, B., Piper, K., Mellor, S., and Masters, G. (1993–94) *Conceptual understanding in social education*. Melbourne, VIC: Australian Council for Educational Research.

Erikson, E. (1968). *Identity, youth and crisis*. New York: W.W. Norton and Company.

Flanagan, C. A., Bowes, J. M., Jonsson, B., Csapo, B., and Sheblanova, E. (1998) Ties that bind: Correlates of adolescents' civic commitments in seven countries. *Journal of Social Issues*, *54*(3), 457–75.

Flanagan, C. and Sherrod, L. (1998) Youth political development: An introduction. *Journal of Social Issues, 54*(3), 447–57.

Goossens, L. (2001) Global versus domain specific statuses in identity research: A comparison of two self-report measures. *Journal of Adolescence, 24*, 681–99.

Inglehart, R. (1997) Modernization and postmodernization: Cultural, economic and political change in 43 societies. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Inglehart, R. and Baker, W. (2000) Modernization, cultural change and the persistence of traditional values. *American Sociological Review, 65*, 19–51.

Jackstadt, S. and Grootaert, C. (1980). Gender, gender stereotyping and socioeconomic background as determinants of economic knowledge and learning. *Journal of Economic Education, 12*, 34–40.

Lave, J. and Wenger, E. (1991) *Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Lehmann, R. and Peek, R. (1997) Aspekte der Lernausgangslage von Schulerinnen und Schulern der funften Klassen an Hamburger Schulen. Hamburg: Amt für Schule.

Lietz, P. and Kotte, D. (2000) *The importance of economic literacy*. Frankfurt: Peter Lang.

Martin, M., Rust, K. and Adams, R. (1999) *Testing standards for IEA studies*. Amsterdam: IEA

Niemi, R. and Hepburn, M. (1995) The rebirth of political socialization. *Perspectives in Political Science, 24*, 7–16.

Niemi, R. and Junn, J. (1998) *Civic education: What makes students learn?* New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Norris, P. (1999) *Critical citizens: Global support for democratic government.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2001) Knowledge and skills for life: First results from the OECD programme for international student assessment (PISA 2000). Paris: Author.

Papanastasiou, C. and Koutselini-Ioannidou, M. (1999) National identity in the civic education of Cyprus. In J. Torney-Purta, J. Schwille, and J.Amadeo (Eds.), *Civic education across countries: Twenty-four national case studies from the IEA Civic Education Project* (pp.162–77). Amsterdam: IEA.

Schwille, J. and Amadeo, J. (2002) The paradoxical situation of civic education in school: Ubiquitous and yet elusive. In G. Steiner-Khamsi, J. Torney-Purta, and J. Schwille (Eds.), *New paradigms and recurring paradoxes in education for citizenship*. Amsterdam: Elsevier Press.

Soper, J. and Walstad, W. (1987) *Test of economic literacy. Examiners' manual* (2nd ed.). New York: Joint Council on Economic Education.

Steiner-Khamsi, G., Torney-Purta, J., and Schwille, J. (2002) New paradigms and recurring paradoxes in education for citizenship. Amsterdam: Elsvier Press.

Torney, J. V., Oppenheim, A. N., and Farnen, R. F. (1975) *Civic education in ten countries: An empirical study.* New York: John Wiley and Sons.

Torney-Purta, J. (1984) Political socialization and policy: The U.S. in a crossnational context. In H. Stevenson and A. Siegel (Eds.), *Review of research in child development and social policy* (pp. 471–523). Chicago: University of Chicago Press. Torney-Purta, J. (2000) An international perspective on the NAEP Civics Report Card. *The Social Studies, 94*, 148–50.

Torney-Purta, J., Hahn, C., and Amadeo, J. (2001) Principles of subject-specific instruction in education for citizenship. In J. Brophy (Ed.), *Subject-specific instructional methods and activities* (pp.371–408). Greewich, CT: JAI Press.

Torney-Purta, J., Lehmann, R., Oswald, H., and Schulz, W. (2001) *Citizenship* and education in twenty-eight countries. Civic knowledge and engagement at age fourteen. Amsterdam: IEA.

Torney-Purta, J., Schwille, J., and Amadeo, J. (1999) *Civic education across countries: Twenty-four national case studies from the IEA Civic Education Project.* Amsterdam: IEA.

United Nations (2000). World Population Prospects. New York: Author.

United Nations Development Programme. (2000) *Human development report* 2000. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.

United Nations Development Programme. (2001) *Human development report* 2001: Making new technologies work for human development. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.

van Deth, J. W., Maraffi, M., Newton, K., and Whiteley, P. F. (1999) *Social capital and European democracy*. London, New York: Routledge.

Van Fossen, P. (2000) Teachers' rationales for high school economics. *Theory* and Research in Social Education, 38(3), 391–410.

Waterman, A. (1982) Identity development from adolescence to adulthood: An extension of theory and a review of research. *Developmental Psychologist, 18*, 341–58.

Webley, P., Burgoyne, C. B., Lea, S. E. G., and Young, B. M. (2001) *The* economic psychology of everyday life. Philadelphia, PA: Hove Psychology Press.

Wenger, E. (1998) *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning and identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Whitehead, D. and Hall, T. (1991). Economic literacy in the United Kingdom and the United States: A comparative study. *Journal of Economic Education, 22*, 101–11.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The IEA Civic Education Study began Phase 1 in 1994, transitioning in 1997 into Phase 2. A volume based on a survey of 14-year-olds was published in 2001, and now this volume, reporting the survey of an older population, completes IEA's publication of results from Phase 2 of this study.

Throughout this nearly 10-year period, the scholarly contributions of the members of the International Steering Committee have been extremely important to the substantive guidance of the study. The authors of this volume want to thank Barbara Fratçzak-Rudnicka, Georgia Kontogiannopoulou-Polydorides, Bruno Losito, Barbara Malak-Minkiewicz, Ingrid Munck, John Schwille, Gita Steiner-Khamsi, and Lee Wing On, who served as members of the committee during Phase 2, and Ray Adams, representing the IEA Technical Executive Group. They have brought several disciplinary perspectives, as well as viewpoints from different parts of the world. The committee prepared the study's overall design in the proposal, wrote and reviewed items for the instruments, planned and interpreted data analysis, led groups at meetings, and reviewed both volumes. We are grateful for their thoughtful contributions and for the spirit of innovation with which they approached the study.

The commitment and competence of the National Research Coordinators have made this collaborative effort both successful and enjoyable. They have participated in every part of the process, from reviewing instruments, through sampling, testing, and supervising data entry, and, finally, reviewing the analysis and this volume. Their thoughtful comments at meetings and as reviewers have enriched all participants' understanding of this subject area and its cross-national variations. The names of the National Research Coordinators appear later in this section, with their addresses, so that readers can request information about their national reports.

Since 1998 the major funder for the international coordination of Phase 2 (reported in this volume) has been the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG or German Science Association) through a grant to the Humboldt University of Berlin to support the International Coordinating Center. Since 2000, substantial additional funding for analysis and publication has been provided by the William T. Grant Foundation through a grant to the University of Maryland at College Park (Department of Human Development).

Other funding and support in Germany came from the Bundeszentrale für Politische Bildung (Federal Agency for Civic Education), and in the United States from the National Center for Education Statistics of the United States Department of Education (for quality control and scaling) and the Carnegie Corporation of New York (for instrument preparation during the transition from Phase 1 to Phase 2). The Pew Charitable Trusts of Philadelphia funded Phase 1 of the study, which provided the background for this volume and resulted in the volume, *Civic education across countries: Twenty-four national case studies from the IEA Civic Education Project* (IEA, 1999). The IEA Secretariat in Amsterdam provided funds and support throughout both phases of the study, and managed matching funds from the participating countries. We are especially grateful to Barbara Malak-Minkiewicz, who was the liaison between the International Steering Committee and the Secretariat. Hans Wagemaker (Executive Director), Alejandro Tiana Ferrer (Chair), and Leendert Dijkhuizen (Financial Officer) provided important support. Ray Adams, Chair of the IEA Technical Executive Group (TEG), gave excellent technical advice. Wolfram Schulz, who was the Associate Coordinator in Humboldt during the preparation of the volume on 14-year-olds and the testing of the upper secondary population, left Berlin to take a position at the Australian Council for Educational Research in 2001 but provided invaluable advice to the authors preparing the current volume from his new position. Pierre Foy, a member of TEG, and Ken Ross gave helpful advice on sampling and weighting. Richard Wolf, Chair of the IEA Publications Committee, reviewed the manuscript with his usual care. Michael Martin, Eugenio Gonzalez, and Ina Mullis were generous with their help based on their experience with IEA TIMSS and TIMSS-R. Paula Wagemaker provided thoughtful editing that was always responsive to authors' concerns, and Becky Bliss designed the publication with skill.

Two institutions have made enormous contributions to the study in supporting research time for authors, computer and management services, and office space. The Humboldt University of Berlin, where the International Coordinator is a faculty member, and the University of Maryland, College Park (Department of Human Development and Graduate School), where the Chair of the International Steering Committee is a faculty member, deserve special thanks.

In Maryland, Jo Peng's accounting expertise has been vital. Wendy Richardson and Deep Sran prepared the Executive Summary and made excellent comments on the manuscript. Jennifer Philips prepared the reference list.

Heiko Sibberns and Ursula Itzlinger of the IEA Data Processing Center (DPC) in Hamburg were invaluable in working with the national coordinators on sampling as well as in performing the many activities involved in producing the analysis upon which the scales and figures are based. The study has benefited enormously from the impressive skills of the DPC staff.

The authors want to express special thanks to all the members of the large IEA network, many of whom we have never met but whose professionalism and competence have been essential to this study. This includes the IEA General Assembly representatives, National Research Coordinators, staff members of their organizations, those who provided funds within countries (referenced in national reports), and appointees to national expert panels.

We also would like to thank the 50,000 students who responded to the IEA Civic Education survey of upper secondary students. Without the cooperation of school administrators, teachers, and students, we would not have been privileged to have this glimpse into the civic world of young people across three continents.

Finally, we wish to thank our families, who have given substantive as well as personal support to all of us throughout the study.

Jo-Ann Amadeo Judith Torney-Purta Rainer Lehmann Vera Husfeldt Roumiana Nikolova

Addresses of National Research Coordinators

CHILE

Leonor Cariola Ministry of Education Unit of Curriculum and Assessment (UCE) Alameda Bernardo O'Higgins # 1146, Sector B, Piso 8 Santiago [http://www.mineduc.cl] *Email:* lcariola@mineduc.cl

COLOMBIA

Carlos A. Pardo and Jose Guillermo Ortiz Servico Colombiano Para el Foment de la Educacion Superior (SNP-ICFES) Calle 17 Nr. 3-40 piso 10 Bogotá [http://www.icfes.co] *Emails:* cpardo@hemeroteca.icfes.gov.co profab400@acuario.icfes.gov.co

CYPRUS

Constantinos Papanastasiou University of Cyprus Department of Education P.O. Box 20537 CY-1678 Nicosia [http://www.ucy.ac.cy/faculty/cp/] *Email:* edpapan@ucy.ac.cy

CZECH REPUBLIC

Ivana Prochazkova Institute for Information on Education Senovazne nam.26 P.O. BOX c.1 11006 Praha 06 [http://www.uiv.cz/] *Email:* ivana@uiv.cz

DENMARK

Lars-Henrik Schmidt Danish University of Education Emdrupvej 101 DK-2400 København NV *Email:* schmidt@dpu.dk

ESTONIA

Anu Toots Tallin University of Educational Sciences [http://www.tpu.ee/] Department of Government Narva mnt. 25 EE 0001 Tallinn [http://www.tpu.ee/] *Email:* anuto@tpu.ee

HONG KONG (SAR)

Lee Wing On Hong Kong Institute of Education Centre for Citizenship Education 10 Lo Ping Road, Tai Po, New Territories Hong Kong [http://www.ied.edu.hk/sfe/cce/eindex.htm] *Email:* WOLEE@ied.edu.hk

ISRAEL

Orit Ichilov Tel Aviv University School of Education Ramat Aviv 69978 Tel Aviv *Email:* ichilov@post.tau.ac.il

LATVIA

Andris Kangro University of Latvia Faculty of Education and Psychology Jurmalas gatve 74/76 Riga LV-1083 [http://www.eduinf.lu.lv] *Email:* kangro@eduinf.lu.lv

NORWAY

Rolf Mikkelsen University of Oslo Institute for Teacher Education and School Development PO Box 1099 Blindern 0316 Oslo [http://www.ils.uio.no/civic/] *Email:* rolf.mikkelsen@ils.uio.no

POLAND

Adam Fraczek and Krzysztof Kosela University of Warsaw Institute of Sociology Karowa 18 00-324 Warsaw [http://www.iss.uw.edu.pl/] *Emails:* adamfra@samba.iss.uw.edu.pl k.kosela@is.uw.edu.pl

PORTUGAL

Isabel Menezes Institute for Educational Innovation Tr. Das Terras de Sant 'Ana 15 1250 Lisboa Codex [http://www.iie.min-edu.pt/eng/iieproj.htm] *Email:* imenezes@psi.up.pt

RUSSIAN FEDERATION

Galina Kovalyova and Elena Rutkovskaia Centre for Evaluating the Quality of Education Institute for General Secondary Education Russian Academy of Education Pogodinskay st. 8 119435 Moscow *Emails:* gkovalev@aha.ru lenar@sohnut.ru

SLOVENIA

Marjan Simenc Educational Research Institute, Pedagoski Institut Gerbiceva 62, p.p. 76 61111 Ljubljana *Email:* marjan.simenc@guest.arnes.si

SWEDEN

Kersti Blidberg Swedish National Agency for Education Skolverket SE-106 20 Stockholm [http://www.skolverket.se/] *Email:* kersti.blidberg@skolverket.se

SWITZERLAND

Fritz Oser University of Fribourg Department of Education Rue Faucigny 2 CH-1700 Fribourg [http://www.unifr.ch/pedg/] *Email:* Fritz.Oser@unifr.ch

Addresses of International Steering Committee Members and Consultants

(who are not also NRCs or authors; see full listing opposite the title page)

Ray Adams ACER – The Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) Private Bag 55 Camberwell VIC 3124 AUSTRALIA

Barbara Fratczak-Rudnicka Ipsos-Demoskop Pulawska 39 02-508 Warsaw POLAND

Georgia Kontogiannopoulo-Polydorides University of Athens Department of Pre-School Education, Neo Chimio 3rd Floor 13 A Navarinou St. Athens 10680 GREECE

Bruno Losito National Center for the Evaluation of the Education System (CEDE) Villa Falconieri I-00044 Frascati (Roma) ITALY

Barbara Malak-Minkiewicz IEA Secretariat Herengracht 487 1017 BT Amsterdam THE NETHERLANDS

Ingrid Munck Young Citizens Program Center for Public Sector Research Göteborg University Box 720 SE-405 30 Göteborg SWEDEN

Hans Oswald Universität Potsdam Institut für Pädagogik PF 60 15 53 14415 Potsdam GERMANY Wolfram Schulz (consultant) The Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) Private Bag 55 Camberwell VIC 3124 AUSTRALIA

John Schwille Michigan State University College of Education, 518 Erickson Hall East Lansing, MI 48824-1034 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Heiko Sibberns (consultant) IEA Data Processing Center Mexikoring 37 22297 Hamburg GERMANY

Gita Steiner-Khamsi Teachers College, Columbia University International and Comparative Education Box 55, 525 West 120th Street New York, NY 10027 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Addresses of Authors

Rainer H. Lehmann, International Coordinator Vera Husfeldt, Associate International Coordinator Roumiana Nikolova Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin Philosophische Fakultät IV Abteilung Empirische Bildungsforschung und Methodenlehre Unter den Linden 6 10099 Berlin GERMANY [http://www2.hu-berlin.de/empir_bf/iea_e.html] *Emails:* rainer.lehmann@educat.hu-berlin.de vera.husfeldt@rz.hu-berlin.de roumiana.nikolova@rz.hu-berlin.de

Jo-Ann Amadeo Judith Torney-Purta, *International Steering Committee Chair* Department of Human Development College of Education Benjamin Building 3304 University of Maryland College Park, MD 20742 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA [http://www.wam.umd.edu/~iea/] *Emails:* jamadeo@wam.umd.edu jt22@umail.umd.edu